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OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from

to
Commission File Number 001-34091

MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
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Delaware

52-2230784

(State of incorporation)

(IRS Employer Identification No.)

299 Park Avenue, New York, New York

10171

(Address of principal executive offices)

(Zip Code)

(212) 813-6000
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SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OF THE ACT:
Title of each class:

Name of each exchange on which registered:

Common Stock, par value $0.003 per share

NASDAQ Global Select Market

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(g) OF THE ACT:
None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act.

Yes 

Yes 

No 

No 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 
No 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate website, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes 
No 
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by
reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See definition of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer 

Accelerated filer 

Non-accelerated filer 

Smaller reporting company 
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes 

No 

The aggregate market value of the shares of common stock and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of
June 30, 2011 (the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter) was approximately $922.6 million
computed by reference to the last reported sale price on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on that date. For purposes of this calculation,
affiliates are considered to be officers, directors and holders of 10% or more of the outstanding common stock of the registrant on that date. The
registrant had 36,728,696 shares of common stock, 1,193,029 of which were held by affiliates, and 2,585,654 shares of non-voting common
stock outstanding on that date.

At February 16, 2012, the aggregate number of shares of the registrant’s common stock and non-voting common stock outstanding was
38,190,699.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Items
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PART I
Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Forward-looking statements may be identified by words such as “expects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,”
“will,” or words of similar meaning and include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the outlook for our future business and financial
performance. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s current expectations and assumptions, which are subject to inherent
uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict. It is routine for our internal projections and expectations to change
as the year or each quarter in the year progresses, and therefore it should be clearly understood that the internal projections and beliefs upon
which we base our expectations may change prior to the end of each quarter or the year. Although these expectations may change, we are under
no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements contained in this report. Our company policy is generally to provide our
expectations only once per quarter, and not to update that information until the next quarter. Actual future events or results may differ, perhaps
materially, from those contained in the projections or forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences
include those discussed below and elsewhere in this report, particularly in Item 1A “Risk Factors.”
Item 1.

Business.

MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (the “Company” or “MarketAxess”) operates a leading electronic trading platform that allows investment
industry professionals to efficiently trade corporate bonds and other types of fixed-income instruments. Our over 850 active institutional investor
clients (firms that executed at least one trade in U.S. or European fixed-income securities through our electronic trading platform during 2011)
include investment advisers, mutual funds, insurance companies, public and private pension funds, bank portfolios, broker-dealers and hedge
funds. Our 87 broker-dealer market-maker clients provide liquidity on the platform and include most of the leading broker-dealers in global
fixed-income trading. Through our Corporate BondTicker TM service, we provide fixed-income market data, analytics and compliance tools that
help our clients make trading decisions. In addition, we provide FIX (Financial Information eXchange) message management tools, connectivity
solutions and ancillary technology services that facilitate the electronic communication of order information between trading counterparties. Our
revenues are primarily generated from the trading of U.S. high-grade corporate bonds.
Our multi-dealer trading platform allows our institutional investor clients to simultaneously request competing, executable bids or offers
from our broker-dealer clients and execute trades with the broker-dealer of their choice from among those that choose to respond. We offer our
broker-dealer clients a solution that enables them to efficiently reach our institutional investor clients for the distribution and trading of bonds. In
addition to U.S. high-grade corporate bonds, European high-grade corporate bonds and emerging markets bonds, including both investmentgrade and non-investment grade debt, we also offer our clients the ability to trade crossover and high-yield bonds, agency bonds, asset-backed
and preferred securities and credit default swaps (“CDS”).
The majority of our revenues are derived from monthly distribution fees and commissions for trades executed on our platform that are
billed to our broker-dealer clients on a monthly basis. We also derive revenues from technology products and services, information and user
access fees, investment income and other income. Our expenses consist of employee compensation and benefits, depreciation and amortization,
technology and communication expenses, professional and consulting fees, occupancy, marketing and advertising and general and administrative
expenses.
Traditionally, bond trading has been a manual process, with product and price discovery conducted over the telephone between two or
more parties. This traditional process has a number of shortcomings resulting primarily from the lack of a central trading facility for these
securities, which creates difficulty matching buyers and sellers for particular issues. Many corporate bond trading participants use e-mail and
other electronic means of
3
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communication for trading corporate bonds. While this has addressed some of the shortcomings associated with traditional corporate bond
trading, we believe that the process is still hindered by limited liquidity, limited price transparency, significant transaction costs, compliance and
regulatory challenges, and difficulty in executing numerous trades at one time.
Through our disclosed multi-dealer Request For Quote (“RFQ”) trading functionality, our institutional investor clients can determine prices
available for a security, a process called price discovery, as well as trade securities directly with our broker-dealer clients. The price discovery
process includes the ability to view indicative prices from the broker-dealer clients’ inventory available on our platform, access to real-time
pricing information and analytical tools (including spread-to-Treasury data, search capabilities and independent third-party credit research)
available on our Corporate BondTicker TM service and the ability to request executable bids and offers simultaneously from up to 62 of our
broker-dealer clients during the trade process. On average, institutional investor clients receive several bids or offers from broker-dealer clients
in response to trade inquiries. However, some trade inquiries may not receive any bids or offers.
Our services relating to trade execution include single and multiple-dealer inquiries; list trading, which is the ability to request bids and
offers on multiple bonds at the same time; and swap trading, which is the ability to request an offer to purchase one bond and a bid to sell
another bond, in a manner such that the two trades will be executed simultaneously, with payment based on the price differential of the bonds.
Once a trade is completed on our platform, the broker-dealer client and institutional investor client may settle the trade with the assistance of our
automated post-trade messaging, which facilitates the communication of trade acknowledgment and allocation information between our
institutional investor and broker-dealer clients.
Typically, we are not a party to the trades that occur on our platform between institutional investor clients and broker-dealer clients; rather,
we serve as an intermediary between broker-dealers and institutional investors, enabling them to meet, agree on a price and then transact with
each other. However, we also execute certain bond transactions between and among institutional investor and broker-dealer clients on a riskless
principal basis by serving as counterparty to both the buyer and the seller in matching back-to-back trades, which are then settled through a thirdparty clearing organization. These are primarily voice-assisted trades, a service that we introduced as an adjunct to RFQ trading during late 2008
in response to the adverse effect of the credit crisis on dealer liquidity in corporate bonds. We act as intermediary on a riskless principal basis in
these bond transactions by serving as counterparty to the two clients involved.
Our broker-dealer clients accounted for approximately 97% of the underwriting of newly-issued U.S. corporate bonds and approximately
64% of the underwriting of newly issued European corporate bonds in 2011. We believe these broker-dealers also represent the principal source
of secondary market liquidity in the other markets in which we operate. Secondary market liquidity refers to the ability of market participants to
buy or sell a security quickly and in large volume subsequent to the original issuance of the security, without substantially affecting the price of
the security. In addition to trading fixed-income securities by traditional means, including the telephone and e-mail, our broker-dealer clients use
proprietary single-dealer systems and other trading platforms as well as our electronic trading platform. We believe that the traditional means of
trading remain the manner in which the majority of bonds are traded between institutional investors and broker-dealers.
Our volume in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds represented approximately 11.1% of the total U.S. high-grade corporate bond volume,
excluding convertible bonds, for 2011 as reported by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) Trade Reporting and Compliance
Engine (“TRACE”), which includes inter-dealer and retail trading as well as trading between institutional investors and broker-dealers.
Industry Background
Fixed-income securities are issued by corporations, governments and other entities, and pay a pre-set absolute or relative rate of return. As
of September 30, 201l, the most recent date available, there were
4
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approximately $36.4 trillion principal amount of fixed-income securities outstanding in the U.S. market, including $7.7 trillion principal amount
of U.S. corporate bonds, according to the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (“SIFMA”). The estimated average daily trading
volume of U.S. corporate bonds (investment grade and high-yield), as measured by FINRA TRACE, was $16.1 billion in 2011.
The U.S. and European credit markets experienced a period of significant turmoil beginning during the third quarter of 2007, especially in
short-term funding and floating rate note instruments. A widespread retrenchment in the credit markets resulted in increased credit spreads and
significantly higher credit spread volatility across a wide range of asset classes. The U.S. credit markets demonstrated significant improvement
throughout 2009, 2010 and early 2011. Beginning in the second half of 2011, however, credit spreads again widened and credit spread volatility
increased. In addition, primary dealer holdings of corporate bonds due in more than one year as reported by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York declined from approximately $218 billion as of December 31, 2007 to $48 billion as of December 31, 2011. The trading volume of U.S.
high-grade corporate bonds as reported by FINRA TRACE has remained approximately $2.9 trillion for each of the years ended December 31,
2009, 2010 and 2011 after declining to $2.0 trillion for the year ended December 31, 2008. After demonstrating improved conditions during
2009, European credit markets deteriorated throughout 2010 and 2011 due in part to continuing sovereign debt credit concerns.
U.S. High-Grade Corporate Bond Market
The U.S. corporate bond market consists of three broad categories of securities: investment-grade debt (so-called “high-grade”), which
typically refers to debt rated BBB- or better by Standard & Poor’s or Baa3 or better by Moody’s Investor Service; debt rated below investmentgrade (so-called “high-yield”), which typically refers to debt rated lower than BBB- by Standard & Poor’s or Baa3 by Moody’s Investor Service;
and debt convertible into equity (so-called “convertible debt”).
The U.S. high-grade corporate bond market, which represents the largest subset of the U.S. corporate bond market, has undergone
significant change over the last decade, which has been driven by a number of factors, including:
• Improved price transparency — In 2002, FINRA adopted TRACE reporting, which requires FINRA members to report secondary
market transactions in certain fixed-income securities to FINRA. The list of TRACE-eligible bonds includes 30,000 unique securities,
representing the majority of the daily trading volume of high-grade bonds.
• Introduction of electronic trading platforms — Electronic trading platforms act as central facilities to bring together buyers and sellers.
The actions of participants on these platforms are facilitated by an electronic medium that improves some of the manual processes that
might otherwise be required, such as searching for securities with specific characteristics, the coordination of multiple bilateral
telephone calls or electronic communications, the sorting and analysis of competing bids or offers, and the entry of orders into the
trading system after verbal or e-mail trade agreement. As a result, these platforms typically provide a lower-cost and more efficient
means of enhanced distribution and trade execution than previously possible.
• Introduction of credit derivatives — Credit derivatives can provide increased flexibility and liquidity for investors and lenders to
diversify their credit exposures. The notional amount of outstanding CDS transactions grew rapidly between 2002 and 2007. However,
activity in the CDS market has since fallen substantially due to concern over the risks associated with these products, in particular the
counterparty credit risks, and uncertainty regarding the effect of changes to the market resulting from implementation of the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), which was enacted during 2010.
• Total amount of debt issued — During 2007, the gross amount of new bonds issued was approximately $992 billion. During 2008, highgrade corporate bond issuance declined to $664 billion as risk aversion among corporate bond investors limited the ability of issuers
across a wide range of industries, in
5
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particular the financial services industry, to issue new corporate bonds. The credit markets demonstrated significant improvement
throughout 2009, 2010 and the early part of 2011. New issues of high-grade corporate bonds were approximately $783 billion in 2011
and have been stable over the three years ended December 31, 2011.

European High-Grade Corporate Bond Market
The European high-grade corporate bond market consists of a broad range of products, issuers and currencies. We define the European
high-grade corporate bond market generally to consist of bonds intended to be distributed to European investors, primarily bonds issued by
European corporations, excluding bonds that are issued by a corporation domiciled in an emerging markets country and excluding most
government bonds that trade in Europe. Examples include:
• bonds issued by European corporations, denominated in any currency;
• bonds generally denominated in Euros, U.S. dollars or Pounds Sterling, excluding bonds that are issued by a corporation domiciled in an
emerging market;
• bonds issued by supra-national organizations (entities that include a number of central banks or government financial authorities, such
as the World Bank), agencies and governments located in Europe, generally denominated in Euros, U.S. dollars or Pounds Sterling,
provided that such currency is not the currency of the country where the bond was issued; and
• floating-rate notes issued by European corporations.
We believe that the European high-grade corporate bond market is impacted by many of the same factors as the U.S. high-grade corporate
bond market. In addition, we believe the following factors are unique to the European high-grade corporate bond market:
• Sovereign credit issues — The global financial crisis has led to a significant rise in sovereign debt relative to GDP. Increased
government deficits and debt levels along with ratings downgrades sparked fears of default among Euro zone nations, leading to
increased yields on government bonds, making a more difficult trading environment for European corporate bonds.

6
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• Common liquidity pool — The larger capital pool created by the common currency and changes in the regulatory environment have
facilitated bond issuance by European corporations.
Emerging Markets Bond Market
We define the emerging markets bond market generally to include U.S. dollar, Euro or local currency denominated bonds issued by
sovereign entities or corporations domiciled in a developing country. These issuers are typically located in Latin America, Asia, or Central and
Eastern Europe. Examples of countries we classify as emerging markets include: Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Mexico, Peru, the Philippines,
Russia, Turkey and Venezuela.
The institutional investor base for emerging markets bonds includes many crossover investors from the high-yield and high-grade
investment areas. Institutional investors have been drawn to emerging markets bonds by their high returns and high growth potential. Demand
for emerging markets bonds declined significantly in late 2008 as the turmoil in the credit markets and the world-wide recession impacted the
emerging markets. Emerging markets bond prices as measured by the JPMorgan emerging markets sovereign external debt and corporate bond
indices fell steeply in 2008 but demonstrated significant improvement beginning in 2009. The average daily trading volume of emerging markets
external debt and local markets debt as reported by the Emerging Markets Trade Association for the quarter ended September 30, 2011 was $6.6
billion and $20.9 billion, respectively.
Crossover and High-Yield Bond Market
We define the high-yield bond market generally to include all debt rated lower than BBB- by Standard & Poor’s or Baa3 by Moody’s
Investor Service. We define the crossover market to include any debt issue rated below investment grade by one agency but investment grade by
the other. The total amount of high-yield corporate bonds yearly issuance as reported by SIFMA was $136.0 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2007 but declined to $43.0 billion during 2008, primarily due to the risk aversion among corporate bond investors that severely
limited the ability of high-yield issuers to raise new debt. The high-yield corporate bond markets demonstrated significant improvement
beginning in 2009, with new issuance for the year ended December 31, 2011 increasing to $221.6 billion as reported by SIFMA.
FINRA publicly disseminates real-time price information on over 5,000 high-yield corporate bond issues and certain other transactions on
a delayed basis. Trades in bonds rated BB and lower are subject to immediate dissemination if the trade size is less than $1 million, or greater
than $1 million and trades an average of once or more a day. The average daily trading volume of high-yield bonds as measured by FINRA
TRACE for the year ended December 31, 2011 was approximately $4.4 billion.
Agency Bond Market
We define the agency bond market to include debt issued by a U.S. government-sponsored enterprise. Some prominent issuers of agency
bonds are the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”). The total
amount of U.S. agency bonds outstanding was approximately $2.3 trillion as of December 31, 2011 as reported by SIFMA. The average daily
trading volume of agency bonds (excluding mortgage-backed securities) as measured by FINRA TRACE for the year ended December 31, 2011
was approximately $10.2 billion.
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Credit Default Swap Market
Credit default swaps are contracts on an underlying asset that transfer risk and return from one party to another without transferring
ownership of the underlying asset, allowing market participants to obtain credit protection or assume credit exposure associated with a broad
range of issuers of fixed-income securities and other debt obligations. The trading volumes and notional amount outstanding in CDS transactions
grew rapidly between 2002 and 2007. Following counterparty credit concerns beginning in 2007, trading activity in the CDS market declined
substantially and the industry focused on netting down counterparty positions. The notional amount of CDS outstanding declined to $32.4 trillion
as of June 30, 2011 from $62.2 trillion as of December 31, 2007. To address the counterparty credit concerns, structural changes began to occur
in the CDS market that included the creation of CDS clearing houses in 2009 that serve as central counterparties for certain CDS transactions. In
2010, in response to the financial crisis, the U.S. Congress passed the Dodd-Frank Act, which is intended to bring comprehensive reform to the
regulation of swaps, including CDS. Among the most significant provisions of the derivatives section of the Dodd-Frank Act are: mandatory
clearing, through regulated central clearing organizations, of all swaps that the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) or the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) has determined should be cleared (“clearable swaps”); and mandatory trading of clearable
swaps on a board of trade designated as a contract market or a securities exchange or through a “swap execution facility,” or SEF (in each case,
subject to certain key exceptions). Although the Dodd-Frank Act contemplated adoption and implementation of the rules to regulate the swaps
market place by July 2011, this deadline was missed, and neither the CFTC nor the SEC has published a definitive schedule for rule finalization
and implementation. We currently expect to establish and operate a SEF as soon as the process is established. We believe that the introduction of
the clearing mandates is likely to result in more standardized contracts and greater price transparency in the CDS markets.
Although the European regulators have not yet introduced legislation concerning regulation of the European derivatives markets, the
European Commission has issued three consultation papers intended to help define certain terms in the new OTC derivatives landscape. Our
expectation is that the EU will, in line with the U.S., mandate central clearing of standardized CDS contracts and increase transparency through
enhanced trade reporting requirements. However, it is not yet clear whether there will be any requirement in the EU to trade standardized CDS
contracts on regulated exchanges or trading platforms.
Asset-Backed Securities
Asset-backed securities are ownership interests in a pool of receivables sold by originators into a special purpose vehicle. These securities
are typically secured by pools of homogeneous assets with relatively predictable cash flows. The assets are legally separated from the seller,
which limits the investor’s exposure to the credit quality of the seller. In 2011, approximately $140.0 billion in U.S. consumer-based assetbacked securities (defined as including auto, credit cards, equipment and student loans) and non-agency residential and commercial mortgagebacked securities were issued. New issuance declined from over $1.0 trillion in 2007 as the asset-backed securities market was significantly
impacted by the credit and housing market crisis. The total amount of consumer-based asset-backed and non-agency residential and commercial
mortgage-backed securities outstanding at December 31, 2011 was $2.5 trillion, as reported by SIFMA.
Preferred Securities
Preferred securities are equity ownership securities that carry additional rights above and beyond those conferred by common shares. The
additional rights typically include preference in dividends and seniority in assets vis-à-vis common stock in the event of liquidation. Other
typical features include convertibility into common stock, callable at the option of the corporation and no voting rights. We estimate that the
average daily trading volume of preferred securities was approximately $519 million in 2011.
8
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Our Competitive Strengths
Our electronic trading platform provides solutions to some of the shortcomings of traditional bond trading methods. The benefits of our
solution are demonstrable throughout the trading cycle:
• Pre-trade — gathering real-time and historical pricing information, identifying interested buyers and sellers in a particular security, and
obtaining research and analysis;
• Trade — single and multiple security trade execution; and
• Post-trade — trade detail matching, account allocation and automated audit trail.
We believe that we are well positioned to strengthen our market position in electronic trading in our existing products and to extend our
presence into new products and services by capitalizing on our competitive strengths, including:
Significant Trading Volumes with Participation by Leading Broker-Dealers and Institutional Investors
Our electronic trading platform provides access to the liquidity provided through the participation on our platform of 87 broker-dealer
market making clients, including substantially all of the leading broker-dealers in global fixed-income trading, and over 850 active institutional
investor firms. We believe these broker-dealers represent the principal source of secondary market liquidity for U.S. high-grade corporate bonds,
European high-grade corporate bonds, emerging markets bonds and the other markets in which we operate. Our broker-dealer clients are
motivated to continue to utilize our platform due to the presence on the platform of our large network of institutional investor clients. We believe
that our net addition of 38 new broker-dealer market making clients since the third quarter of 2008 has improved and will continue to improve
the liquidity on our electronic trading platform for institutional investors, further motivating them to use our platform. The number of our active
institutional investor clients for the past five years has been as follows:

9
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Our total trading volume increased from $359.9 billion in 2007 to $525.0 billion in 2011. We believe that our trading volumes in 2008 and
2009 reflect the turmoil and resultant lack of liquidity in the credit markets beginning in the third quarter of 2007. Our total trading volume over
the past five years is indicated below:

Our volume in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds was approximately 9.4% of total U.S. high-grade corporate bond volume, excluding
convertible bonds, in 2007 as reported by FINRA TRACE, which includes inter-dealer and retail trading as well as trading between institutional
investors and broker-dealers. However, following the credit market turmoil, our estimated market share declined to approximately 6.2% for the
full year 2009. Our volume in U.S. high-grade floating rate note bonds declined from $46.0 billion in 2007 to $6.6 billion in 2009. The U.S.
credit market conditions improved significantly beginning in 2009. Our estimated share of total U.S. high-grade corporate bond volume for 2011
was approximately 11.1%. Our estimated market share from 2007 to 2011 is shown in the chart below:

10
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Execution Benefits to Clients
Benefits to Institutional Investor Clients
We believe we provide numerous benefits to our institutional investor clients over traditional fixed-income trading methods, including:
Competitive Prices. By enabling institutional investors to simultaneously request bids or offers from our broker-dealer clients, we
believe our electronic trading platform creates an environment that motivates our broker-dealer clients to provide competitive prices and gives
institutional investors confidence that they are obtaining a competitive price. For typical MarketAxess multi-dealer corporate bond inquiries, the
range of competitive spread-to-Treasury responses is, on average, approximately 10 basis points (a basis point is 1/100 of 1% in yield). As an
example of the potential cost savings to institutional investors, a one basis point savings on a $1 million face amount trade of a bond with 10
years to maturity translates to aggregate savings of approximately $800.00.
Transparent Pricing on a Range of Securities. The commingled multi-dealer inventory of bonds posted by our broker-dealer clients on
our platform consists of a daily average of more than $60 billion in indicative bids and offers. Subject to applicable regulatory requirements,
institutional investors can search bonds in inventory based on any combination of issuer, issue, rating, maturity, spread-to-Treasury, size and
dealer providing the listing, in a fraction of the time it takes to do so manually. Institutional investor clients can also request executable bids and
offers on our electronic trading platform on any debt security in a database of U.S. and European corporate bonds, although there can be no
assurance as to the number of broker-dealers who will choose to provide an executable price. Our platform transmits bid and offer requests in
real-time to broker-dealer clients, who may respond with executable prices within a time period specified by the institutional investor.
Institutional investors may also elect to display live requests for bids or offers anonymously to all other users of our electronic trading platform,
in order to create broader visibility of their inquiry among market participants and increase the likelihood that the request results in a trade. We
believe that broader participation in client inquiries will result in more trade matches and lower transaction costs.
Improved Cost Efficiency. We believe that we provide improved efficiency by reducing the time and labor required to conduct broad
product and price discovery. Single-security and multi-security (bid or offer lists) inquiries can be efficiently conducted with multiple brokerdealers. In addition, our Corporate BondTicker TM eliminates the need for manually-intensive phone calls or e-mail communication to gather, sort
and analyze information concerning historical transaction prices.
Benefits to Broker-Dealer Clients
We also provide substantial benefits to our broker-dealer clients over traditional fixed-income trading methods, including:
Greater Sales Efficiency. We offer our broker-dealer clients broad connectivity with their institutional investor clients. Through this
connectivity, our broker-dealer clients are able to efficiently display their indications of interest to buy and sell various securities. We also enable
broker-dealers to broaden their distribution by participating in transactions to which they otherwise may not have had access. In addition, the
ability to post prices and electronically execute on straightforward trades enables bond sales professionals at broker-dealer firms to focus their
efforts on more profitable activities, such as higher value-added trades and more complex transactions.
More Efficient Inventory Management. The posting of inventory to, and the ability to respond to inquiries from, a broad pool of
institutional investors, creates an increased opportunity for broker-dealers to identify demand for their inventory, particularly in less liquid
securities. As a result, we believe they can achieve enhanced bond inventory turnover, which may limit credit exposure.
11
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Benefits to Both Institutional Investor and Broker-Dealer Clients
We offer additional benefits over traditional fixed-income trading methods that are shared by both institutional investor and broker-dealer
clients, including:
Greater Trading Accuracy. Our electronic trading platform includes verification mechanisms at various stages of the execution process
which result in greater accuracy in the processing, confirming and clearing of trades between institutional investor and broker-dealer clients.
These verification mechanisms are designed to ensure that our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients are sending accurate trade
messages by providing multiple opportunities to verify they are trading the correct bond, at the agreed-upon price and size. Our platform assists
our institutional investor clients in automating the transmittal of order tickets from the portfolio manager to the trader, and from the trader to
back-office personnel. This automation provides more timely execution and a reduction in the likelihood of errors that can result from manual
entry of information into different systems.
Efficient Risk Monitoring and Compliance. Institutional investors and their regulators are increasingly focused on ensuring that best
execution is achieved for fixed-income trades. Our electronic trading platform offers both institutional investors and broker-dealers an automated
audit trail for each stage in the trading cycle. This enables compliance personnel to review information relating to trades more easily and with
greater reliability. Trade information including time, price and spread-to-Treasury is stored securely and automatically on our electronic trading
platform. This data represents a valuable source of information for our clients’ compliance personnel. Importantly, we believe the automated
audit trail, together with the competitive pricing that is a feature of our electronic trading platform, gives fiduciaries the ability to demonstrate
that they have achieved best execution on behalf of their clients.
Other Service Offerings
In addition to services directly related to the execution of trades, we offer our clients several other services, including:
Information Services. The information and analytical tools we provide to our clients help them make investment and trading decisions.
Our Corporate BondTicker TM provides access to real-time and historical price, yield and MarketAxess estimated spread-to-Treasuries for
publicly disseminated FINRA TRACE-eligible bonds. Corporate BondTicker TM combines publicly-available FINRA TRACE data with the
prices for trades executed on our U.S. high-grade electronic trading platform, integrating the two data sources and providing real-time FINRA
TRACE data with associated analytical tools that are not otherwise available. Our electronic trading platform allows institutional investors to
compile, sort and use information to discover investment opportunities that might have been difficult or impossible to identify using a manual
information-gathering process or other electronic services.
We offer a comprehensive set of reports designed to review and monitor credit trading activity for institutional investor clients. These
reports utilize extensive FINRA TRACE information and are accessible by means of a flexible interface to run and save reports in a variety of
formats for both compliance and management reporting. For example, the best execution report provides a view of the savings generated by
trading on our electronic trading platform and offers a quantitative measure of the value of price discovery from multiple dealers. The report
allows clients to monitor performance against their own best execution policy. Our compliance product provides a printed history of each inquiry
submitted through the MarketAxess trading platform.
Straight-Through Processing. Straight-through processing (“STP”) refers to the integration of systems and processes to automate the
trade process from end-to-end — trade execution, confirmation and settlement — without the need for manual intervention. Our electronic
trading platform provides broker-dealers and institutional investors with the ability to automate portions of their transaction processing
requirements, improving accuracy and efficiency. Through electronic messaging, institutional investors can submit inquiries to, and receive
electronic notices of execution from us, in industry standard protocols, complete with all relevant trade details. Institutional investors can
download trade messages, allocate trades to sub-accounts on whose behalf the trades were made and send the allocations to broker-dealers for
confirmation.
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Technology Products and Services. We provide integration, testing and management solutions for FIX-related products and services
designed to optimize the electronic trading of fixed-income, equity and other exchange-based products. We also provide technology consulting
and customized development services to our clients that leverage our trading technology expertise and our existing technology solutions. In
addition, we provide gateway adapters to connect order management and trading systems to fixed-income trading venues.
Robust, Scalable Technology
We have developed proprietary technology that is highly secure, fault-tolerant and provides adequate capacity for our current operations, as
well as for substantial growth. Our highly scalable systems are designed to accommodate additional volume, products and clients with relatively
little modification and low incremental costs.
Proven Innovator with an Experienced Management Team
Since our inception, we have been an innovator in the fixed-income securities markets. The members of our management team, average
more than 20 years’ experience in the securities industry. We have consistently sought to benefit participants in the markets we serve by
attempting to replicate the essential features of fixed-income trading, including the existing relationships between broker-dealers and their
institutional investor clients, while applying technology to eliminate weaknesses in traditional trading methods. In 2011, MarketAxess was
recognized as “Trading Venue of the year” by Funds Europe at their annual awards. Most recently, MarketAxess was named “Best in Trading
Technology” by Asia Asset Management in their annual ‘Best of the Best’ awards, and “Best OTC Derivatives Platform” in the Wall Street
Letter Institutional Trading Awards.
Some of the innovations we have introduced to electronic trading include:
• the first multi-dealer disclosed trading platform for U.S. high-grade corporate bonds;
• the first electronic Treasury benchmarking for U.S. high-grade corporate bond trades;
• Corporate BondTicker
analytical tools;

TM

, our information services product, combining FINRA TRACE bond data with MarketAxess data and

• bid and offer list technology for corporate bond trading, enabling institutional investors to request executable prices for multiple
securities simultaneously;
• the first disclosed client to multi-dealer trading platform for CDS indices; and
• public Market Lists for corporate bonds, giving institutional investors the ability to display their bid and offer lists anonymously to the
entire MarketAxess trading community.
Our Strategy
Our objective is to provide the leading global electronic trading platform for fixed-income securities, connecting broker-dealers and
institutional investors more easily and efficiently, while offering a broad array of information, trading and technology services to market
participants across the trading cycle. The key elements of our strategy are:
Enhance the Liquidity of Securities Traded on Our Platform and Broaden Our Client Base in Our Existing Markets
We intend to further enhance the liquidity of securities traded on our leading electronic, multi-dealer to client fixed-income platform. Our
ability to innovate and efficiently add new functionality and product offerings to the MarketAxess platform will help us deepen our market share
with our existing clients, as well as expand our
13
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client base, which we believe will in turn lead to even further increases in the liquidity of the securities provided by our broker-dealer clients and
available on our platform. We will seek to increase the amount of cross-regional activity by our institutional investor clients on our electronic
trading platform, subject to regulatory requirements.
Leverage our Existing Technology and Client Relationships to Expand into New Sectors of the Fixed-Income Securities Market
We intend to leverage our technology, as well as our strong broker-dealer and institutional investor relationships, to deploy our electronic
trading platform into additional product segments within the fixed-income securities markets and deliver fixed-income securities-related
technical services and products. Due in part to our highly scalable systems, we believe we will be able to enter new markets efficiently. As an
example, we have developed technology and trading protocols to trade CDS in anticipation of implementation of the Dodd-Frank Act and,
subject to such rulemaking, we currently expect to establish and operate a swap execution facility and/or a security-based swap execution
facility.
Leverage our Existing Technology and Client Relationships to Expand into New Client Segments
We intend to leverage our technology and client relationships to deploy our electronic trading platform into new client segments. As an
example, we have expanded the base of broker-dealers on our platform to include both regional and diversity dealers.
Continue to Strengthen and Expand our Trade-Related Service Offerings
We plan to continue building our existing service offerings so that our electronic trading platform is more fully integrated into the
workflow of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients. We also plan to continue to add functionality to enhance the ability of our clients
to achieve a fully automated, end-to-end straight-through processing solution (automation from trade initiation to settlement). We are continually
considering the introduction of new trading techniques.
Expand our Data and Information Services Offerings
We regularly add new content and analytical capabilities to Corporate BondTicker TM in order to improve the value of the information we
provide to our clients. We intend to continue to widen the user base of our data products and to continue adding new content and analytical
capabilities. As the use of our electronic trading platform continues to grow, we believe that the amount and value of our proprietary trading data
will also increase, further enhancing the value of our information services offerings to our clients.
Expand our Technology Services Offerings
We intend to leverage our technology expertise and our client relationships to provide technology solutions to our clients that enhance their
electronic trading capabilities and facilitate the electronic communication of order information with their trading counterparties.
Pursue Select Acquisitions and Strategic Alliances
We plan to continue to increase and supplement our internal growth by entering into strategic alliances, or acquiring businesses or
technologies, that will enable us to enter new markets, provide new products or services, or otherwise enhance the value of our platform to our
clients.
14

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements
MarketAxess Electronic Trading Platform
Key Trading Functionalities
The key trading functionalities are detailed below.
Single Inquiry Trading Functionality
We currently offer institutional investors the ability to request bids or offers in a single inquiry from an unlimited number of our brokerdealer clients for U.S. high-grade corporate bonds, from up to six of our broker-dealer clients for European high-grade corporate bonds and from
up to 12 of our broker-dealer clients in emerging markets bonds. Institutional investors can obtain bids or offers on any security posted in
inventory or included in the database available on our platform.
ASAP and Holding Bin Trading Functionalities
We provide both ASAP (“as soon as possible”) and Holding Bin trading protocols. In the Holding Bin trading protocol, institutional
investor clients set the time when they would like all of the broker-dealers’ prices or spreads returned to them, in order to have the ability to see
all executable prices available at the same time. In the ASAP trading protocol, institutional investor clients see each broker-dealer’s price or
spread as soon as it is entered by the broker-dealer.
List Trading Functionality
We currently offer institutional investors the ability to request bids or offers on a list of up to 40 bonds depending on the market. This
facilitates efficient trading for institutional investors such as investment advisors, mutual funds and hedge funds. Institutional investors are able
to have multiple lists executable throughout the trading day, enabling them to manage their daily cash flows, portfolio duration, and credit and
sector exposure.
Swap Trading Functionality
We currently offer institutional investors the ability to request an offer to purchase one bond and a bid to sell another bond, in a manner
such that the two trades will be executed simultaneously, with payment based on the price or yield differential of the securities.
Market Lists
We offer institutional investors the ability to display live requests for bids and offers anonymously to the entire MarketAxess trading
community through our Market List functionality, thereby creating broader visibility of their inquiry among market participants and increasing
the likelihood that the request results in a trade.
Click-to-Trade
We have enhanced our trading system to provide pre-trade price discovery and fast-track execution for European bonds. Click-to-trade
functionality streams attributable pricing in European credit and rates instruments, submitted by our pool of European dealers. Investor clients
are able to initiate an inquiry with a single click on the stacks of distinctly displayed dealer bids and offers. Click-to-trade is offered alongside
our existing Request for Quote product. Although currently limited to European credit and rate instruments, click-to-trade functionality may be
applied to trading of other market sectors.
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Markets
U.S. High-Grade Corporate Bonds
Our U.S. high-grade corporate bond business consists of U.S. dollar-denominated investment-grade debt issued by corporations for
distribution in the U.S. Both domestic and foreign institutional investors have access to U.S. high-grade corporate bond trading on our electronic
trading platform. We use the terms high-grade debt and investment-grade debt interchangeably in this annual report on Form 10-K. Our 2011
trading volume in the U.S. high-grade corporate bond market was $323.6 billion.
In the U.S. high-grade corporate bond market, 62 broker-dealers utilize our platform, including each of the top 20 broker-dealers as ranked
by 2011 U.S. corporate bonds new-issue underwriting volume. Our broker-dealer clients accounted for approximately 97% of the underwriting
of newly-issued U.S. corporate bonds in 2011.
We offer our institutional investor clients access to a broad inventory of U.S. high-grade corporate bonds, which is provided and updated
daily by our broker-dealer clients. Our electronic trading platform allows institutional investors to view bids and offers from one or more of our
broker-dealer clients while permitting each party to know the identity of its counter-party throughout the trading process. Our disclosed inquiry
trading functionality combines the strength of existing offline client/dealer relationships with the efficiency and transparency of an electronic
trading platform. This enables institutional investors to instantly direct trade inquiries and negotiations to their traditional broker-dealer or to any
of the substantial majority of the world’s leading broker-dealers who provide liquidity in these securities. Through our Market List functionality,
we also offer institutional investors the ability to display their live requests for bid and offer lists anonymously to the entire MarketAxess trading
community as a means of creating broader visibility of their inquiry among market participants and increasing the likelihood that the request
results in a trade.
Institutional investors have access to the commingled inventory of our broker-dealer clients, representing indicative bids and offers. Each
line item of inventory represents an indicative bid and/or offer on a particular bond issue by a particular broker-dealer client. Institutional
investor clients are not restricted to trading only the bonds posted as inventory, although many of the trades conducted on our platform are made
from the posted inventory. To transact in a specific bond that does not appear in inventory, institutional investors can easily search our database
and submit an online inquiry to their chosen broker-dealers, who can respond with live, executable prices. While, on average, institutional
investor clients receive several bids or offers from broker-dealers in response to trade inquiries, some inquiries may not receive any bids or
offers.
Eurobonds
MarketAxess Europe Limited, our wholly-owned U.K. subsidiary, offers European secondary trading functionality in U.S. dollar- and
Euro-denominated European corporate bonds to our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients. We also offer our clients the ability to trade
in other European high-grade corporate bonds, including bonds issued in Pounds Sterling, floating rate notes, European government bonds and
bonds denominated in non-core currencies. We offered the first platform in Europe with a multi-dealer disclosed counterparty trading capability
for corporate bonds. In 2009, MarketAxess Europe Limited received FSA regulatory approval to trade on a riskless principal basis. In 2010, we
launched a click-to-trade protocol for the European market.
In the Eurobond credit market, defined as including European high-grade, high yield and government bonds, 25 broker-dealers utilize our
platform, including 16 of the top 20 broker-dealers as ranked by 2011 European corporate new-issue underwriting volume. On a typical day,
institutional investors on our European corporate bond trading platform have access to over 100,000 lines of streaming pre-trade price
indications on over 10,000 individual instruments covered on both the bid and offer side of the market. In a single inquiry, institutional investors
can request bids or offers from up to six of the broker-dealers who participate on the European platform. While many of the trades conducted on
our platform are made from the posted inventory, institutional
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investor clients are not restricted to trading only the bonds posted as inventory. To transact in a specific bond that does not appear in inventory,
institutional investors can easily search our database and submit an online inquiry to their chosen broker-dealers, who can respond with live,
executable prices. While, on average, institutional investor clients receive several bids or offers from broker-dealers in response to trade
inquiries, some inquiries may not receive any bids or offers. Our 2011 trading volume in the Eurobond market was $36.9 billion.
Emerging Markets Bonds
Fifty-four of our U.S. broker-dealer clients use our platform to trade emerging markets bonds. Four hundred fourteen active institutional
investor clients utilized our electronic trading platform to trade emerging markets bonds in 2011. These institutional investor clients are
predominantly located in the U.S. and Europe. The emerging markets countries whose bonds were most frequently traded on our platform in
2011 were Argentina, Brazil, Mexico, Russia and Venezuela.
We also allow our institutional investor clients to transact Euroclear-eligible local currency denominated bonds issued by sovereign entities
or corporations in countries that include Argentina, Brazil and Mexico.
Crossover and High-Yield Bonds
Sixty-two of our U.S. broker-dealer clients use our platform to trade crossover and high-yield bonds. Trading in crossover and high-yield
bonds uses many of the same features available in our U.S. high-grade corporate bond offering.
Agency Bonds
Forty-three of our U.S. broker-dealer clients use our platform to trade agency bonds. Trading in agency bonds uses many of the same
features available in our U.S. high-grade corporate bond offering.
Credit Default Swaps
We offer trading on our platform for CDS indices and single-names in both the U.S. and Europe through our traditional RFQ protocol.
Nine of our broker-dealer clients are providing streaming, executable CDS index prices. Additionally, we incorporated the request-for-market
protocol and the streaming markets/click-to-trade protocol into an updated single-screen user interface, giving clients full flexibility in their
means of execution. With these features, we believe that we have developed much of the core technology needed to meet the anticipated
regulatory requirements under the Dodd-Frank Act.
Asset-Backed Securities
In 2011, we introduced trading in consumer-based asset-backed securities and non-agency residential and commercial mortgage-backed
securities. Eight of our U.S. broker-dealer clients use our platform to trade asset-backed securities. Trading in asset-backed securities uses many
of the same features available in our U.S. high-grade corporate bond offering.
Preferred Securities
In November 2010, we introduced trading in preferred securities. Fourteen of our U.S. broker-dealer clients use our platform to trade
preferred securities. Trading in preferred securities uses many of the same features available in our U.S. high-grade corporate bond offering.
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Information and Analytical Tools
Corporate BondTicker TM
Corporate BondTicker TM provides real-time FINRA TRACE data and enhances it with MarketAxess trade data and analytical tools to
provide professional market participants with a comprehensive set of corporate bond price information. The data include trade time and sales
information, including execution prices, as well as MarketAxess-estimated spread-to-Treasuries, for trades disseminated by the FINRA TRACE
system. The data also include actual execution prices and spread-to-Treasury levels for U.S. high-grade corporate bond trades executed on the
MarketAxess platform.
Corporate BondTicker TM allows institutional investors to search for and sort bonds based upon specific criteria, such as volume, time/date
of transaction, spread change, issuer or security. This search function allows institutional investors to compile information relating to potential
securities trades in a fraction of the time that it takes to manually compile this information from disparate sources or other electronic databases,
including direct FINRA TRACE feeds.
TRACE facilitates the mandatory reporting of over-the-counter secondary market transactions in eligible fixed-income securities. All
broker-dealers that are FINRA member firms have an obligation to report transactions in corporate bonds to TRACE under a set of rules
approved by the SEC. FINRA then publicly disseminates a portion of this data, which is available free of charge on a delayed basis through the
FINRA website or available immediately for a set fee.
Corporate BondTicker TM is integrated directly into the MarketAxess electronic trading platform and can be seamlessly accessed, either
when viewing securities inventory or when launching an inquiry. Corporate BondTicker TM is also available through the Internet for non-trading
professional market participants, including, among others, research analysts and rating agencies, who can log in and access the information via
an easy-to-use browser-based interface.
We provide Corporate BondTicker TM as an ancillary service to our trading clients and also to other industry participants. We derive
revenues from our Corporate BondTicker TM service by charging for seat licenses per user at our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients,
through distribution agreements with other information service providers and through bulk data sales to third parties. Seat license fees are waived
for clients that transact a sufficient volume of trades through MarketAxess.
Additional analytical capabilities of our information services offerings aim to provide clients with more information regarding bond prices
and market activity, including asset swap spreads, turnover percentage and liquidity ratios. These statistics measure a security’s trading activity
relative to its amount outstanding and relative to the overall market, respectively, providing an additional perspective on relative liquidity. In
addition, we provide pricing measures to help institutional investors better assess the relative value of a corporate bond, providing more
consistent relative pricing information for institutional investors, such as offering spread data versus the interest rate swap curve and versus the
U.S. Treasury curve. Users are also able to download a variety of MarketAxess-compiled trade reports containing a comprehensive review of
trading activity. Corporate BondTicker TM is currently the source of corporate bond trading information for The Wall Street Journal.
We also offer a comprehensive set of reports designed to review and monitor credit trading activity for institutional investor clients. It
utilizes extensive FINRA TRACE information and has a flexible interface to run and save reports in a variety of formats for both compliance and
management reporting. For example, the best execution report provides a view of the savings generated by trading on our electronic trading
platform and offers a quantitative measure of the value of price discovery from multiple dealers. The report allows clients to monitor
performance against their own best execution policy. Our compliance product provides a printed history of each inquiry submitted through the
MarketAxess trading platform.
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My Portfolio
Institutional investors are able to upload their corporate bond portfolio to our electronic trading platform utilizing the “My Portfolio”
trading feature. Institutional investors who utilize “My Portfolio” benefit from the ability to automatically match inventory on our platform to
bonds held in their portfolio, allowing them to more efficiently launch an inquiry and transact in these securities. Users of this feature can also
directly access Corporate BondTicker TM to obtain the trading history of the securities in their portfolio.
Straight-Through Processing
Straight-through processing refers to the integration of systems and processes to automate the trade process from end-to-end — trade
execution, confirmation and settlement — without the need for manual intervention. There are two elements of straight-through processing:
internal straight-through processing and external straight-through processing. Internal straight-through processing relates to the trade and
settlement processes that are internal to an industry participant. For example, in the case of an institutional investor, this includes authorization of
orders, placement of orders with broker-dealers, receipt of execution details and allocation of trades. External straight-through processing refers
to connecting seamlessly to all external counterparts in the trading and settlement process.
Automation by way of straight-through processing improves efficiency throughout the trade cycle. We provide broker-dealers and
institutional investors with a range of tools that facilitate straight-through processing, including order upload, easy-to-use online allocation tools
and pre- and post-trade messaging features that enable institutional investors to communicate electronically between front- and back-office
systems, thereby integrating the order, portfolio management and accounting systems of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients in
real time. Our straight-through processing tools can be customized to meet specific needs of clients. We continue to build industry partnerships
to assist our clients in creating connectivity throughout the trade cycle. Through these partnerships, we are increasingly providing solutions that
can quickly be deployed within our clients’ trading operations.
Usage of our straight-through processing tools increased significantly during the last several years. The number of investor client STP
connections increased from 180 as of December 31, 2008 to 291 as of December 31, 2011.
Dealer API
We offer Application Programming Interface (“API”) services to our broker-dealer clients for pre-trade, trade negotiation and post-trade
services. This allows for straight-through processing, which improves efficiency and reduces errors in processing.
Technology Services
Through our Greenline Financial Technologies, Inc. (“Greenline”) subsidiary, we provide integration, testing and management solutions
for FIX-related products and services. The FIX protocol is a messaging standard developed specifically for the real-time electronic exchange of
securities transaction information. Greenline’s CertiFIX product enables firms to provide a reliable FIX certification environment for their
trading counterparties. The VeriFIX product is a testing suite that allows firms to thoroughly test counterparty FIX interfaces, protocol formats
and supported messages. Greenline’s MagniFIX product allows firms to monitor their enterprise-wide FIX installations on a real-time basis. In
addition, Greenline provides strategic consulting and custom development for its clients.
We also provide technology consulting and customized development services to our clients that leverage our trading technology expertise
and our existing technology solutions. Fees for such services are based on the complexity and extent of the services provided. In addition, we
provide gateway adapters to connect order management and trading systems to fixed-income trading venues.
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Sales and Marketing
We promote our products and services using a variety of direct and indirect sales and marketing strategies. Our sales force is responsible
for client acquisition activity and for increasing use of our platform by our existing clients. Their goal is to train and support existing and new
clients on how to use the system and to educate them as to the benefits of utilizing an electronic fixed-income trading platform. We employ
various strategies, including advertising, direct marketing, promotional mailings and participation in industry conferences, to increase awareness
of our brand and our electronic trading platform. For example, we have worked with The Wall Street Journal to establish Corporate BondTicker
TM as the source of information for its daily corporate bond and high-yield tables.
Competition
The electronic trading industry is highly competitive and we expect competition to intensify in the future. We face five main areas of
competition:
• Telephone — We compete with bond trading business conducted over the telephone between broker-dealers and their institutional
investor clients. Institutional investors have historically purchased fixed-income securities by telephoning bond sales professionals at
one or more broker-dealers and inquiring about the price and availability of individual bonds. This remains the manner in which the
majority of corporate bonds are still traded between institutional investors and broker-dealers.
• E-mail — We compete with bond trading business conducted via e-mail between broker-dealers and their institutional investor clients.
E-mail provides an efficient means of initiating product and price discovery with a large universe of potential trading partners.
• Other electronic trading platforms — There are numerous other electronic trading platforms currently in existence. Among others,
Thomson TradeWeb and Bloomberg operate multi-dealer to institutional investor trading platforms for both fixed income securities and
derivatives. The New York Stock Exchange also offers exchange-style trading for corporate bonds. In addition, some broker-dealers
operate proprietary electronic trading systems that enable institutional investors to trade directly with a broker-dealer over an electronic
medium. Additionally, as we expand our business into new products, we will likely come into more direct competition with other
electronic trading platforms or firms offering traditional services.
• Market data and information vendors — Several large market data and information providers currently have a data and analytics
relationship with virtually every institutional firm. Some of these entities, including Bloomberg, currently offer varying forms of
electronic trading of fixed-income securities, mostly on a single-dealer basis. Some of these entities have announced their intention to
expand their electronic trading platforms or to develop new platforms. These entities are currently direct competitors to our information
services business and already are or may in the future become direct competitors to our electronic trading platform.
• Technology vendors — We compete with numerous providers of FIX message management tools and connectivity solutions. The
market for our technology products and services is fragmented and includes FIX engine providers, testing, monitoring, certification and
professional services firms and in-house technology and development groups at virtually every institutional firm.
Competitors, including companies in which some of our broker-dealer clients have invested, have developed electronic trading platforms
or have announced their intention to explore the development of electronic trading platforms that compete or will compete with us. Furthermore,
our broker-dealer clients have made, and may in the future make investments in or enter into agreements with other businesses that directly or
indirectly compete with us.
In general, we compete on the basis of a number of key factors, including:
• broad network of broker-dealer and institutional investor clients using our electronic trading platform;
• liquidity provided by the participating broker-dealers;
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• magnitude and frequency of price improvement;
• enhancing the quality and speed of execution;
• compliance benefits;
• total transaction costs;
• technology capabilities, including the reliability and ease of use of our electronic trading platform; and
• range of products and services offered.
We believe that our ability to grow volumes and revenues will largely depend on our performance with respect to these factors.
Our competitive position is also enhanced by the familiarity and integration of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients with our
electronic trading platform and other systems. We have focused on the unique aspects of the credit markets we serve in the development of our
platform, working closely with our clients to provide a system that is suited to their needs.
Our broker-dealer clients have invested in building API’s with us for inventory contributions, electronic trading, government bond
benchmark pricing and post-trade messaging. We believe that we have successfully built deep roots with our broker-dealer clients, increasing our
level of service to them while at the same time increasing their commitment to our services.
Furthermore, 291 of our institutional investor clients have built interfaces to enable them to communicate electronically between our
platform and their order, portfolio management and accounting systems. We believe that this increases the reliance of these institutional investor
clients on our services and creates significant competitive barriers to entry.
Technology
The design and quality of our technology products are critical to our growth and our ability to execute our business strategy. Our electronic
trading platform has been designed with secure, scalable client-server architecture that makes broad use of distributed computing to achieve
speed, reliability and fault tolerance. The platform is built on industry-standard technologies and has been designed to handle many multiples of
our current trading volume.
All critical server-side components, primarily our networks, application servers and databases, have backup equipment running in the event
that the main equipment fails. This offers fully redundant system capacity to maximize uptime and minimize the potential for loss of transaction
data in the event of an internal failure. We also seek to minimize the impact of external failures by automatically recovering connections in the
event of a communications failure. The majority of our broker-dealer clients have redundant dedicated high-speed communication paths to our
network in order to provide fast data transfer. Our security measures include industry-standard communications encryption.
We have designed our application with an easy-to-use, Windows-based interface. Our clients are able to access our electronic trading
platform through a secure, single sign-on. Clients are also able to execute transactions over our platform directly from their order management
systems. We provide users an automatic software update feature that does not require manual intervention.
Intellectual Property
We rely upon a combination of copyright, patent, trade secret and trademark laws, written agreements and common law to protect our
proprietary technology, processes and other intellectual property. Our software code, elements of our electronic trading platform, website and
other proprietary materials are protected by copyright
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laws. We received five patents in 2009 covering our most significant trading protocols and other aspects of our trading system technology, we
received two additional patents in 2010 and other patents are pending.
The written agreements upon which we rely to protect our proprietary technology, processes and intellectual property include agreements
designed to protect our trade secrets. Examples of these written agreements include third party nondisclosure agreements, employee
nondisclosure and inventions assignment agreements, and agreements with customers, contractors and strategic partners. Other written
agreements upon which we rely to protect our proprietary technology, processes and intellectual property take many forms and contain
provisions related to patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret rights.
We have obtained U.S. federal registration of the MarketAxess ® name and logo, and the same mark and logo have been registered in
several foreign jurisdictions. We have pending registrations for the MarketAxess ® name and logo in several other foreign jurisdictions. In
addition, we have obtained U.S. federal registration for the marks AutoSpotting ® , BondLink ® , FrontPage ® , Actives ® , DealerAxess ® and
associated designs and have a number of other registered trademarks, service marks and trademark applications. Corporate BondTicker TM is a
trademark we use, but it has not been registered.
In addition to our efforts to register our intellectual property, we believe that factors such as the technological and creative skills of our
personnel, new product and service developments, frequent enhancements and reliability with respect to our services are essential to establishing
and maintaining a technology and market leadership position.
Government Regulation
The securities industry and financial markets in the U.S. and elsewhere are subject to extensive regulation. As a matter of public policy,
regulatory bodies in the U.S. and the rest of the world are charged with safeguarding the integrity of the securities and other financial markets
and with protecting the interests of investors participating in those markets. Our active broker-dealer subsidiaries fall within the scope of their
regulations.
Regulation of the U.S. Securities Industry and Broker-Dealers
In the U.S., the SEC is the governmental agency responsible for the administration of the federal securities laws. One of our U.S.
subsidiaries, MarketAxess Corporation, is registered with the SEC as a broker-dealer. It is also a member of FINRA, a self-regulatory
organization to which most broker-dealers belong. In addition, MarketAxess Corporation is a member of the Securities Investor Protection
Corporation, which provides certain protection for clients’ accounts in the event of a liquidation of a broker-dealer to the extent any such
accounts are held by the broker-dealer.
Additionally, MarketAxess Corporation is registered with certain states and the District of Columbia as a broker-dealer. The individual
states and the District of Columbia are responsible for the administration of their respective “blue sky” laws, rules and regulations.
In July, 2010, the Dodd-Frank Act was signed into law, marking the greatest change to financial supervision since the 1930’s. U.S.
financial regulators are in the midst of an intense period of rulemaking that is required to implement the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act, and
market participants will need to make strategic decisions in an environment of regulatory uncertainty. Among the most significant aspects of the
derivatives section of the Dodd-Frank Act are mandatory clearing of certain derivatives transactions (“swaps”) through regulated central clearing
organizations and mandatory trading of those swaps through either regulated exchanges or swap execution facilities, in each case, subject to
certain key exceptions. As with other parts of the Dodd-Frank Act, many of the details of the new regulatory regime relating to swaps are left to
the regulators to determine through rulemaking. Subject to such rulemaking, we currently expect to establish and operate a swap execution
facility and/or a security-based swap execution facility.
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Regulation of the Non-U.S. Securities Industries and Investment Service Providers
The securities industry and financial markets in the U.K., the European Union and elsewhere are subject to extensive regulation.
MarketAxess Europe Limited may fall within the scope of those regulations depending on the extent to which it is characterized as providing a
regulated investment service.
Our principal regulator in the U.K. is the Financial Services Authority (“FSA”). Our subsidiary, MarketAxess Europe Limited, is registered
as a Multilateral Trading Facility (“MTF”) dealer with the FSA.
The securities industry in the member states of the European Union is regulated by agencies in each member state. European Union
measures provide for the mutual recognition of regulatory agencies and of prudential supervision making possible the grant of a single
authorization for providers of investment services, which, in general, is valid throughout the European Union. As an FSA-approved MTF,
MarketAxess Europe Limited receives the benefit of this authorization.
Similar to the U.S., regulatory bodies in Europe and elsewhere are developing new rules for derivatives trading. For example, the European
Commission has issued three consultation papers intended to help define certain terms in the new OTC derivatives landscape and, in 2010,
proposed legislation that mandates, among other things, central clearing of standardized CDS contracts. Although the European regulators have
not yet adopted such legislation, our expectation is that the EU will, in line with the U.S., require central clearing of standardized CDS contracts
and increase transparency through enhanced trade reporting requirements. However, it is not yet clear whether there will be any requirement in
the EU to trade standardized CDS contracts on regulated exchanges or trading platforms.
Our Canadian subsidiary, MarketAxess Canada Limited, is registered as an Alternative Trading System dealer under the Securities Act of
Ontario and is a member of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada.
Employees
As of December 31, 2011, we had 232 employees, 187 of whom were based in the U.S. and 45 of whom were based outside of the U.S.,
principally in the U.K. None of our employees is represented by a labor union. We consider our relationships with our employees to be good and
have not experienced any interruptions of operations due to labor disagreements.
Company Information
Our Internet website address is www.marketaxess.com. Through our Internet website, we will make available, free of charge, the following
reports as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing them with, or furnishing them to, the SEC: our annual report on Form 10-K;
our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q; our current reports on Form 8-K; and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13
(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our Proxy Statements for our Annual Meetings are also available through our Internet website. Our
Internet website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form
10-K. You may also obtain copies of our reports without charge by writing to:
MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
299 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10171
Attn: Investor Relations
Our Board of Directors has standing Audit, Compensation, Investment, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees. Each of
these committees has a written charter approved by our Board of Directors.
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Our Board of Directors has also adopted a set of Corporate Governance Guidelines. Copies of each committee charter, along with the Corporate
Governance Guidelines, are also posted on our website.
You may read and copy any document we file with the SEC at the SEC’s public reference room at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580,
Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for information on the public reference room. The SEC maintains an Internet
website that contains annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy and information statements and other information that issuers (including the
Company) file electronically with the SEC. The SEC’s internet website is www.sec.gov.
We have obtained federal registration of the MarketAxess ® name and logo, as well as for the marks Auto-Spotting ® , BondLink ® , Actives
, FrontPage ® and DealerAxess ® . We also have a number of other registered trademarks, service mark applications and trademark applications.
Other trademarks and service marks appearing in this annual report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective holders.
®
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Item 1A.

Risk Factors.
Risks Related to Our Business

Global economic, political and market factors beyond our control could reduce demand for our services, and our profitability and business
could suffer.
The global financial services business is, by its nature, risky and volatile and is directly affected by many national and international factors
that are beyond our control. Any one of these factors may cause a substantial decline in the U.S. and/or global financial services markets,
resulting in reduced trading volume. These events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. These factors include:
• economic and political conditions in the United States, Europe and elsewhere;
• adverse market conditions, including unforeseen market closures or other disruptions in trading;
• broad trends in business and finance;
• consolidation or contraction in the number of broker-dealers;
• actual or threatened acts of war or terrorism or other armed hostilities;
• concerns over inflation and weakening consumer confidence levels;
• the availability of cash for investment by mutual funds and other wholesale and retail investors;
• the level and volatility of interest and foreign currency exchange rates; and
• legislative and regulatory changes.
Any one or more of these factors may contribute to reduced activity and prices in the securities markets generally. Our revenues and
profitability are likely to decline significantly during periods of stagnant economic conditions or low trading volume in the U.S. and global
financial markets.
Decreases in trading volumes in the fixed-income markets generally or on our platform would harm our business and profitability.
We have experienced significant decreases in overall trading volume in the past and may experience similar decreases in trading volume in
the future. Declines in the overall volume of fixed-income securities trading and in market liquidity generally, as well as declines in interest rate
volatility, could result in lower revenues from commissions for trades executed on our electronic trading platform and fees generated from
related activities.
Likewise, decreases in our share of the segments of the fixed-income trading markets in which we operate, or shifts in trading volume to
segments of clients which we have not penetrated, could result in lower trading volume on our platform and, consequently, lower commissions
and other revenue. During periods of increased volatility in credit markets, the use of electronic trading platforms by market participants may
decrease dramatically as institutional investors seek to obtain additional information during the trade process through conversations with brokerdealers. In addition, during rapidly moving markets, broker-dealers are less likely to post prices electronically.
A decline in trading volumes on our platform for any reason would negatively affect our commission revenue and may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We face substantial competition that could reduce our market share and harm our financial performance.
The fixed-income securities industry generally, and the electronic financial services markets in which we operate in particular, are highly
competitive, and we expect competition to intensify in the future. We will
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continue to compete with bond trading conducted directly between broker-dealers and their institutional investor clients over the telephone or
electronically. In addition, our current and prospective competitors are numerous and include:
• other multi-dealer trading companies;
• market data and information vendors;
• securities and futures exchanges;
• inter-dealer brokerage firms;
• electronic communications networks;
• technology, software, information and media or other companies that have existing commercial relationships with broker-dealers or
institutional investors; and
• other electronic marketplaces that are not currently in the securities business.
Many of our current and potential competitors are more established and substantially larger than we are and have substantially greater
market presence, as well as greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources. These competitors may aggressively reduce their pricing
to enter into market segments in which we have a leadership position today, potentially subsidizing any losses with profits from trading in other
fixed-income or equity securities. In addition, many of our competitors offer a wider range of services, have broader name recognition and have
larger customer bases than we do. Some of them may be able to respond more quickly to new or evolving opportunities, technologies and
customer requirements than we can and may be able to undertake more extensive promotional activities.
Any combination of our competitors may enter into joint ventures or consortia to provide services similar to those provided by us. Current
and new competitors can launch new platforms at a relatively low cost. Others may acquire the capabilities necessary to compete with us through
acquisitions. We expect that we will potentially compete with a variety of companies with respect to each product or service we offer. If we are
not able to compete successfully in the future, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.
Neither the sustainability of our current level of business nor any future growth can be assured. Even if we do experience growth, we cannot
assure you that we will grow profitably.
The success of our business strategy depends, in part, on our ability to maintain and expand the network of broker-dealer and institutional
investor clients that use our electronic trading platform. Our business strategy also depends on increasing the use of our platform by these clients.
Individuals at broker-dealers or institutional investors may have conflicting interests, which may discourage their use of our platform.
Our growth is also dependent on our ability to diversify our revenue base. We currently derive approximately 60% of our revenues from
secondary trading in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds. Our long-term business strategy is dependent on expanding our service offerings and
increasing our revenues from other fixed-income products and other sources. We cannot assure you that our efforts will be successful or result in
increased revenues or continued profitability. We have experienced significant growth in trading volumes, revenues and profitability over the
past three years. We cannot assure you that our business will continue to grow at a similar rate, if at all.
Because we operate in a rapidly evolving industry, it is difficult to evaluate our business and prospects.
We face risks and difficulties frequently experienced by companies operating in rapidly evolving industries, such as the electronic financial
services industry. These risks and difficulties include, but are not limited to, our ability to:
• attract and retain broker-dealers and institutional investors on a cost-effective basis;
• respond effectively to the loss of any of our broker-dealer clients due to merger, consolidation, bankruptcy, liquidation or other cause,
including, among other things, the collection of any amounts due from any such clients;
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• expand and enhance reliable and cost-effective product and service offerings to our clients;
• respond effectively to competitive pressures;
• diversify our sources of revenues;
• maintain adequate control of our expenses;
• operate, support, expand and develop our operations, technology, website, software, communications and other systems;
• manage growth in personnel and operations;
• increase awareness of our brand or market positioning;
• expand our sales and marketing programs
• take advantage of acquisitions, strategic alliances and other opportunities; and
• respond to regulatory changes or demands.
If we are unsuccessful in addressing these risks or in executing our business strategy, our business, financial condition and results of
operations may suffer.
We may enter into new fee plans, the impact of which may be difficult to evaluate.
From time to time we may introduce new fee plans for the U.S. high-grade corporate bond, Eurobond and other market segments in which
we operate. Any new fee plan may include different fee structures or provide volume incentives. For example, as a result of the effect on our
Eurobond trading volumes of continuing sovereign debt concerns and the competitive environment in Europe, we intend to amend our European
broker-dealer plan effective March 1, 2012; this amendment will reduce the distribution fees charged to our European broker-dealer clients but
leave dealer variable transaction fees unchanged.
We cannot assure you that any new fee plans will result in an increase in the volume of transactions effected on our platform or that our
revenues will increase as a result of the implementation of any such fee plans. It is possible that our broker-dealer or institutional investor clients
could respond to a new fee plan by either reducing the amount of their business conducted on our platform or terminating their contractual
relationship with us, which could have an adverse impact on our fees and otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
We are exposed to risks resulting from non-performance by counterparties to certain transactions executed between our clients in which we
act as an intermediary in matching back-to back bond trades .
We execute certain bond transactions between and among institutional investor and broker-dealer clients on a riskless principal basis by
serving as counterparty to both the buyer and the seller in matching back-to-back trades, which are then settled through a third-party clearing
organization. MarketAxess Corporation, our U.S. subsidiary, and MarketAxess Europe Limited, our U.K. subsidiary, act as intermediary on a
riskless principal basis in these bond transactions by serving as counterparty to the two clients involved. Settlement typically occurs within one
to three trading days after the trade date. Cash settlement of the transaction occurs upon receipt or delivery of the underlying instrument that was
traded.
We are exposed to credit risk in our role as trading counterparty to our clients executing bond trades on our platform. We are exposed to
the risk that third parties that owe us money, securities or other assets will not perform their obligations. These parties may default on their
obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. Adverse movements in the prices of securities that are
the subject of these transactions can increase our risk. Where the unmatched position or failure to deliver is prolonged there may also be
regulatory capital charges required to be taken by us. There can be no assurance that the policies and procedures we use to manage this credit
risk will effectively mitigate our credit risk exposure.
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We are dependent on our broker-dealer clients, who are not restricted from buying and selling fixed-income securities, directly or through
their own proprietary or third-party platforms, with institutional investors.
We rely on our broker-dealer clients to provide product and liquidity on our electronic trading platform by posting bond prices on our
platform for bonds in their inventory and responding to institutional investor client inquiries. The contractual obligations of our broker-dealer
clients to us are minimal, non-exclusive and terminable by such clients. Our broker-dealer clients buy and sell fixed-income securities through
traditional methods, including by telephone and e-mail messaging, and through other electronic trading platforms. Some of our broker-dealer
clients have developed electronic trading networks that compete with us or have announced their intention to explore the development of such
electronic trading networks, and most of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients are involved in other ventures, including other
electronic trading platforms or other distribution channels, as trading participants and/or as investors. These competing trading platforms may
offer some features that we do not currently offer. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that such broker-dealers’ primary commitments will
not be to one of our competitors.
Any reduction in the use of our electronic trading platform by our broker-dealer clients could reduce the number of different bond issues
and the volume of trading in those bond issues on our platform, which could, in turn, reduce the use of our platform by our institutional investor
clients. The occurrence of any of the foregoing may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We could lose significant sources of revenue and trading volume if we lose any of our significant institutional investor clients.
We rely on our institutional investor clients to launch inquiries over our trading platform. A limited number of such clients can account for
a significant portion of our trading volume. One institutional investor client accounted for approximately 14.6%, 15.8% and 12.1% of trading
volumes during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. This institutional investor client also beneficially owns
approximately 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. The contractual obligations of our institutional investor clients to us are
minimal, non-exclusive and terminable by such clients. Our institutional investor clients buy and sell fixed-income securities through traditional
methods, including by telephone and e-mail messaging, and through other electronic trading platforms.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to retain our major institutional investor clients or that such clients will continue to use our
trading platform. The loss of any major institutional investor client or any reduction in the use of our electronic trading platform by such clients
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we experience significant fluctuations in our operating results or fail to meet revenue and earnings expectations, our stock price may fall
rapidly and without advance notice.
Our revenues and operating results may fluctuate due to a number of factors, including:
• the unpredictability of the financial services industry;
• difficulty in quickly adjusting our expense base if revenues fall short of expectations;
• our ability to retain existing broker-dealer and institutional investor clients and attract new broker-dealer and institutional investor
clients;
• our ability to drive an increase in use of our electronic trading platform by new and existing broker-dealer and institutional investor
clients;
• changes in our pricing policies;
• the introduction of new features on our electronic trading platform;
• the effectiveness of our sales force;
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• new product and service introductions by our competitors;
• fluctuations in overall market trading volume;
• technical difficulties or interruptions in our service;
• general economic conditions in our geographic markets;
• additional investment in our services or operations; and
• regulatory compliance costs.
As a result, our operating results may fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis, which could result in decreases in our stock price.
We may not be able to introduce enhanced versions of our electronic trading platform, new services and/or service enhancements in a timely
or acceptable manner, which could harm our competitive position.
Our business environment is characterized by rapid technological change, changing and increasingly sophisticated client demands and
evolving industry standards. Our future will depend on our ability to develop and introduce new features to, and new versions of, our electronic
trading platform. The success of new features and versions depends on several factors, including the timely completion, introduction and market
acceptance of the feature or version. In addition, the market for our electronic trading platform may be limited if prospective clients require
customized features or functions that we are unable or unwilling to provide. If we are unable to anticipate and respond to the demand for new
services, products and technologies and develop new features and enhanced versions of our electronic trading platform that achieve widespread
levels of market acceptance on a timely and cost-effective basis, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
As we enter new markets, we may not be able to successfully attract clients and adapt our technology and marketing strategy for use in those
markets.
Our strategy includes leveraging our electronic trading platform to enter new markets. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
successfully adapt our proprietary software and technology for use in other markets. Even if we do adapt our software and technology, we cannot
assure you that we will be able to attract clients and compete successfully in any such new markets. We cannot assure you that our marketing
efforts or our pursuit of any of these opportunities will be successful. If these efforts are not successful, we may realize less than expected
earnings, which in turn could result in a decrease in the market value of our common stock. Furthermore, these efforts may divert management
attention or inefficiently utilize our resources.
Rapid market or technological changes may render our technology obsolete or decrease the attractiveness of our products and services to our
broker-dealer and institutional investor clients.
We must continue to enhance and improve our electronic trading platform. The electronic financial services industry is characterized by
significant structural changes, increasingly complex systems and infrastructures, changes in clients’ needs and preferences and new business
models. If new industry standards and practices emerge and our competitors release new technology before us, our existing technology, systems
and electronic trading platform may become obsolete or our existing business may be harmed. Our future success will depend on our ability to:
• enhance our existing products and services;
• develop and/or license new products and technologies that address the increasingly sophisticated and varied needs of our broker-dealer
and institutional investor clients and prospective clients;
• continue to attract highly-skilled technology personnel; and
• respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and practices on a cost-effective and timely basis.
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Developing our electronic trading platform and other technology entails significant technical and business risks. We may use new
technologies ineffectively or we may fail to adapt our electronic trading platform, information databases and network infrastructure to brokerdealer or institutional investor client requirements or emerging industry standards. For example, our electronic trading platform functionality that
allows searches and inquiries on bond pricing and availability is a critical part of our service, and it may become out-of-date or insufficient from
our broker-dealer clients’ or institutional investor clients’ perspective and in relation to the inquiry functionality of our competitors’ systems. If
we face material delays in introducing new services, products and enhancements, our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients may forego
the use of our products and use those of our competitors.
Further, the adoption of new Internet, networking or telecommunications technologies may require us to devote substantial resources to
modify and adapt our services. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully implement new technologies or adapt our proprietary
technology and transaction-processing systems to client requirements or emerging industry standards. We cannot assure you that we will be able
to respond in a timely manner to changing market conditions or client requirements.
We depend on third-party suppliers for key products and services.
We rely on a number of third parties to supply elements of our trading, information and other systems, as well as computers and other
equipment, and related support and maintenance. We cannot assure you that any of these providers will be able to continue to provide these
services in an efficient, cost-effective manner, if at all, or that they will be able to adequately expand their services to meet our needs. If we are
unable to make alternative arrangements for the supply of critical products or services in the event of a malfunction of a product or an
interruption in or the cessation of service by an existing service provider, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
materially adversely affected.
In particular, we depend on a third-party vendor for our corporate bond reference database. Disruptions in the services provided by that
third party to us, including as a result of their inability or unwillingness to continue to license products that are critical to the success of our
business, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We also rely, and expect in the future to continue to rely, on third parties for various computer and communications systems, such as
telephone companies, online service providers, data processors, and software and hardware vendors. Other third parties provide, for instance, our
data center, telecommunications access lines and significant computer systems and software licensing, support and maintenance services. Any
interruption in these or other third-party services or deterioration in their performance could impair the quality of our service. We cannot be
certain of the financial viability of all of the third parties on which we rely.
We license software from third parties, much of which is integral to our electronic trading platform and our business. We also hire
contractors to assist in the development, quality assurance testing and maintenance of our electronic trading platform and other systems.
Continued access to these licensors and contractors on favorable contract terms or access to alternative software and information technology
contractors is important to our operations. Adverse changes in any of these relationships could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
We attempt to negotiate favorable pricing, service, confidentiality and intellectual property ownership or licensing and other terms in our
contracts with our service providers. These contracts usually have multi-year terms. However, there is no guarantee that these contracts will not
terminate and that we will be able to negotiate successor agreements or agreements with alternate service providers on competitive terms.
Further, the existing agreements may bind us for a period of time to terms and technology that become obsolete as our industry and our
competitors advance their own operations and contracts.
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Our success depends on maintaining the integrity of our electronic trading platform, systems and infrastructure; our computer systems may
suffer failures, capacity constraints and business interruptions that could increase our operating costs and cause us to lose clients.
In order to be successful, we must provide reliable, secure, real-time access to our electronic trading platform for our broker-dealer and
institutional investor clients. If our electronic trading platform is hampered by slow delivery times, unreliable service or insufficient capacity, our
broker-dealer and institutional investor clients may decide to stop using our platform, which would have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
As our operations grow in both size and scope, we will need to improve and upgrade our electronic trading platform and infrastructure to
accommodate potential increases in order message volume and trading volume, the trading practices of new and existing clients, regulatory
changes and the development of new and enhanced trading platform features, functionalities and ancillary products and services. The expansion
of our electronic trading platform and infrastructure has required, and will continue to require, substantial financial, operational and technical
resources. These resources will typically need to be committed well in advance of any actual increase in trading volumes and order messages.
We cannot assure you that our estimates of future trading volumes and order messages will be accurate or that our systems will always be able to
accommodate actual trading volumes and order messages without failure or degradation of performance. Furthermore, we use new technologies
to upgrade our established systems, and the development of these new technologies also entails technical, financial and business risks. We
cannot assure you that we will successfully implement new technologies or adapt our existing electronic trading platform, technology and
systems to the requirements of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients or to emerging industry standards. The inability of our
electronic trading platform to accommodate increasing trading volume and order messages would also constrain our ability to expand our
business.
We cannot assure you that we, or our third party service providers, will not experience systems failures. Our electronic trading platform,
computer and communication systems and other operations are vulnerable to damage, interruption or failure as a result of, among other things:
• irregular or heavy use of our electronic trading platform during peak trading times or at times of unusual market volatility;
• power or telecommunications failures, hardware failures or software errors;
• human error;
• computer viruses, acts of vandalism or sabotage (and resulting potential lapses in security), both internal and external;
• natural disasters, fires, floods or other acts of God;
• acts of war or terrorism (including cyberterrorism) or other armed hostility;
• cybersecurity breaches; and
• loss of support services from third parties, including those to whom we outsource aspects of our computer infrastructure critical to our
business.
In the event that any of our systems, or those of our third-party providers, fail or operate slowly, it may cause any one or more of the
following to occur:
• unanticipated disruptions in service to our clients;
• distribution of untimely or inaccurate market data to customers who rely on this data for their trades;
• slower response times or delays in our clients’ trade execution;
• incomplete or inaccurate accounting, recording or processing of trades;
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• financial losses and liabilities to clients;
• litigation or other claims against us, including formal complaints to industry regulatory organizations; and
• regulatory inquiries, proceedings or sanctions.
Any system failure that causes an interruption in service or decreases the responsiveness of our service, including failures caused by client
error or misuse of our systems, could damage our reputation, business and brand name and lead our broker-dealer and institutional investor
clients to decrease or cease their use of our electronic trading platform.
In these circumstances, our redundant systems or disaster recovery plans may not be adequate. Similarly, although many of our contracts
with our service providers require them to have disaster recovery plans, we cannot be certain that these will be adequate or implemented
properly. In addition, our business interruption insurance may not adequately compensate us for losses that may occur.
We also cannot assure you that we have sufficient personnel to properly respond to system problems. We internally support and maintain
many of our computer systems and networks, including those underlying our electronic trading platform. Our failure to monitor or maintain
these systems and networks or, if necessary, to find a replacement for this technology in a timely and cost-effective manner would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our systems and those of our third party service providers may be vulnerable to cybersecurity risks. If our security measures are breached
and unauthorized access is obtained to our electronic trading platform, our business could suffer a material adverse effect.
Our electronic trading platform involves the storage and transmission of our clients’ proprietary information. The secure storage and
transmission of confidential information over public networks is a critical element of our operations. Cyber attacks on our systems or the systems
of our third party service providers could expose us to a risk of misappropriation of this information, leading to litigation and possible liability. If
our security measures are breached as a result of third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, and, as a result, someone obtains
unauthorized access to trading or other confidential information, our reputation could be damaged, our business may suffer and we could incur
significant liability. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage computer systems change frequently and generally are
not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventive measures.
Any cybersecurity breach may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. A cyber attack or
security breach on our system or that of a third party service provider could manifest in different ways and could lead to any number of harmful
consequences, including but not limited to:
• misappropriation of financial assets, intellectual property or sensitive information belonging to us, our clients or our third party service
providers;
• corruption of data or causing operational disruption through computer viruses or phishing; and
• denial of service attacks to prevent users from accessing our platform.
Our remediation costs and lost revenues could be significant if we fall victim to a cyber attack. If an actual, threatened or perceived breach
of our security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed and could cause our broker-dealer
and institutional investor clients to reduce or stop their use of our electronic trading platform. We may be required to expend significant
resources to repair system damage, protect against the threat of future security breaches or to alleviate problems, including reputational harm,
loss of clients and revenues and litigation, caused by any breaches. We may be found liable to our clients for any stolen assets or
misappropriated confidential information. Although we intend to continue to implement industry-standard security measures, we cannot assure
you that those measures will be sufficient.
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We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights or technology effectively, which would allow competitors to duplicate or
replicate our electronic trading platform. This could adversely affect our ability to compete.
Intellectual property is critical to our success and ability to compete, and if we fail to protect our intellectual property rights adequately, our
competitors might gain access to our technology. We rely primarily on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws in the
United States and other jurisdictions, as well as license agreements, third-party non-disclosure and other agreements and other contractual
provisions and technical measures to protect our intellectual property rights. We attempt to negotiate beneficial intellectual property ownership
provisions in our contracts and also require employees, consultants, advisors and collaborators to enter into confidentiality agreements in order to
protect the confidentiality of our proprietary information. We have received seven patents and have filed patent applications covering aspects of
our technology and/or business, but can give no assurances that any such patents will protect our business and processes from competition or that
the patents applied for will be issued. Additionally, laws and our contractual terms may not be sufficient to protect our technology from use or
theft by third parties. For instance, a third party might reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and use our technology without our permission and
without our knowledge, thereby infringing our rights and allowing competitors to duplicate or replicate our products. Furthermore, we cannot
assure you that these protections will be adequate to prevent our competitors from independently developing technologies that are substantially
equivalent or superior to our technology.
We may have legal or contractual rights that we could assert against illegal use of our intellectual property rights, but lawsuits claiming
infringement or misappropriation are complex and expensive, and the outcome would not be certain. In addition, the laws of some countries in
which we now or in the future provide our services may not protect software and intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the
United States.
Defending against intellectual property infringement or other claims could be expensive and disruptive to our business. If we are found to
infringe the proprietary rights of others, we could be required to redesign our products, pay royalties or enter into license agreements with
third parties.
In the technology industry, there is frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property
rights. As the number of participants in our market increases and the number of patents and other intellectual property registrations increases, the
possibility of an intellectual property claim against us grows. Although we have never been the subject of a material intellectual property dispute,
we cannot assure you that a third party will not assert in the future that our technology or the manner in which we operate our business violates
its intellectual property rights. From time to time, in the ordinary course of our business, we may become subject to legal proceedings and claims
relating to the intellectual property rights of others, and we expect that third parties may assert intellectual property claims against us,
particularly as we expand the complexity and scope of our business, the number of electronic trading platforms increases and the functionality of
these platforms further overlaps. Any claims, whether with or without merit, could:
• be expensive and time-consuming to defend;
• prevent us from operating our business, or portions of our business;
• cause us to cease developing, licensing or using all or any part of our electronic trading platform that incorporates the challenged
intellectual property;
• require us to redesign our products or services, which may not be feasible;
• result in significant monetary liability;
• divert management’s attention and resources; and
• require us to pay royalties or enter into licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use necessary technologies, which may not be
possible on commercially reasonable terms.
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We cannot assure you that third parties will not assert infringement claims against us in the future with respect to our electronic trading
platform or any of our other current or future products or services or that any such assertion will not require us to cease providing such services
or products, try to redesign our products or services, enter into royalty arrangements, if available, or engage in litigation that could be costly to
us. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we acquire or invest in other businesses, products or technologies, we may be unable to integrate them with our business, our financial
performance may be impaired or we may not realize the anticipated financial and strategic goals for any such transactions.
If appropriate opportunities present themselves, we may acquire or make investments in businesses, products or technologies that we
believe are strategic. We may not be able to identify, negotiate or finance any future acquisition or investment successfully. Even if we do
succeed in acquiring or investing in a business, product or technology, such acquisitions and investments involve a number of risks, including:
• we may find that the acquired company or assets do not further our business strategy, or that we overpaid for the company or assets, or
the economic conditions underlying our acquisition decision may change;
• we may have difficulty integrating the acquired technologies or products with our existing electronic trading platform, products and
services;
• we may have difficulty integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired business, or retaining the key personnel of the acquired
business;
• there may be client confusion if our services overlap with those of the acquired company;
• our ongoing business and management’s attention may be disrupted or diverted by transition or integration issues and the complexity of
managing geographically or culturally diverse enterprises;
• we may have difficulty maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies across locations;
• an acquisition may result in litigation from terminated employees or third parties; and
• we may experience significant problems or liabilities associated with product quality, technology and legal contingencies.
These factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, particularly in
the case of a larger acquisition or multiple acquisitions in a short period of time. From time to time, we may enter into negotiations for
acquisitions or investments that are not ultimately consummated. Such negotiations could result in significant diversion of management time, as
well as out-of-pocket costs.
The consideration paid in connection with an investment or acquisition also affects our financial results. If we were to proceed with one or
more significant acquisitions in which the consideration included cash, we could be required to use a substantial portion of our available cash to
consummate any acquisition. To the extent we issue shares of capital stock or other rights to purchase capital stock, including options or other
rights, existing stockholders may be diluted and earnings per share may decrease. In addition, acquisitions may result in the incurrence of debt,
large one-time write-offs, such as of acquired in-process research and development costs, and restructuring charges.
We may be required to recognize impairments of our goodwill or other intangible assets, which could adversely affect our results of
operations or financial condition.
The determination of the value of goodwill and other intangible assets requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
our consolidated financial statements. We test for impairment of goodwill on an annual basis or more frequently if there are changed
circumstances. We assess intangible assets for impairment when events or circumstances indicate the existence of a possible impairment.
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Determining the fair value of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed is judgmental in nature and requires management to use
significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions with respect to future cash flows, discount rates, growth rates and asset lives. Any
future acquisition may result in goodwill and other intangible assets that are subject to impairment tests, which could result in future impairment
charges.
We are dependent on our management team, and the loss of any key member of this team may prevent us from implementing our business
plan in a timely manner.
Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key personnel, particularly Richard M.
McVey, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors. The terms of Mr. McVey’s employment agreement with us do not
require him to continue to work for us and allow him to terminate his employment at any time, subject to certain notice requirements and
forfeiture of non-vested equity compensation awards. Any loss or interruption of Mr. McVey’s services or that of one or more of our other
executive officers or key personnel could result in our inability to manage our operations effectively and/or pursue our business strategy.
Because competition for our employees is intense, we may not be able to attract and retain the highly skilled employees we need to support
our business.
We strive to provide high-quality services that will allow us to establish and maintain long-term relationships with our broker-dealer and
institutional investor clients. Our ability to provide these services and maintain these relationships, as well as our ability to execute our business
plan generally, depends in large part upon our employees. We must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. Competition for these personnel
is intense, especially for software engineers with extensive experience in designing and developing software and Internet-related services,
hardware engineers, technicians, product managers and senior sales executives.
The market for qualified personnel is increasingly competitive as the financial industry continues to recover from the financial crisis and as
electronic commerce continues to experience strong growth. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have
greater resources than we have and are longer established in the marketplace. In addition, in making employment decisions, particularly in the
Internet, high-technology and financial services industries, job candidates often consider the total compensation package offered, including the
value of the stock-based compensation they are to receive in connection with their employment. Significant volatility in the price of our common
stock may adversely affect our ability to attract or retain key employees. The expensing of stock-based compensation may discourage us from
granting the size or type of stock-based compensation that job candidates may require to join our company.
We cannot assure you that we will be successful in our efforts to recruit and retain the required personnel. The failure to attract new
personnel or to retain and motivate our current personnel may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
Our business is subject to increasingly extensive government and other regulation and our relationships with our broker-dealer clients may
subject us to increasing regulatory scrutiny, which may affect our trading volumes and increase our cost of doing business.
The financial industry is extensively regulated by many governmental agencies and self-regulatory organizations, including the SEC and
FINRA. As a matter of public policy, these regulatory bodies are responsible for safeguarding the integrity of the securities and other financial
markets and protecting the interests of investors in those markets. These regulatory bodies have broad powers to promulgate and interpret,
investigate and sanction non-compliance with their laws, rules and regulations.
Most aspects of our broker-dealer subsidiaries are highly regulated, including:
• the way we deal with our clients;
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• our capital requirements;
• our financial and regulatory reporting practices;
• required record-keeping and record retention procedures;
• the licensing of our employees; and
• the conduct of our directors, officers, employees and affiliates.
We cannot assure you that we and/or our directors, officers and employees will be able to fully comply with these laws, rules and
regulations. If we fail to comply with any of these laws, rules or regulations, we may be subject to censure, fines, cease-and-desist orders,
suspension of our business, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including revocation of our membership in FINRA and registration as a
broker-dealer.
We have two major operating subsidiaries, MarketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Europe Limited. MarketAxess Corporation and
MarketAxess Europe Limited are subject to U.S. and U.K. regulations as a registered broker-dealer and as a multilateral trading facility,
respectively, which prohibit repayment of borrowings from the Company or affiliates, paying cash dividends, making loans to the Company or
affiliates or otherwise entering into transactions that result in a significant reduction in regulatory net capital or financial resources, without prior
notification to or approval from such subsidiary’s principal regulator.
In addition, as a result of the global financial crisis and other recent events in the financial industry, there is a greater likelihood of
legislative and regulatory action to increase government oversight of the financial services industry. For example, during 2010 the Dodd-Frank
Act was signed into law. The Dodd-Frank Act creates an entirely new structure for the trading of over-the-counter derivatives, a market in which
we currently operate. Among other things, the Dodd-Frank Act mandates that clearable swaps trade on a board of trade designated as a contract
market or a securities exchange or through a “swap execution facility,” or SEF (in each case, subject to certain key exceptions). While we expect
that the CFTC and SEC will adopt rules that detail the new regulatory regime regarding the swaps market place in 2012, no assurance can be
given regarding when, or whether, such rules will be finalized and implemented. Subject to such rulemaking, we intend to establish, register and
operate a swap execution facility and/or a security/based swap execution facility.
We have incurred significant costs to prepare for compliance with the new regulatory requirements. We developed new technology and
trading protocols to trade CDS in anticipation of the SEC and CFTC’s implementation of the Dodd-Frank Act. However, despite our efforts,
there is no assurance that we will qualify as a registered SEF or that our compliance systems will be effective. If we do not qualify as a SEF, we
will no longer be able to support CDS trades and our business, financial condition and results of operations could materially suffer as a result. If
we qualify as a SEF, the registration and additional oversight that we will need to comply with the regulation will increase the costs of our
operations and the costs of using our products for our clients. Furthermore, we are unable to predict how the markets will respond to the new
regulatory regime.
Any changes in laws or regulations or in governmental policies, including the rules relating to the maintenance of specific levels of net
capital applicable to our broker-dealer subsidiaries, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Our industry has been and is subject to continuous regulatory changes and may become subject to new regulations or changes in the
interpretation or enforcement of existing regulations, which could require us to incur significant compliance costs or cause the development of
affected markets to become impractical. In addition, as we expand our business into new markets, it is likely that we will be subject to additional
laws, rules and regulations. The proposed Volcker Rule section of the Dodd-Frank Act bans proprietary trading by banks and their affiliates. The
Volcker Rule could adversely affect our bank-affiliated broker-dealer clients’ ability to make markets in a variety of fixed-income securities,
thereby negatively impacting the level of liquidity and pricing available on our trading platform. We cannot predict the extent to which any
future regulatory changes may adversely affect our business and operations.
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Our disclosed trading system has not been subjected to regulation as an alternative trading system under Regulation ATS. A determination
by the SEC to treat our trading platform as an alternative trading system subject to Regulation ATS would subject us to additional reporting
obligations and other limitations on the conduct of our business, many of which could be material. Our anonymous dealer-to-dealer trading
service, DealerAxess ® , is regulated as an alternative trading system subject to Regulation ATS.
As an enterprise founded and historically controlled by broker-dealers that compete with each other, we may be subject to ongoing
regulatory scrutiny of our business to a degree that is not likely to be experienced by some of our competitors. At any time, the outcome of
investigations and other regulatory scrutiny could lead to compulsory changes to our business model, conduct or practices, or our relationships
with our broker-dealer clients, or additional governmental scrutiny or private lawsuits against us, any of which could materially harm our
revenues, impair our ability to provide access to the broadest range of fixed-income securities and impact our ability to grow and compete
effectively, particularly as we implement new initiatives designed to enhance our competitive position.
The activities and consequences described above may result in significant distractions to our management and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may face increasing economic and regulatory challenges in our growing international operations that we may not be able to meet in the
future.
We operate an electronic trading platform in Europe and we plan to further expand our operations throughout Europe and other regions.
There are certain risks inherent in doing business in international markets, particularly in the financial services industry, which is heavily
regulated in many jurisdictions. These risks include:
• less developed technological infrastructures and generally higher costs, which could result in lower client acceptance of our services or
clients having difficulty accessing our trading platform;
• difficulty in obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals for planned expansion, if at all, and the possibility that any approvals that are
obtained may impose restrictions on the operation of our business;
• the inability to manage and coordinate the various regulatory requirements of multiple jurisdictions that are constantly evolving and
subject to unexpected change;
• difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;
• fluctuations in exchange rates;
• reduced or no protection for intellectual property rights;
• seasonal reductions in business activity; and
• potentially adverse tax consequences.
Our international operations are also subject to the legal, economic and market risks associated with geopolitical uncertainties in other
regions of the world, including but not limited to the risk of war, inter and intra national conflict, economic crises and terrorism. For example,
the sovereign debt crisis in Europe may have a material adverse effect on our business. Increased government deficits and debt levels along with
ratings downgrades sparked fears in the global financial markets of default by Euro zone nations, leading to increased yields on government
bonds and resulting in a more difficult trading environment for European corporate bonds. Due, in part, to the crisis and competitive
environment in Europe, trading volume in our Eurobond product has significantly decreased. We intend to reduce the monthly distribution fees
paid by our European broker-dealer market makers effective March 1, 2012 in order to encourage Eurobond trading, which will result in
decreased monthly distribution fee revenues. Despite our efforts, there is no assurance that Eurobond trading volumes and revenues will increase
as a result of this change.
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In addition, we must comply with the laws, regulations and registration rules of the Financial Services Authority in the U.K. and foreign
governments and regulatory bodies for each country in which we conduct business. Similar to the U.S., regulatory bodies in Europe are
developing new rules for derivatives trading. For example, the European Commission has issued three consultation papers intended to help
define certain terms in the new OTC derivatives landscape and, in 2010, proposed legislation that mandates, among other things, central clearing
of standardized CDS contracts. Although the European regulators have not yet adopted such legislation, our expectation is that the EU will, in
line with the U.S., require central clearing of standardized CDS contracts and increase transparency through enhanced trade reporting
requirements. However, it is not yet clear whether there will be any requirement in the EU to trade standardized CDS contracts on regulated
exchanges or trading platforms.
Our compliance with these changing laws and regulations may be costly and time-consuming. Further, we may face unexpected challenges
in our international operations due to global competitors, established local markets, and economic and political instability. Our inability to
manage these risks effectively could adversely affect our business and limit our ability to expand our international operations, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We cannot assure you that our compliance and risk management methods will be effective and our financial condition and results of
operations may be adversely affected if they fail.
Our success in complying with complex and changing laws and navigating risks in various jurisdictions and markets depends on our
maintenance of compliance, auditing and reporting systems and risk management procedures, as well as our ability to recruit and retain qualified
compliance and risk management personnel. While we have developed policies and procedures to identify, monitor and manage our legal,
regulatory and market risks, we cannot assure you that our systems will always be effective in monitoring or evaluating the risks to which we are
exposed.
In addition, the regulators in the jurisdictions in which we operate have broad powers to censure, fine, issue cease-and-desist orders or keep
us from engaging in some of our operations. We face the risk of regulatory intervention, investigations and proceedings, any of which could
involve extensive scrutiny of our activities and result in significant fines and liability. Any of these developments would require significant time
and financial resources and could adversely affect our reputation, financial condition and operating results.
We cannot predict our future capital needs or our ability to obtain additional financing if we need it.
Our business is dependent upon the availability of adequate funding and regulatory capital under applicable regulatory requirements.
Although we believe that our available cash resources are sufficient to meet our presently anticipated liquidity needs and capital expenditure
requirements for at least the next 12 months, we may in the future need to raise additional funds to, among other things:
• support more rapid growth of our business;
• develop new or enhanced services and products;
• fund operating losses;
• respond to competitive pressures;
• acquire complementary companies or technologies;
• enter into strategic alliances;
• increase the regulatory net capital necessary to support our operations; or
• respond to unanticipated or changing capital requirements.
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We may not be able to obtain additional financing, if needed, in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If sufficient funds are not
available or are not available on terms acceptable to us, our ability to fund our expansion, take advantage of acquisition opportunities, develop or
enhance our services or products, or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be significantly limited. These limitations could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are subject to the risks of litigation and securities laws liability.
Many aspects of our business, and the businesses of our clients, involve substantial risks of liability. Dissatisfied clients may make claims
regarding quality of trade execution, improperly settled trades, mismanagement or even fraud against their service providers. We and our clients
may become subject to these claims as the result of delays, failures or malfunctions of our electronic trading platform and services provided by
us. We could incur significant legal expenses defending claims, even those without merit. An adverse resolution of any lawsuits or claims
against us could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If the use of electronic trading platforms does not increase, we may not be able to achieve our business objectives.
The success of our business plan depends in part on our ability to create an electronic trading platform for a wide range of fixed-income
products. Historically, fixed-income securities markets operated through telephone communications between institutional investors and brokerdealers. The utilization of our products and services depends on the acceptance, adoption and growth of electronic means of trading securities.
We cannot assure you that the growth and acceptance of electronic means of trading securities will continue.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Market volatility and future sales of our shares by significant stockholders may cause our stock price and the value of your investment to
decline.
The market price of our common stock may be significantly affected by volatility in the markets in general. The market price of our
common stock likely will continue to fluctuate in response to factors including the following:
• the other risk factors described in this annual report on Form 10-K;
• prevailing interest rates;
• the market for similar securities;
• additional issuances of common stock;
• general economic conditions; and
• our financial condition, performance and prospects, including our ability or inability to meet analyst expectations.
Most of these factors are beyond our control. In addition, the stock markets in general, including the NASDAQ Global Select Market, have
experienced and continue to experience significant price and volume fluctuations. These fluctuations have resulted in volatility in the market
prices of securities for companies such as ours that often has been unrelated or disproportionate to changes in the operating performance of the
affected companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may affect adversely the market price of our common stock regardless of our
operating performance.
In addition, future sales of our common stock, or the perception of potential future sales, may adversely impact the market price of our
common stock. If any one or more of our existing stockholders were to sell a
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large number of shares, the market price of our common stock could be negatively affected. Also, if we issue a large number of shares of our
common stock in connection with a public offering, future acquisition, strategic alliance, third-party investment and private placement or
otherwise, the market price of our common stock could decline considerably. Furthermore, our stockholders may be diluted by such future sales.
We may not pay dividends on our common stock in the future.
We initiated a regular quarterly dividend on our common stock in 2009. However, there is no assurance that we will continue to pay any
dividends to holders of our common stock in the future. If we were to cease paying dividends, investors would need to rely on the sale of their
common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.
If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade our common stock, the price of our common
stock could decline.
The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or
our business. These analysts work independently of us. If one or more analysts who cover us downgrade our stock, our stock price could decline
rapidly. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our
stock price to decline.
Provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or
changes in our management, and therefore, depress the trading price of our common stock.
Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may make it substantially more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us
and may prevent changes in our management, including provisions that:
• prevent stockholders from calling special meetings;
• allow the directors to amend the bylaws without stockholder approval; and
• set forth advance notice procedures for nominating directors and submitting proposals for consideration at stockholders’ meetings.
Provisions of Delaware law may also inhibit potential acquisition bids for us or prevent us from engaging in business combinations. In
addition, we have a severance agreement with one employee and a change of control severance plan that could require an acquiror to pay a
higher price. Either collectively or individually, these provisions may prevent holders of our common stock from benefiting from what they may
believe are the positive aspects of acquisitions and takeovers, including the potential realization of a higher rate of return on their investment
from these types of transactions.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
Item 2.

Properties.

Our corporate headquarters and principal U.S. offices are located at 299 Park Avenue, New York, New York, where we lease 27,900
square feet under sequential leases expiring in February 2022. We also collectively lease approximately 18,300 square feet for our other office
locations in the U.S. and the United Kingdom under various leases expiring between September 2013 and November 2020.
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Item 3.

Legal Proceedings.

None.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Price Range
Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “MKTX”. The range of closing price information for
our common stock, as reported by NASDAQ, was as follows:
2011:

January 1, 2011 to March 31, 2011
April 1, 2011 to June 30, 2011
July 1, 2011 to September 30, 2011
October 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011
2010:

January 1, 2010 to March 31, 2010
April 1, 2010 to June 30, 2010
July 1, 2010 to September 30, 2010
October 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010

High

Low

$24.19
$25.22
$30.75
$31.16

$19.78
$21.00
$23.41
$24.57

High

Low

$16.20
$17.40
$17.30
$20.93

$13.25
$13.45
$12.39
$16.93

On February 16, 2012, the last reported closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was $32.65.
Holders
There were 41 holders of record of our common stock as of February 16, 2012.
Dividend Policy
We initiated a regular quarterly dividend in the fourth quarter of 2009. During 2010 and 2011, we paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.07
per share and $0.09 per share, respectively. In January 2012, our Board of Directors approved a quarterly cash dividend of $0.11 per share
payable on March 1, 2012 to stockholders of record as of the close of business on February 16, 2012. Any future declaration and payment of
dividends will be at the sole discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may take into account such matters as
general business conditions, the Company’s financial results, capital requirements, contractual, legal, and regulatory restrictions on the payment
of dividends to the Company’s stockholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries to the parent and any such other factors as the Board of Directors
may deem relevant.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
Please see the section entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in Item 12.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
During the quarter ended December 31, 2011, we repurchased the following shares of common stock:

Period

October 1, 2011 — October 31, 2011
November 1, 2011 — November 30, 2011
December 1 , 2011 — December 31, 2011

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

—
60,173
237,998
298,171

Average Price
Paid per Share

$

$

—
19.07
29.14
27.11

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Dollar Value of
Shares That May

as Part of Publicly

Yet Be Purchased

Announced Plans

Under the Plans
(In thousands)

—
—
237,998
237,998

$

—
—
28,065

In October 2011, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a share repurchase program for up to $35.0 million of the Company’s
common stock. As of December 31, 2011, a total of 237,998 shares were repurchased at an aggregate cost of $6.9 million. Shares repurchased
under the program will be held in treasury for future use.
During the three months ended December 31, 2011, a total of 40,325 shares were surrendered by employees to us to satisfy the exercise
price and employee withholding tax obligations upon the exercise of stock options at an average price of $28.45 per share, and 19,848 unvested
restricted shares were purchased and cancelled upon the termination of employment or failure to meet performance conditions at par value of
$.003 per share.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following graph shows a comparison from December 31, 2006 through December 31, 2011 of the cumulative total return for (i) our
common stock, (ii) the NASDAQ Composite Index and (iii) the Dow Jones US Financial Services Index.
The figures in this graph assume an initial investment of $100 in our common stock and in each index on December 31, 2006, and that all
quarterly dividends were reinvested. The returns illustrated below are based on historical results during the period indicated and should not be
considered indicative of future stockholder returns.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data.

The selected statements of operations data for each of the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and the selected balance sheet
data as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 have been derived from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The
selected statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2009,
2008 and 2007 have been derived from our audited financial statements not included in this Form 10-K.
Year Ended December 31,
2010
2009
2008
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2011

Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues
Commissions
U.S. high-grade(1)
Eurobond
Other(2)
Total commissions
Technology products and services(3)
Information and user access fees
Interest income
Other(4)
Total revenues
Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits
Depreciation and amortization
Technology and communications
Professional and consulting fees
Occupancy
Marketing and advertising
General and administrative
Total expenses
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
Cash dividends per share

$108,931
17,799
28,714
155,444
14,310
7,199
1,229
2,917
181,099

$ 83,796
18,656
19,728
122,180
13,648
6,681
1,192
2,527
146,228

$ 62,557
20,339
13,236
96,132
9,778
6,252
1,222
1,055
114,439

$46,547
18,146
8,835
73,528
8,555
6,025
3,478
1,499
93,085

$52,541
18,828
8,845
80,214
742
5,877
5,242
1,568
93,643

58,786
6,781
10,912
10,138
2,921
4,882
7,946
102,366
78,733
31,029
$ 47,704

56,446
6,350
9,982
8,503
2,997
3,075
7,965
95,318
50,910
19,482
$ 31,428

50,274
6,790
8,436
6,869
3,129
2,882
6,010
84,390
30,049
13,947
$ 16,102

43,810
7,879
8,311
8,171
2,891
3,032
6,157
80,251
12,834
4,935
$ 7,899

43,051
7,170
7,463
7,639
3,275
1,905
5,889
76,392
17,251
6,931
$10,320

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

1.29
1.20

37,006
39,608
$
0.36
44

2007

0.86
0.80

33,159
39,051
$
0.28

0.44
0.42

33,264
38,082
$
0.07

0.23
0.22

32,831
35,737
$
—

0.32
0.30

32,293
34,453
$
—
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Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and securities available-for-sale
Working capital(5)
Total assets

2011

2010

As of December 31,
2009
(In thousands)

2008

2007

$247,730
253,907
349,458

$197,546
191,482
299,521

$174,338
170,060
277,286

$142,550
137,390
246,428

$124,290
120,656
198,366

(1)

U.S. high-grade commissions include monthly distribution fees and commissions from the trading of U.S. high-grade bonds.

(2)

Other commissions consist primarily of commissions from the trading of emerging markets bonds, crossover and high-yield bonds and
agency bonds.

(3)

Technology products and services include software licenses, maintenance and support services and professional consulting services.
Revenues are principally derived from the acquisition of Greenline in March 2008.

(4)

Other revenues consist primarily of telecommunications line charges to broker-dealer clients, initial set-up fees and other miscellaneous
revenues.

(5)

Working capital is defined as current assets minus current liabilities. Current assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, securities
available-for-sale, accounts receivable and prepaid and other expenses. Current liabilities consist of accrued employee compensation,
deferred revenue, and accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.
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Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with “Selected
Financial Data” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. In addition to historical
information, this discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements relating to future events and the future performance of
MarketAxess that are based on our current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about us and our industry. These forwardlooking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and timing of various events could differ materially from those anticipated
in such forward-looking statements as a result of a variety of factors, as more fully described in this section, in “Item 1A. — Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason, even if new
information becomes available or other events occur in the future.
Executive Overview
MarketAxess operates a leading electronic trading platform that allows investment industry professionals to efficiently trade corporate
bonds and other types of fixed-income instruments. Our over 850 active institutional investor clients (firms that executed at least one trade in
U.S. or European fixed-income securities through our electronic trading platform during 2011) include investment advisers, mutual funds,
insurance companies, public and private pension funds, bank portfolios, broker-dealers and hedge funds. Our 87 broker-dealer market-maker
clients provide liquidity on the platform and include most of the leading broker-dealers in global fixed-income trading. The Company also
executes certain bond transactions between and among institutional investor and broker-dealer clients on a riskless principal basis by serving as
counterparty to both the buyer and the seller in matching back-to-back trades, which then settle through a third-party clearing organization.
Through our Corporate BondTicker™ service, we provide fixed-income market data, analytics and compliance tools that help our clients make
trading decisions. In addition, we provide FIX (Financial Information eXchange) message management tools, connectivity solutions and
ancillary technology services that facilitate the electronic communication of order information between trading counterparties. Our revenues are
primarily generated from the trading of U.S. high-grade corporate bonds.
Our multi-dealer trading platform allows our institutional investor clients to simultaneously request competing, executable bids or offers
from our broker-dealer clients and execute trades with the broker-dealer of their choice from among those that choose to respond. We offer our
broker-dealer clients a solution that enables them to efficiently reach our institutional investor clients for the distribution and trading of bonds. In
addition to U.S. high-grade corporate bonds, European high-grade corporate bonds and emerging markets bonds, including both investmentgrade and non-investment grade debt, we also offer our clients the ability to trade crossover and high-yield bonds, agency bonds, asset-backed
and preferred securities and credit default swaps.
The majority of our revenues are derived from monthly distribution fees and commissions for trades executed on our platform that are
billed to our broker-dealer clients on a monthly basis. We also derive revenues from technology products and services, information and user
access fees, investment income and other income. Our expenses consist of employee compensation and benefits, depreciation and amortization,
technology and communication expenses, professional and consulting fees, occupancy, marketing and advertising and other general and
administrative expenses.
Our objective is to provide the leading global electronic trading platform for fixed-income securities, connecting broker-dealers and
institutional investors more easily and efficiently, while offering a broad array of information, trading and technology services to market
participants across the trading cycle. The key elements of our strategy are:
• to innovate and efficiently add new functionality and product offerings to the MarketAxess platform that we believe will help to
increase our market share with existing clients, as well as expand our client base;
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• to leverage our technology, as well as our strong broker-dealer and institutional investor relationships, to deploy our electronic trading
platform into additional product segments within the fixed-income securities markets, deliver fixed-income securities-related technical
services and products, and deploy our electronic trading platform into new client segments;
• to continue building our existing service offerings so that our electronic trading platform is fully integrated into the workflow of our
broker-dealer and institutional investor clients and to continue to add functionality to allow our clients to achieve a fully automated endto-end straight-through processing solution (automation from trade initiation to settlement);
• to add new content and analytical capabilities to Corporate BondTicker™ in order to improve the value of the information we provide to
our clients; and
• to continue to supplement our internal growth by entering into strategic alliances, or acquiring businesses or technologies that will
enable us to enter new markets, provide new products or services, or otherwise enhance the value of our platform to our clients.
Critical Factors Affecting Our Industry and Our Company
Economic, Political and Market Factors
The global fixed-income securities industry is risky and volatile and is directly affected by a number of economic, political and market
factors that may result in declining trading volume. These factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. These factors include, among others, credit market conditions, the current interest rate environment, including the volatility
of interest rates and investors’ forecasts of future interest rates, economic and political conditions in the United States, Europe and elsewhere,
and consolidation or contraction of broker-dealers.
Competitive Landscape
The global fixed-income securities industry generally, and the electronic financial services markets in which we engage in particular, are
highly competitive, and we expect competition to intensify in the future. Sources of competition for us will continue to include, among others,
bond trading conducted directly between broker-dealers and their institutional investor clients over the telephone or electronically and other
multi-dealer trading companies. Competitors, including companies in which some of our broker-dealer clients have invested, have developed
electronic trading platforms or have announced their intention to explore the development of electronic platforms that may compete with us.
In general, we compete on the basis of a number of key factors, including, among others, the liquidity provided on our platform, the
magnitude and frequency of price improvement enabled by our platform and the quality and speed of execution. We believe that our ability to
grow volumes and revenues will largely depend on our performance with respect to these factors.
Our competitive position is also enhanced by the familiarity and integration of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients with our
electronic trading platform and other systems. We have focused on the unique aspects of the credit markets we serve in the development of our
platform, working closely with our clients to provide a system that is suited to their needs.
Regulatory Environment
Our industry has been and is subject to continuous regulatory changes and may become subject to new regulations or changes in the
interpretation or enforcement of existing regulations, which could require us to incur significant costs.
Our U.S. subsidiary, MarketAxess Corporation, is a registered broker-dealer with the SEC and is a member of FINRA. Our U.K.
subsidiary, MarketAxess Europe Limited, is registered as a multilateral trading facility
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dealer with the FSA in the U.K. MarketAxess Canada Limited, a Canadian subsidiary, is registered as an Alternative Trading System dealer
under the Securities Act of Ontario and is a member of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada. Relevant regulations
prohibit repayment of borrowings from these subsidiaries or their affiliates, paying cash dividends, making loans to us or our affiliates or
otherwise entering into transactions that result in a significant reduction in regulatory net capital or financial resources, without prior notification
to or approval from such regulated entity’s principal regulator.
In July, 2010, the Dodd-Frank Act was signed into law, marking the greatest change to financial supervision since the 1930’s. U.S.
financial regulators are in the midst of an intense period of rulemaking that is required to implement the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act, and
market participants will need to make strategic decisions in an environment of regulatory uncertainty. Among the most significant aspects of the
derivatives section of the Dodd-Frank Act are mandatory clearing of certain derivatives transactions (“swaps”) through regulated central clearing
organizations and mandatory trading of those swaps through either regulated exchanges or swap execution facilities, in each case, subject to
certain key exceptions. As with other parts of the Dodd-Frank Act, many of the details of the new regulatory regime relating to swaps are left to
the regulators to determine through rulemaking. While we expect that the CFTC and SEC will adopt rules that detail the new regulatory regime
regarding the swaps market place in 2012, no assurance can be given regarding when, or whether, such rules will be finalized and implemented.
Subject to such rulemaking, we currently expect to establish and operate a swap execution facility and/or a security-based swap execution
facility.
The proposed Volcker Rule could adversely affect our bank-affiliated broker-dealer clients’ ability to make markets in a variety of fixedincome securities, thereby negatively impacting the level of liquidity and pricing available on our trading platform.
Similar to the U.S., regulatory bodies in Europe and elsewhere are developing new rules for derivatives trading. For example, the European
Commission has issued three consultation papers intended to help define certain terms in the new OTC derivatives landscape and, in 2010,
proposed legislation that mandates, among other things, central clearing of standardized CDS contracts. Although the European regulators have
not yet adopted such legislation, our expectation is that the EU will, in line with the U.S., require central clearing of standardized CDS contracts
and increase transparency through enhanced trade reporting requirements. However, it is not yet clear whether there will be any requirement in
the EU to trade standardized CDS contracts on regulated exchanges or trading platforms.
Rapid Technological Changes
We must continue to enhance and improve our electronic trading platform. The electronic financial services industry is characterized by
increasingly complex systems and infrastructures and new business models. Our future success will depend on our ability to enhance our existing
products and services, develop and/or license new products and technologies that address the increasingly sophisticated and varied needs of our
broker-dealer and institutional investor clients and prospective clients and respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards
and practices on a cost-effective and timely basis. We received five patents in 2009 covering our most significant trading protocols and other
aspects of our trading system technology, we received two additional patents during 2010 and other patents are pending.
Trends in Our Business
The majority of our revenues are derived from monthly distribution fees and commissions for transactions executed on our platform
between our institutional investor and broker-dealer clients. We believe that there are five key variables that impact the notional value of such
transactions on our platform and the amount of commissions and distribution fees earned by us:
• the number of institutional investor clients that participate on the platform and their willingness to originate transactions through the
platform;
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• the number of broker-dealer clients on the platform and the frequency and competitiveness of the price responses they provide to the
institutional investor clients;
• the number of markets for which we make trading available to our clients;
• the overall level of activity in these markets; and
• the level of commissions that we collect for trades executed through the platform.
We believe that overall corporate bond market trading volume is affected by various factors including the absolute levels of interest rates,
the direction of interest rate movements, the level of new issues of corporate bonds and the volatility of corporate bond spreads versus U.S.
Treasury securities. Because a significant percentage of our revenue is tied directly to the volume of securities traded on our platform, it is likely
that a general decline in trading volumes, regardless of the cause of such decline, would reduce our revenues and have a significant negative
impact on profitability.
Commission Revenue
Commissions are generally calculated as a percentage of the notional dollar volume of bonds traded on our platform and vary based on the
type, size, yield and maturity of the bond traded. The commission rates are based on a number of factors, including fees charged by inter-dealer
brokers in the respective markets, average bid-offer spreads in the products we offer and transaction costs through alternative channels including
the telephone. Under our transaction fee plans, bonds that are more actively traded or that have shorter maturities are generally charged lower
commissions, while bonds that are less actively traded or that have longer maturities generally command higher commissions.
U.S. High-Grade Corporate Bond Commissions. Our U.S. high-grade corporate bond fee plans for fully electronic trades generally
incorporate monthly distribution fees and variable transaction fees billed to our broker-dealer clients on a monthly basis. Certain dealers
participate in fee programs that do not contain monthly distribution fees and instead incorporate additional per transaction execution fees and
minimum monthly fee commitments. Under the fee plans, we electronically add the transaction fee to the spread quoted by the broker-dealer
client.
Eurobond Commissions. Similar to the U.S. high-grade plans, our European fee plan incorporates monthly distribution fees as well as
variable transaction fees. In June 2010, we launched a click-to-trade protocol in the European market. Click-to-trade is offered alongside our
request-for-quote product and consists of streamed indicative pricing in credit and rates products. Clients have the ability to request a trade at the
displayed price with the indicated dealer. In connection with the launch, the Eurobond fee plan was revised and a standard commission rate was
established across most types of bonds. Prior to this change, the variable transaction fee was dependent on the type of bond traded and the
maturity of the issue.
Other Commissions. Commissions for other bond, asset-backed and preferred securities trades generally vary based on the type and the
maturity of the instrument traded. We generally operate using standard fee schedules that may include both transaction fees and monthly
distribution fees that are charged to the participating dealers.
For trades that we execute between and among institutional investor and broker-dealer clients on a riskless principal basis by serving as
counterparty to both the buyer and the seller, we earn our commission through the difference in price between the two back-to-back trades.
We anticipate that average fees per million may change in the future. Consequently, past trends in commissions are not necessarily
indicative of future commissions.
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Other Revenue
In addition to the commissions discussed above, we earn revenue from technology products and services, information services fees paid by
institutional investor and broker-dealer clients, income on investments and other income.
Technology Products and Services.
professional consulting services.

Technology products and services includes software licenses, maintenance and support services and

Information and User Access Fees. We charge information services fees for Corporate BondTicker TM to our broker-dealer clients,
institutional investor clients and data-only subscribers. The information services fee is a flat monthly fee, based on the level of service. We also
generate information services fees from the sale of bulk data to certain institutional investor clients and data-only subscribers. Institutional
investor clients trading U.S. high-grade corporate bonds are charged a monthly user access fee for the use of our platform. The fee, billed
quarterly, is charged to the client based on the number of the client’s users. To encourage institutional investor clients to execute trades on our
platform, we reduce these information and user access fees for such clients once minimum quarterly trading volumes are attained.
Investment Income.

Investment income consists of income earned on our investments.

Other.
Other revenues include fees from telecommunications line charges to broker-dealer clients, initial set-up fees and other
miscellaneous revenues.
Expenses
In the normal course of business, we incur the following expenses:
Employee Compensation and Benefits. Employee compensation and benefits is our most significant expense and includes employee
salaries, stock-based compensation costs, other incentive compensation, employee benefits and payroll taxes.
Depreciation and Amortization. We depreciate our computer hardware and related software, office hardware and furniture and fixtures
and amortize our capitalized software development costs on a straight-line basis over three to seven years. We amortize leasehold improvements
on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the life of the improvement or the remaining term of the lease. Intangible assets with definite lives,
including purchased technologies, customer relationships and other intangible assets, are amortized over their estimated useful lives, ranging
from five to ten years. Intangible assets are assessed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate a possible impairment.
Technology and Communications. Technology and communications expense consists primarily of costs relating to maintenance on
software and hardware, our internal network connections, data center hosting costs and data feeds provided by outside vendors or service
providers. The majority of our broker-dealer clients have dedicated high-speed communication lines to our network in order to provide fast data
transfer. We charge our broker-dealer clients a monthly fee for these connections, which is recovered against the relevant expenses we incur.
Professional and Consulting Fees. Professional and consulting fees consist primarily of accounting fees, legal fees and fees paid to
information technology and non-information technology consultants for services provided for the maintenance of our trading platform and
information services products.
Occupancy.

Occupancy costs consist primarily of office and equipment rent, utilities and commercial rent tax.
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Marketing and Advertising. Marketing and advertising expense consists primarily of print and other advertising expenses we incur to
promote our products and services. This expense also includes costs associated with attending or exhibiting at industry-sponsored seminars,
conferences and conventions, and travel and entertainment expenses incurred by our sales force to promote our trading platform and information
services.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expense consists primarily of general travel and entertainment, board of
directors expenses, charitable contributions, provision for doubtful accounts, and various state franchise and U.K. value-added taxes.
Expenses may grow in the future, notably in employee compensation and benefits, primarily due to investment in new products and
geographic expansion. However, we believe that operating leverage can be achieved by increasing volumes in existing products and adding new
products without substantial additions to our infrastructure.
Critical Accounting Estimates
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our Consolidated Financial
Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, also referred to as U.S.
GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting periods. We base our estimates and judgments on
historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under varying assumptions or conditions. Note 2 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements includes a summary of the
significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Use of Estimates
On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments, particularly as they relate to accounting policies that management
believes are critical. That is, these accounting policies are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and
they require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of
matters that are inherently uncertain.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
All accounts receivable have contractual maturities of less than one year and are derived from trading-related fees and commissions and
revenues from products and services. We continually monitor collections and payments from our customers and maintain an allowance for
doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon the historical collection experience and specific collection issues that have
been identified.
Software Development Costs
We capitalize certain costs associated with the development of internal use software at the point at which the conceptual formulation,
design and testing of possible software project alternatives have been completed. We capitalize employee compensation and related benefits and
third party consulting costs incurred during the preliminary software project stage. Once the product is ready for its intended use, such costs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over three years. We review the amounts capitalized for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable.
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Revenue Recognition
The majority of our revenues are derived from monthly distribution fees and commissions for trades executed on our platform that are
billed to our broker-dealer clients on a monthly basis. We also derive revenues from technology products and services, information and user
access fees, investment income and other income.
Commission revenue. Commissions are generally calculated as a percentage of the notional dollar volume of bonds traded on the
platform and vary based on the type and maturity of the bond traded. Under our transaction fee plans, bonds that are more actively traded or that
have shorter maturities are generally charged lower commissions, while bonds that are less actively traded or that have longer maturities
generally command higher commissions. For trades that we execute between and among institutional investor and broker-dealer clients on a
riskless principal basis by serving as counterparty to both the buyer and the seller, we earn the commission through the difference in price
between the two back-to-back trades.
Technology products and services. We generate revenues from technology software licenses, maintenance and support services (referred
to as post-contract technical support or “PCS”) and professional consulting services. Revenue is generally recognized when persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is considered probable. We generally sell
software licenses and PCS together as part of multiple-element arrangements. We also enter into contracts for technology integration consulting
services unrelated to any software product.
For arrangements that include multiple elements, generally software licenses and PCS, we allocate and defer revenue for the undelivered
items based on vendor specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of the fair value of the undelivered elements and recognize the difference between
the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the undelivered items as license revenue. The VSOE of each element is based on historical
evidence of stand-alone sales of these elements to third parties or the stated renewal rate for the undelivered elements. When VSOE does not
exist for undelivered items, the entire arrangement fee is recognized ratably over the performance period. For PCS, the term is typically one year
and revenue is recognized over the duration of the arrangement on a straight-line basis.
Professional consulting services are generally separately priced and are typically not essential to the functionality of the software products.
Revenues from these services are recognized separately from the license fee. Generally, revenue from time-and-materials consulting contracts is
recognized as services are performed.
Revenues from contracts for technology integration consulting services are recognized on the percentage-of-completion method.
Percentage-of-completion accounting involves calculating the percentage of services provided during the reporting period compared to the total
estimated services to be provided over the duration of the contract. If estimates indicate that a contract loss will occur, a loss provision is
recorded in the period in which the loss first becomes probable and reasonably estimable. Contract losses are determined to be the amount by
which the estimated direct and indirect costs of the contract exceed the estimated total revenues that will be generated by the contract. Revenues
recognized in excess of billings are recorded as unbilled services within other assets. Billings in excess of revenues recognized are recorded as
deferred revenues until revenue recognition criteria are met.
Initial set-up fees. We enter into agreements with our broker-dealer clients pursuant to which we provide access to our platform through
a non-exclusive and non-transferable license. Broker-dealer clients may pay an initial set-up fee, which is typically due and payable upon
execution of the broker-dealer agreement. The initial set-up fee, if any, varies by agreement. Revenue is recognized over the initial term of the
agreement, which is generally two years.
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Stock-Based Compensation
We measure and recognize compensation expense for all share-based payment awards based on their estimated fair values measured as of
the grant date. These costs are recognized as an expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations over the requisite service period, which is
typically the vesting period, with an offsetting increase to additional paid-in capital.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will
be in effect when such differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized
in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recognized against deferred tax assets if it is more likely than
not that such assets will not be realized in future years. We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in general and
administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Business Combinations, Goodwill and Intangibles Assets
Business combinations are accounted for under the purchase method. The total cost of an acquisition is allocated to the underlying net
assets based on their respective estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair value of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed is judgmental in nature and often involves the
use of significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions with respect to future cash flows, discount rates, growth rates and asset
lives.
We perform an impairment review of goodwill on an annual basis and more frequently if circumstances change. Intangible assets with
definite lives, including purchased technologies, customer relationships and other intangible assets, are amortized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives, ranging from five to ten years. Intangible assets are assessed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate a
possible impairment.
Segment Results
As an electronic, multi-dealer platform for trading fixed-income securities, our operations constitute a single business segment. Because of
the highly integrated nature of the financial markets in which we compete and the integration of our worldwide business activities, we believe
that results by geographic region, products or types of clients are not necessarily meaningful in understanding our business.
Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010
Overview
Total revenues increased by $34.9 million or 23.8% to $181.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $146.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010. This increase in total revenues was primarily due to an increase in commissions of $33.3 million.
Total expenses increased by $7.0 million or 7.4% to $102.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $95.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily due to higher employee compensation and benefits of $2.3 million, professional and
consulting fees of $1.6 million and marketing and advertising costs of $1.8 million.
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Income before taxes increased by $27.8 million or 54.7% to $78.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $50.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2010. Net income increased by $16.3 million or 51.8% to $47.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011
from $31.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Revenues
Our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the resulting dollar and percentage changes, were as follows:

$

Commissions
Technology products and services
Information and user access fees
Investment income
Other
Total revenues

$155,444
14,310
7,199
1,229
2,917
$181,099

2011
% of Revenues

85.8%
7.9
4.0
0.7
1.6
100.0%

Year Ended December 31,
2010
$
% of Revenues
($ in thousands)

$122,180
13,648
6,681
1,192
2,527
$146,228

83.6%
9.3
4.6
0.8
1.7
100.0%

$ Change

$33,264
662
518
37
390
$34,871

% Change

27.2%
4.9
7.8
3.1
15.4
23.8%

Commissions. Our commission revenues for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the resulting dollar and percentage
changes, were as follows:
2011

Distribution fees
U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Total distribution fees
Variable transaction fees
U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total transaction fees
Total commissions

Year Ended December 31,
2010
$ Change
($ in thousands)

% Change

$ 49,580
14,149
63,729

$ 37,467
12,693
50,160

$12,113
1,456
13,569

32.3%
11.5
27.1

59,351
3,650
28,714
91,715
$155,444

46,329
5,963
19,728
72,020
$122,180

13,022
(2,313)
8,986
19,695
$33,264

28.1
(38.8)
45.5
27.3
27.2%

The $13.6 million increase in distribution fees for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the year ended December 31, 2010 was
due principally to the migration of seven U.S. broker-dealer market makers in the prior 15 months from an all-variable fee plan to a plan that
incorporates a combination of a monthly distribution fee and variable transaction fees and the addition of several new U.S. and European brokerdealer market makers to the platform.
Due in part to the continuing sovereign debt concerns and competitive environment in Europe, trading volume in our Eurobond product has
significantly decreased in 2010 and 2011. We intend to reduce the monthly distribution fees paid by our European broker-dealer market makers
effective March 1, 2012, but leave dealer variable transaction fees unchanged. We expect that Eurobond distribution fees will decline by
approximately $0.5 million per month. Despite our efforts, there is no assurance that Eurobond trading volumes and revenues will increase as a
result of this change. It is possible that our broker-dealer clients could respond to this new fee plan by either reducing the amount of their
business conducted on our platform or terminating their contractual relationship with us, which could have an adverse impact on our fees.
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The following table shows the extent to which the increase in commissions for the year ended December 31, 2011 was attributable to
changes in transaction volumes, variable transaction fees per million and distribution fees:
Change from Year Ended
December 31, 2010
U.S.
HighGrade

Volume increase (decrease)
Variable transaction fee per million (decrease)
Distribution fees increase
Total commissions increase (decrease)

$15,259
(2,237)
12,113
$25,135

Eurobond
Other
(In thousands)

$ (1,580)
(733)
1,456
$ (857)

Total

$10,154
(1,168)
—
$ 8,986

$23,833
(4,138)
13,569
$33,264

Our trading volume for each of the years presented was as follows:
2011

Trading Volume Data (in millions)
U.S. high-grade — fixed rate
U.S. high-grade — floating rate
Total U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total
Number of U.S. Trading Days
Number of U.K. Trading Days

$311,758
11,802
323,560
36,933
164,514
$525,007
250
251

Year Ended December 31,
2010
$ Change

$235,698
7,698
243,396
50,251
108,610
$402,257
250
253

% Change

$ 76,060
4,104
80,164
(13,318)
55,904
$122,750

32.3%
53.3
32.9
(26.5)
51.5
30.5%

For volume reporting purposes, transactions in foreign currencies are converted to U.S. dollars at average monthly rates. The 32.3%
increase in U.S. high-grade volume was principally due to an increase in the Company’s estimated market share of total U.S. high-grade
corporate bond volume as reported by FINRA TRACE from 8.4% for the year ended December 31, 2010 to 11.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2011. Estimated FINRA TRACE U.S. high-grade volume for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $2.9 trillion and increased
approximately 1.0% from the year ended December 31, 2010. Our Eurobond volumes decreased by 26.5% for the year ended December 31,
2011 compared to the year ended December 31, 2010. We believe that the decline in Eurobond volumes was due, in part, to continuing sovereign
debt concerns which negatively impacted market conditions and the competitive environment in Europe. Other volume increased by 51.5% for
the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the year ended December 31, 2010, primarily due to higher agency, emerging markets and highyield bond volumes.
Our average variable transaction fee per million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2011
2010

Average Variable Transaction Fee Per Million
U.S. high-grade — fixed rate
U.S. high-grade — floating rate
Total U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total

$190
22
183
99
175
175
55

$196
28
190
119
182
179
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The U.S. high-grade average variable transaction fee per million decreased from $190 per million for the year ended December 31, 2010 to
$183 per million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The decline was primarily due to the migration of seven U.S. broker-dealer market
makers from an all-variable plan to a plan that incorporates a combination of a monthly distribution fee and variable transaction fees. The decline
was partially offset from an increase in the percentage of volume derived from broker-dealer clients on an all-variable plan. Eurobond average
variable transaction fee per million decreased from $119 per million for the year ended December 31, 2010 to $99 per million for the year ended
December 31, 2011. In June 2010, we launched a click-to-trade protocol in the European market. In connection with the launch, the Eurobond
fee plan was generally revised downward. Other average variable transaction fee per million decreased from $182 per million for the year ended
December 31, 2010 to $175 per million for the year ended December 31, 2011, primarily due to a higher percentage of volume in products that
carry lower fees per million, principally agency bonds.
Technology Products and Services. Technology products and services revenues increased by $0.7 million or 4.9% to $14.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2011 from $13.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily a result of higher
technology integration consulting services.
Information and User Access Fees. Information and user access fees increased by $0.5 million or 7.8% to $7.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011 from $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Investment Income.

Investment income was $1.2 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010.

Other. Other revenues increased by $0.4 million or 15.4% to $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $2.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily a result of higher initial set-up fees from broker-dealer clients.
Expenses
Our expenses for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the resulting dollar and percentage changes, were as follows:
2011
$

Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits
Depreciation and amortization
Technology and communications
Professional and consulting fees
Occupancy
Marketing and advertising
General and administrative
Total expenses

$ 58,786
6,781
10,912
10,138
2,921
4,882
7,946
$102,366

% of
Revenues

32.5%
3.7
6.0
5.6
1.6
2.7
4.4
56.5%

Year Ended December 31,
2010
% of
$
Revenues
($ in thousands)

$56,446
6,350
9,982
8,503
2,997
3,075
7,965
$95,318

38.6%
4.3
6.8
5.8
2.0
2.1
5.4
65.2%

$
Change

$2,340
431
930
1,635
(76)
1,807
(19)
$7,048

%
Change

4.1%
6.8
9.3
19.2
(2.5)
58.8
(0.2)
7.4%

Employee Compensation and Benefits. Employee compensation and benefits increased by $2.3 million or 4.1% to $58.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011 from $56.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. This increase was primarily attributable to higher
incentive compensation of $2.3 million due to improved operating performance and higher wages and employment taxes and benefits
aggregating $2.2 million, offset by a decline in stock-based compensation expense of $2.1 million. The lower stock-based compensation expense
was principally due to the cancelation of unvested stock options, restricted stock and
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performance shares related to the June 2011 resignation of the Company’s President. The total number of employees increased to 232 as of
December 31, 2011 from 227 as of December 31, 2010. As a percentage of total revenues, employee compensation and benefits expense
decreased to 32.5% for the year ended December 31, 2011 from 38.6% for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $0.4 million or 6.8% to $6.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011 from $6.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily due to higher depreciation of
production and office hardware costs of $0.4 million. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we capitalized $4.1 million and $1.9
million, respectively, of software development costs, and $3.2 million and $5.2 million, respectively, of equipment and leasehold improvements.
The 2010 equipment and leasehold improvement expenditures included $3.0 million associated with the move of our corporate offices to new
premises in New York City in the first quarter of 2010.
Technology and Communications. Technology and communications expense increased by $0.9 million or 9.3% to $10.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011 from $10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily attributable to higher
expenses associated with production data and telecommunication costs.
Professional and Consulting Fees. Professional and consulting fees increased by $1.6 million or 19.2% to $10.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011 from $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase was principally due to higher technology
consulting costs of $1.2 million and legal expense, principally in connection with proposed swap execution facility-related regulation, of $0.9
million.
Occupancy. Occupancy costs decreased by $0.1 million or 2.5% to $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $3.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Marketing and Advertising. Marketing and advertising expense increased by $1.8 million or 58.8% to $4.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011 from $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase was principally due to higher advertising costs of
$0.9 million associated with our credit default swaps trading capabilities and travel and entertainment expenses related to sales activities of $0.6
million.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expense was $7.9 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010. During 2011, a credit of $1.0 million resulting from the settlement of a reimbursement claim on previously paid sales tax was offset by a
higher charge for doubtful accounts of $0.6 million and a write-off of a minority investment of $0.6 million. During the fourth quarter of 2011,
MF Global Inc., a broker-dealer market maker on our platform, entered a liquidation proceeding. In connection with the proceeding, we recorded
a 100% allowance against outstanding receivables amounting to $0.9 million.
Provision for Income Tax
We recorded an income tax provision of $31.0 million and $19.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The increase in the tax provision was primarily attributable to the $27.8 million increase in pre-tax income. With the exception of certain foreign
and state and local taxes, the provision for income taxes was largely a non-cash expense since we had net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards available to offset the majority of U.S. taxable income. We fully utilized the balance of our unrestricted U.S. federal net operating
loss carryforward during 2011, which we expect will result in an increase in cash paid for income taxes in subsequent years.
Our consolidated effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2011 was 39.4% compared to 38.3% for the year ended December 31,
2010. Our consolidated effective tax rate can vary from period to period depending on, among other factors, the geographic and business mix of
our earnings and changes in tax legislation and tax rates.
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As of December 31, 2011, we had restricted U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $12.3 million. The utilization
of our U.S. net operating loss carryforwards is subject to an annual limitation of approximately $2.1 million as determined by Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code.
Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009
Overview
Total revenues increased by $31.8 million or 27.8% to $146.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 from $114.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2009. This increase in total revenues was primarily due to increases in commissions of $26.0 million and in technology
products and services revenues of $3.9 million and other income of $1.5 million.
Total expenses increased by $10.9 million or 12.9% to $95.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 from $84.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily due to higher employee compensation and benefits of $6.2 million, general and
administrative expense of $2.0 million, professional and consulting fees of $1.6 million and technology and communication costs of $1.5
million.
Income before taxes increased by $20.9 million or 69.4% to $50.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 from $30.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2009. Net income increased by $15.3 million or 95.2% to $31.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010,
from $16.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009.
Revenues
Our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the resulting dollar and percentage changes, were as follows:
2010
$

Commissions
Technology products and services
Information and user access fees
Investment income
Other
Total revenues

$122,180
13,648
6,681
1,192
2,527
$146,228
58

% of
Revenues

83.6%
9.3
4.6
0.8
1.7
100.0%

Year Ended December 31,
2009
% of
$
Revenues
($ in thousands)

$ 96,132
9,778
6,252
1,222
1,055
$114,439

84.0%
8.5
5.5
1.1
0.9
100.0%

$
Change

$26,048
3,870
429
(30)
1,472
$31,789

%
Change

27.1%
39.6
6.9
(2.5)
139.5
27.8%
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Commissions. Our commission revenues for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the resulting dollar and percentage
changes, were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
$
2009
Change
($ in thousands)

2010

Distribution fees
U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Total distribution fees
Variable transaction fees
U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total transaction fees
Total commissions

%
Change

$ 37,467
12,693
50,160

$30,831
12,526
43,357

$ 6,636
167
6,803

21.5%
1.3
15.7

46,329
5,963
19,728
72,020
$122,180

31,726
7,813
13,236
52,775
$96,132

14,603
(1,850)
6,492
19,245
$26,048

46.0
(23.7)
49.0
36.5
27.1%

The $6.8 million increase in distribution fees for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to the year ended December 31, 2009 was
due principally to the migration of several U.S. broker-dealer market makers from an all-variable fee plan to a plan that incorporates a
combination of a monthly distribution fee and variable transaction fees.
The following table shows the extent to which the increase in commissions for the year ended December 31, 2010 was attributable to
changes in transaction volumes, variable transaction fees per million and distribution fees:
Change from Year Ended December 31, 2009
U.S.
HighGrade

Volume increase (decrease)
Variable transaction fee per million increase (decrease)
Distribution fees increase
Total commissions increase (decrease)

$11,865
2,738
6,636
$21,239

Eurobond
Other
(In thousands)

$ (898)
(952)
167
$ (1,683)

$ 8,759
(2,267)
—
$ 6,492

Total

$19,725
(480)
6,803
$26,048

Our trading volume for each of the years presented was as follows:

2010

Trading Volume Data (in millions)
U.S. high-grade — fixed rate
U.S. high-grade — floating rate
Total U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total
Number of U.S. Trading Days
Number of U.K. Trading Days

$235,698
7,698
243,396
50,251
108,610
$402,257
250
253
59

Year Ended December 31,
$
2009
Change

$170,519
6,629
177,148
56,778
65,360
$299,286
250
253

$ 65,179
1,069
66,248
(6,527)
43,250
$102,971

%
Change

38.2%
16.1
37.4
(11.5)
66.2
34.4%
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For volume reporting purposes, transactions in foreign currencies are converted to U.S. dollars at average monthly rates. The 37.4%
increase in U.S. high-grade volume was principally due to an increase in the Company’s estimated market share of total U.S. high-grade
corporate bond volume as reported by FINRA TRACE from 6.2% for the year ended December 31, 2009 to 8.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Estimated FINRA TRACE U.S. high-grade volume increased by less than 1% to $2.9 trillion for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Our Eurobond volumes decreased by 11.5% for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2009. We believe that the decline in Eurobond volumes was due, in part, to continuing sovereign debt concerns which negatively
impacted market conditions. Other volume increased by 66.2% for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to the year ended December 31,
2009, primarily due to higher agencies and emerging markets volume.
Our average variable transaction fee per million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2010
2009

Average Variable Transaction Fee Per Million
U.S. high-grade — fixed rate
U.S. high-grade — floating rate
Total U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total

$196
28
190
119
182
179

$185
24
179
138
203
176

The U.S. high-grade average variable transaction fee per million improved from $179 per million for the year ended December 31, 2009 to
$190 per million for the year ended December 31, 2010, primarily due to an increase in the percentage of volume derived from broker-dealer
clients on an all-variable plan. Eurobond average variable transaction fee per million decreased from $138 per million for the year ended
December 31, 2009 to $119 per million for the year ended December 31, 2010. In June 2010, we launched a click-to-trade protocol in the
European market. In connection with the launch, the Eurobond fee plan was revised generally downward. Other average variable transaction fee
per million decreased from $203 per million for the year ended December 31, 2009 to $182 per million for the year ended December 31, 2010,
primarily due to a higher percentage of volume in products that carry lower fees per million, principally agency bonds.
Technology Products and Services. Technology products and services revenues increased by $3.9 million or 39.6% to $13.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2010 from $9.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily a result of higher
technology integration consulting services and license fees.
Information and User Access Fees. Information and user access fees increased by $0.4 million or 6.9% to $6.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010 from $6.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009.
Investment Income.

Investment income was $1.2 million for the each of the years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009.

Other. Other revenues increased by $1.5 million or 139.5% to $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 from $1.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily a result of higher initial set-up fees from broker-dealer clients and a gain on the
sale of a U.S. Treasury bill investment.
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Expenses
Our expenses for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the resulting dollar and percentage changes, were as follows:
2010
$

Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits
Depreciation and amortization
Technology and communications
Professional and consulting fees
Occupancy
Marketing and advertising
General and administrative
Total expenses

$56,446
6,350
9,982
8,503
2,997
3,075
7,965
$95,318

% of
Revenues

38.6%
4.3
6.8
5.8
2.0
2.1
5.4
65.2%

Year Ended December 31,
2009
% of
$
Revenues
($ in thousands)

$50,274
6,790
8,436
6,869
3,129
2,882
6,010
$84,390

43.9%
5.9
7.4
6.0
2.7
2.5
5.3
73.7%

$
Change

$ 6,172
(440)
1,546
1,634
(132)
193
1,955
$10,928

%
Change

12.3%
(6.5)
18.3
23.8
(4.2)
6.7
32.5
12.9%

Employee Compensation and Benefits. Employee compensation and benefits increased by $6.2 million or 12.3% to $56.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010 from $50.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. This increase was primarily attributable to higher
incentive compensation of $2.9 million resulting from improved operating performance, salaries of $1.6 million due to increased headcount, and
benefits and employment taxes of $1.3 million. The total number of employees increased to 227 as of December 31, 2010 from 212 as of
December 31, 2009. As a percentage of total revenues, employee compensation and benefits expense decreased to 38.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2010 from 43.9% for the year ended December 31, 2009.
Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense decreased by $0.4 million or 6.5% to $6.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010 from $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The decrease was primarily due to lower amortization of
software development costs of $0.8 million. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, we capitalized $1.9 million and $1.9 million,
respectively, of software development costs, and $5.2 million and $4.9 million, respectively, of equipment and leasehold improvements. The
2010 and 2009 equipment and leasehold improvement expenditures included $3.0 million and $2.2 million, respectively, associated with the
move of our corporate offices to new premises in New York City in the first quarter of 2010.
Technology and Communications. Technology and communications expense increased by $1.5 million or 18.3% to $10.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010 from $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily attributable to higher
expenses associated with market data of $0.8 million and data center hosting of $0.4 million.
Professional and Consulting Fees. Professional and consulting fees increased by $1.6 million or 23.8% to $8.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010 from $6.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was principally due to higher technology
consulting costs of $0.9 million, recruiting fees of $0.3 million, and legal expense of $0.3 million.
Occupancy. Occupancy costs decreased by $0.1 million or 4.2% to $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 from $3.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2009.
Marketing and Advertising. Marketing and advertising expense increased by $0.2 million or 6.7% to $3.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010 from $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was principally due to higher travel and
entertainment expenses related to sales activities.
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General and Administrative. General and administrative expense increased by $2.0 million or 32.5% to $8.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010 from $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily due to higher charitable contributions
of $0.3 million, general travel and entertainment expense of $0.3 million, board of directors expenses of $0.3 million and registration fees of
$0.3 million.
Provision for Income Tax
We recorded an income tax provision of $19.5 million and $13.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
The increase in the tax provision was primarily attributable to the $20.9 million increase in pre-tax income. With the exception of the payment of
certain foreign and state and local taxes, the provision for income taxes was a non-cash expense since we had available net operating loss
carryforwards and tax credits to offset the cash payment of taxes.
Our consolidated effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2010 was 38.3% compared to 46.4% for the year ended December 31,
2009. During 2009, we reduced the tax rates used for recording the deferred tax assets to reflect the tax rates anticipated to be in effect when the
temporary differences are expected to reverse, resulting in a decrease in the deferred tax asset and an increase in tax expense of $1.6 million. The
2010 effective tax rate reflects the 2009 refinement in our state and local tax apportionment methodology, which resulted in a lower 2010 state
income tax rate. Our consolidated effective tax rate can vary from period to period depending on, among other factors, the geographic and
business mix of our earnings and changes in tax legislation and tax rates. Due to our net deferred tax asset balance, a decrease in tax rates results
in a reduction in our deferred tax balance and an increase in tax expense.
As of December 31, 2010, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $29.8 million and tax credit carryforwards of $6.0
million for income tax purposes. The net deferred tax asset of $19.8 million at December 31, 2010 included a valuation allowance of $0.2
million arising from certain tax credit and foreign and state tax loss carryforwards. This valuation allowance was deemed appropriate due to
available evidence indicating that some of the deferred tax assets might not be realized in future years.
Quarterly Results of Operations
Our quarterly results have varied significantly as a result of:
• changes in trading volume due to market conditions, changes in the number of trading days in certain quarters, and seasonality effects
caused by slow-downs in trading activity during certain periods;
• changes in the number of broker-dealers and institutional investors using our trading platform as well as variation in usage by existing
clients;
• expansion of the products we offer to our clients; and
• variance in our expenses, particularly employee compensation and benefits.
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The following table sets forth certain consolidated quarterly income statement data for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2011. In our
opinion, this unaudited information has been prepared on a basis consistent with our annual financial statements and includes all adjustments
(consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair statement of the unaudited quarterly data. This information should be read
in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results of
operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results that we may achieve for any subsequent periods.

Revenues
Commissions
U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total commissions
Technology products and services
Information and user access fees
Interest income
Other
Total revenues(1)
Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits
Depreciation and amortization
Technology and communications
Professional and consulting fees
Occupancy
Marketing and advertising
General and administrative
Total expenses
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
(1)

Three Months Ended
Jun 30,
Mar 31,
Dec 31,
Sep 30,
2011
2011
2010
2010
(In thousands, except per share data)

Dec 31,
2011

Sep 30,
2011

$27,706
4,133
6,922
38,761
3,439
1,960
317
658
45,135

$28,017
4,443
7,362
39,822
3,779
1,831
303
829
46,564

$26,830
4,606
7,640
39,076
3,984
1,719
310
702
45,791

$26,378
4,617
6,790
37,785
3,108
1,689
299
728
43,609

$22,234
4,420
5,607
32,261
3,778
1,722
285
559
38,605

13,707
1,793
2,916
2,354
726
1,380
3,393
26,269
18,866
7,323
$11,543

13,707
1,799
2,772
2,247
721
1,280
1,742
24,268
22,296
8,852
$13,444

15,104
1,627
2,724
2,665
708
1,248
1,810
25,886
19,905
7,968
$11,937

16,268
1,562
2,500
2,872
766
974
1,001
25,943
17,666
6,886
$10,780

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

0.31
0.29

0.36
0.34

0.32
0.30

0.30
0.27

Jun 30,
2010

Mar 31,
2010

$21,537
4,075
5,540
31,152
3,455
1,603
301
902
37,413

$20,249
4,669
4,542
29,460
3,251
1,722
315
578
35,326

$19,776
5,492
4,039
29,307
3,164
1,634
291
488
34,884

13,998
1,552
2,669
2,134
646
1,009
2,152
24,160
14,445
5,498
$ 8,947

14,326
1,560
2,543
2,241
706
679
1,834
23,889
13,524
4,913
$ 8,611

14,189
1,622
2,353
1,990
707
759
1,850
23,470
11,856
4,687
$ 7,169

13,933
1,616
2,417
2,138
938
628
2,129
23,799
11,085
4,384
$ 6,701

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

0.25
0.23

0.24
0.22

0.19
0.18

Of these amounts, $2,092, $2,011, $1,633, $1,808, $1,522, $1,455, $1,456 and $1,435 respectively, were from related parties.
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The following tables set forth trading volume and average variable transaction fee per million traded for the eight quarters ended
December 31, 2011.

Trading Volume Data
U.S. high-grade — fixed rate
U.S. high-grade — floating rate
Total U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total

Dec 31,
2011

Sep 30,
2011

Jun 30,
2011

$ 73,181
2,278
75,459
8,042
41,699
$125,200

$ 79,233
2,761
81,994
7,580
42,092
$131,666

$ 77,077
3,825
80,902
9,998
42,061
$132,961

Average Variable Transaction Fee Per Million
U.S. high-grade — fixed rate
U.S. high-grade — floating rate
Total U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total
Number of U.S. trading days
Number of U.K. trading days

Three Months Ended
Mar 31,
Dec 31,
2011
2010
(In millions)

$ 82,267
2,938
85,205
11,313
38,661
$135,179

Dec 31,

Sep 30,

Jun 30,

2011

2011

2011

$
$
$
$
$
$

195
27
190
92
166
175
61
63

$
$
$
$
$
$

195
24
189
108
175
180
64
65

$
$
$
$
$
$

192
22
184
95
182
177
63
60

$ 61,982
1,346
63,328
10,780
30,215
$104,323

Sep 30,
2010

Jun 30,
2010

Mar 31,
2010

$ 59,221
1,166
60,387
10,712
29,351
$100,450

$55,829
2,341
58,170
12,739
27,372
$98,281

$58,666
2,845
61,511
16,019
21,672
$99,202

Sep 30,

Jun 30,

Mar 31,

2010

2010

2010

Three Months Ended
Mar 31,
Dec 31,
2011

$
$
$
$
$
$

178
17
172
101
176
167
62
63

2010

$
$
$
$
$
$

196
36
192
101
186
181
62
64

$
$
$
$
$
$

208
32
205
93
189
188
64
65

$
$
$
$
$
$

196
23
189
130
166
175
63
61

$
$
$
$
$
$

183
27
175
139
186
172
61
63

Liquidity and Capital Resources
During the past three years, we have met our funding requirements through cash on hand and internally generated funds. Cash and cash
equivalents and securities available-for-sale totaled $247.7 million at December 31, 2011. Other than a capital lease obligation amounting to $0.6
million as of December 31, 2011, we have no long-term or short-term debt and do not maintain bank lines of credit.
Our cash flows were as follows:

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash (used in) investing activities
Net cash (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) for the period

2011

Year Ended December 31,
2010
(In thousands)

2009

$ 65,478
(8,576)
(11,199)
(1,077)
$ 44,626

$ 64,146
(7,720)
(33,849)
(924)
$ 21,653

$ 43,327
(44,165)
(2,646)
(498)
$ (3,981)

We define free cash flow as cash flow from operating activities less expenditures for furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements and
capitalized software development costs. For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, free cash flow was $58.3 million, $57.0 million
and $36.5 million, respectively. Free cash
64

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements
flow is a non-GAAP financial measure. We believe that this non-GAAP financial measure, when taken into consideration with the corresponding
GAAP financial measures, is important in gaining an understanding of our financial strength and cash flow generation.
Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010
Net cash provided by operating activities was $65.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to $64.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The $1.3 million increase in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to an increase in net income
of $16.3 million, offset by an increase in cash used for working capital of $14.6 million and lower non-cash stock based compensation expense
of $2.1 million. We fully utilized the balance of our unrestricted U.S. federal net operating loss carryforward during 2011, which resulted in an
increase in cash paid for income taxes in 2011. During 2011, cash paid for income taxes was $10.2 million compared to $2.2 million in 2010.
Net cash used in investing activities was $8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to $7.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Net purchases of securities available-for-sale were $4.9 million in 2011 compared to $0.6 million in December 31, 2010.
Capital expenditures were $7.2 million and $7.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Securities and cash
provided as collateral decreased by $3.5 million in 2011.
Net cash used in financing activities was $11.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to $33.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The $22.7 million decrease in net cash used in financing activities was principally due to a reduction in repurchases
of our common stock of $23.1 million and an increase in windfall tax benefits on stock-based compensation of $5.7 million, offset by a decrease
of $2.3 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options and grants of restricted stock and an increase of $3.1 million in cash dividends
paid in 2011 on common stock.
Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009
Net cash provided by operating activities was $64.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to $43.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2009. The $20.8 million increase in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to an increase in net income
of $15.3 million, higher non-cash deferred income taxes of $3.5 million and a decrease in cash used for working capital of $2.3 million.
Net cash used in investing activities was $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to $44.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The $36.4 million reduction in net cash used in investing activities was principally due to a decrease in net purchases of
securities available-for-sale of $34.7 million and a decrease in cash paid for business acquisitions of $1.4 million. During the year ended
December 31, 2009, we made a $1.4 million earn-out payment related to the 2008 acquisition of Greenline. Net purchases of securities availablefor-sale were $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to $35.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Capital
expenditures were $7.1 million and $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Leasehold improvements and
equipment expenditures in 2010 and 2009 included $3.0 million and $2.2 million, respectively, associated with the move of our corporate offices
to new premises in New York City in the first half of 2010.
Net cash used in financing activities was $33.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to $2.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The $31.2 million increase in net cash used in financing activities was principally due to the purchase of 1.9 million shares
of our common stock at a cost of $30.0 million under a share repurchase program and an increase in cash dividends paid on common stock and
Series B preferred stock of $8.0 million, offset by an increase in net proceeds on the exercise of stock options of $4.5 million and excess tax
benefits on stock-based compensation of $1.9 million.
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Other Factors Influencing Liquidity and Capital Resources
We are dependent on our broker-dealer clients who are not restricted from buying and selling fixed-income securities with institutional
investors, either directly or through their own proprietary or third-party platforms. None of our broker-dealer clients is contractually or otherwise
obligated to continue to use our electronic trading platform. The loss of, or a significant reduction in the use of our electronic platform by, our
broker-dealer clients could reduce our cash flows, affect our liquidity and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
We believe that our current resources are adequate to meet our liquidity needs and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12
months. However, our future liquidity and capital requirements will depend on a number of factors, including expenses associated with product
development and expansion and new business opportunities that are intended to further diversify our revenue stream. We may also acquire or
invest in technologies, business ventures or products that are complementary to our business. In addition, we fully utilized the balance of our
unrestricted U.S. federal net operating loss carryforward during 2011, which we expect will result in an increase in cash paid for income taxes in
subsequent years. In the event we require any additional financing, it will take the form of equity or debt financing. Any additional equity
offerings may result in dilution to our stockholders. Any debt financings, if available at all, may involve restrictive covenants with respect to
dividends, issuances of additional capital and other financial and operational matters related to our business.
We have three regulated subsidiaries, MarketAxess Corporation, MarketAxess Europe Limited and MarketAxess Canada Ltd.
MarketAxess Corporation is a registered broker-dealer in the U.S., MarketAxess Europe Limited is a registered multilateral trading facility
dealer in the U.K. and MarketAxess Canada Ltd. is a registered Alternative Trading System dealer in the Province of Ontario. As such, they are
subject to minimum regulatory capital requirements imposed by their respective market regulators that are intended to ensure general financial
soundness and liquidity based on certain minimum capital requirements. The relevant regulations prohibit a registrant from repaying borrowings
from its parent or affiliates, paying cash dividends, making loans to its parent or affiliates or otherwise entering into transactions that result in a
significant reduction in its regulatory net capital position without prior notification to or approval from its principal regulator. The capital
structures of our subsidiaries are designed to provide each with capital and liquidity consistent with its business and regulatory requirements.
Subject to rulemaking pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, we currently expect to establish and operate a swap execution facility and/or a securitybased swap execution facility and we will be required to maintain an additional amount of minimum net capital in connection with such
facilities. The following table sets forth the capital requirements, as defined, that the Company’s subsidiaries were required to maintain as of
December 31, 2011:
MarketAxess

Net capital
Minimum net capital required
Excess net capital

Corporation

MarketAxess
Europe Limited
(In thousands)

MarketAxess
Canada Limited

$

$

$

$

73,890
2,499
71,391

$

24,301
3,179
21,122

$

418
269
149

We execute certain bond transactions between and among institutional investor and broker-dealer clients on a riskless principal basis by
serving as counterparty to both the buyer and the seller in matching back-to-back trades, which are then settled through a third-party clearing
organization. We act as intermediary on a riskless principal basis in these bond transactions by serving as counterparty to the two clients
involved. Settlement typically occurs within one to three trading days after the trade date. Cash settlement of the transaction occurs upon receipt
or delivery of the underlying instrument that was traded. Under securities clearing agreements with the independent third party, we maintain
collateral deposits with the clearing broker in the form of cash. As of December 31, 2011, the amount of the collateral deposits included in
prepaid expenses and other assets in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition was $0.9 million. We are exposed to credit risk in the
event a
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counterparty does not fulfill its obligation to complete a transaction. Pursuant to the terms of the securities clearing agreements between us and
the independent clearing broker, the clearing broker has the right to charge us for losses resulting from a counterparty’s failure to fulfill its
contractual obligations. The losses are not capped at a maximum amount and apply to all trades executed through the clearing broker. At
December 31, 2011, we had not recorded any liabilities with regard to this right.
In the ordinary course of business, we enter into contracts that contain a variety of representations, warranties and general
indemnifications. Our maximum exposure from any claims under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve claims that have not yet
occurred. However, based on past experience, we expect the risk of loss to be remote.
In October 2011, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for up to $35.0 million of our common stock. As of
December 31, 2011, a total of 237,998 shares were repurchased at an aggregate cost of $6.9 million. Shares repurchased under the program will
be held in treasury for future use. Through February 16, 2012, a total of 820,894 shares have been repurchased at an aggregate cost of $25.2
million.
In January 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a quarterly cash dividend of $0.11 per share payable on March 1, 2012 to
stockholders of record as of the close of business on February 16, 2012. Any future declaration and payment of dividends will be at the sole
discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may take into account such matters as general business conditions, the
Company’s financial results, capital requirements, contractual, legal, and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends to the Company’s
stockholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries to the parent and any such other factors as the Board of Directors may deem relevant.
Effects of Inflation
Because the majority of our assets are liquid in nature, they are not significantly affected by inflation. However, the rate of inflation may
affect our expenses, such as employee compensation, office leasing costs and communications expenses, which may not be readily recoverable
in the prices of our services. To the extent inflation results in rising interest rates and has other adverse effects on the securities markets, it may
adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
As of December 31, 2011, we had the following contractual obligations and commitments:
Payments due by period
Less than

Operating leases
Capital leases
Foreign currency forward contract

More than

Total

1 year

13 years
(In thousands)

$19,551
700
28,516
$48,767

$ 1,805
336
28,516
$30,657

$3,546
364
—
$3,910

35 years

5 years

$4,041
—
—
$4,041

$ 10,159
—
—
$ 10,159

We enter into foreign currency forward contracts with a non-controlling stockholder broker-dealer client to hedge the exposure to
variability in foreign currency cash flows resulting from the net investment in our U.K. subsidiary. As of December 31, 2011, the notional value
of the foreign currency forward contract outstanding was $28.7 million and the gross and net fair value asset was $0.2 million.
As of December 31, 2011, we had unrecognized tax benefits of $3.6 million. Due to the nature of the underlying positions, it is not
currently possible to schedule the future payment obligations by period.
In January 2012, our Board of Directors approved a quarterly dividend to be paid to the holders of the outstanding shares of capital stock.
A cash dividend of $0.11 per share of voting and non-voting common stock outstanding will be payable on March 1, 2012 to stockholders of
record as of the close of business on February 16, 2012. We expect the total amount payable to be approximately $4.2 million.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of recent
accounting pronouncements.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Market risk is the risk of the loss resulting from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates.
Market Risk
The global financial services business is, by its nature, risky and volatile and is directly affected by many national and international factors
that are beyond our control. Any one of these factors may cause a substantial decline in the U.S. and global financial services markets, resulting
in reduced trading volume and revenues. These events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
As of December 31, 2011, we had a $78.1 million investment in securities available-for-sale. Adverse movements, such as a 10% decrease
in the value of these securities or a downturn or disruption in the markets for these securities, could result in a substantial loss. In addition,
principal gains and losses resulting from these securities could on occasion have a disproportionate effect, positive or negative, on our financial
condition and results of operations for any particular reporting period.
See also Item 1A . Risk Factors , “Risks Related to Our Industry — Economic, political and market factors beyond our control could
reduce demand for our services and harm our business, and our profitability could suffer .”
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk represents our exposure to interest rate changes with respect to the money market instruments, U.S. Treasury obligations
and fixed-income securities in which we invest. As of December 31, 2011, our cash and cash equivalents and securities available-for-sale
amounted to $247.7 million and were primarily invested in money market instruments, U.S. government obligations and municipal securities.
We do not maintain an inventory of bonds that are traded on our platform.
Derivative Risk
Our limited derivative risk stems from our activities in the foreign currency forward contract market. We use this market to mitigate our
U.S. dollar versus Pound Sterling exposure that arises from the activities of our U.K. subsidiary. As of December 31, 2011, the notional value of
our foreign currency forward contract was $28.7 million. We do not speculate in any derivative instruments.
Credit Risk
We act as a riskless principal through MarketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Europe Limited in certain transactions that we execute
between clients. We act as an intermediary in these transactions by serving as counterparty to both the buyer and the seller in matching back-toback bond trades, which are then settled through a third-party clearing organization. Settlement typically occurs within one to three trading days
after the trade date. Cash settlement of the transaction occurs upon receipt or delivery of the underlying instrument that was traded.
We are exposed to credit risk in our role as trading counterparty to our clients. We are exposed to the risk that third parties that owe us
money, securities or other assets will not perform their obligations. These parties
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may default on their obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. Adverse movements in the prices
of securities that are the subject of these transactions can increase our risk. Where the unmatched position or failure to deliver is prolonged, there
may also be regulatory capital charges required to be taken by us. There can be no assurance that the policies and procedures we use to manage
this credit risk will effectively mitigate our credit risk exposure.
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and money market instruments that are primarily maintained at one major global bank. Given this
concentration, we are exposed to certain credit risk.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
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The unaudited supplementary data regarding consolidated quarterly income statement data are incorporated by reference to the
information set forth in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” in the section
captioned “Quarterly Results of Operations.”
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management of MarketAxess Holdings Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that:
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Company;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the
Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework .
Based on our assessment and those criteria, management concluded that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2011.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of MarketAxess Holdings Inc.:
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index on page 70 present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit
of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ P RICEWATERHOUSE C OOPERS LLP
P RICEWATERHOUSE C OOPERS LLP
New York, New York
February 17, 2012
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
As of December 31
2011
2010
(In thousands, except
share and per share
amounts)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Securities available-for-sale
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,086 and $427 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively
Deferred tax assets, net
Goodwill and intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization
Capitalized software, furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities
Accrued employee compensation
Deferred revenue
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)
Series B Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, 35,000 shares authorized; zero and 35,000 issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 4,855,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010
Series A Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, 110,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010
Common stock voting, $0.003 par value, 110,000,000 shares authorized, 37,725,394 shares and 35,945,001
shares issued and 36,183,655 shares and 31,141,261 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively
Common stock non-voting, $0.003 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, 2,585,654 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and 2010
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock — Common stock voting, at cost, 1,541,739 shares and 4,803,740 shares as of December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$169,620
78,110
36,170
8,089
34,544

$124,994
72,552
25,682
19,813
36,012

14,460
8,465
$349,458

12,545
7,923
$299,521

$ 19,425
5,326
12,268
37,019
—

$ 17,791
4,571
12,368
34,730
—

—

30,315

—

—

—

—

113

108

9
340,716

9
340,615

(25,933)
(584)
(1,882)
312,439
$349,458

(70,000)
(34,605)
(1,651)
234,476
$299,521
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010
2009
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Commissions
U.S. high-grade
Eurobond
Other
Total commissions
Technology products and services
Information and user access fees
Investment income
Other
Total revenues
Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits
Depreciation and amortization
Technology and communications
Professional and consulting fees
Occupancy
Marketing and advertising
General and administrative
Total expenses
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per common share
Basic
Diluted
Cash dividends declared per common share
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

$108,931
17,799
28,714
155,444
14,310
7,199
1,229
2,917
181,099

$ 83,796
18,656
19,728
122,180
13,648
6,681
1,192
2,527
146,228

$ 62,557
20,339
13,236
96,132
9,778
6,252
1,222
1,055
114,439

58,786
6,781
10,912
10,138
2,921
4,882
7,946
102,366
78,733
31,029
$ 47,704

56,446
6,350
9,982
8,503
2,997
3,075
7,965
95,318
50,910
19,482
$ 31,428

50,274
6,790
8,436
6,869
3,129
2,882
6,010
84,390
30,049
13,947
$ 16,102

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

1.29
1.20
0.36
37,006
39,608

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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0.86
0.80
0.28
33,159
39,051

0.44
0.42
0.07
33,264
38,082
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND ACCUMULATED OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Treasury
Common
Common

Additional
Stock
Non Voting

Stock
Voting
Balance at December 31, 2008
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Cumulative translation adjustment and foreign currency
exchange hedge, net of tax
Unrealized net gain on securities available-for-sale, net of tax
Total comprehensive income
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options and grants of restricted stock, net of
withholding tax on stock vesting
Decrement in windfall from stock-based compensation
Repayment of promissory notes
Cash dividend on common stock and Series B Preferred Stock
Balance at December 31, 2009
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Cumulative translation adjustment and foreign currency
exchange hedge, net of tax
Unrealized net gain on securities available-for-sale, net of tax
Total comprehensive income
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options and grants of restricted stock, net of
surrender on stock option exercises and withholding tax on
stock vesting
Tax benefit from the exercise of warrants in prior years
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Repayment of promissory notes
Purchase of treasury stock
Cash dividend on common stock and Series B Preferred Stock
Balance at December 31, 2010
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Cumulative translation adjustment and foreign currency
exchange hedge, net of tax
Unrealized net gain on securities available-for-sale, net of tax
Total comprehensive income
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options, warrants and grants of restricted stock,
net of surrender on stock option exercises and withholding
tax on stock vesting
Conversion of Series B Prefered stock to common stock voting
Tax benefit from the exercise of warrants in prior years
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Purchase of treasury stock
Cash dividend on common stock
Balance at December 31, 2011

$

$

102

$

Receivable
for Common

Stock Common

Accumulated
Accumulated

Paid-In
Capital

Stock
Stock
Subscribed
Voting
(In thousands)
$
(951) $ (40,000)

Deficit

9

$ 305,508

—

—

—

—

—

16,102

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

8,414

—

—

2
—
—
—
104

—
—
—
—
9

—

—

—

—

—

31,428

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

8,969

—

—

4
—
—
—
—
—
108

—
—
—
—
—
—
9

4,702
11,429
1,619
—
—
—
340,615

—
—
—
713
—
—
—

—

—

—

—

—

47,704

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

6,859

—

—

4
1
—
—
—
—
113

—
—
—
—
—
—
9

$

240
(266)
—
—
313,896

2,388
(20,688)
4,237
7,305
—
—
$ 340,716

—
—
238
—
(713)

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—
(40,000)

Equity
$

194,493
16,102

—
—

(331)
260

—

—

(331)
260
16,031
8,414

—
—
—
—
(1,391)

242
(266)
238
(2,650)
216,502

—

31,428

—
—

(564)
304

—

—

(564)
304
31,168
8,969

—
—
—
—
—
(10,630)
(34,605)

$

(1,320)

Total
Stockholders’

—

—
—
—
—
—
—
(1,651)

4,706
11,429
1,619
713
(30,000)
(10,630)
234,476

—

47,704

—
—

(634)
403

—

—

(634)
403
47,473
6,859

—
—
—
—
—
(13,683)
(584)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

—
—
—
(2,650)
(55,403)

—
—
—
—
(30,000)
—
(70,000)

—
51,002
—
—
(6,935)
—
$ (25,933)

(68,855)

Other
Comprehensive Loss

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
(1,882)

$

2,392
30,315
4,237
7,305
(6,935)
(13,683)
312,439
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Deferred taxes
Provision for bad debts
Gain on sale of securities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets
Increase in accrued employee compensation
Increase in deferred revenue
Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of business
Securities available-for-sale:
Proceeds from maturities and sales
Purchases
Securities and cash provided as collateral
Purchases of furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements
Capitalization of software development costs
Net cash (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Cash dividend on common stock and Series B Preferred Stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and grants of restricted stock, net of surrenders on stock
option exercises and withholding tax on stock vesting
Excess tax benefits (decrements) from stock-based compensation
Purchase of treasury stock — common stock voting
Other
Net cash (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) for the period
Beginning of period
End of period
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year
Cash paid for income taxes
Non-cash activity
Converion of Series B Preferred Stock to common stock
Capital lease obligation

Year Ended December 31,
2010
(In thousands)

$ 47,704

$ 16,102

6,781
6,859
16,129
1,177
—

6,350
8,969
15,767
602
(411)

6,790
8,414
12,255
652
—

(11,665)
(4,074)
1,634
755
178
65,478

(3,134)
57
2,634
309
1,575
64,146

(10,519)
136
4,718
1,959
2,820
43,327

—

—

(1,368)

27,419
(32,302)
3,532
(3,160)
(4,065)
(8,576)

65,365
(66,008)
32
(5,205)
(1,904)
(7,720)

22,062
(57,406)
(655)
(4,909)
(1,889)
(44,165)

(13,683)

(10,630)

(2,650)

2,392
7,305
(6,935)
(278)
(11,199)
(1,077)

4,706
1,619
(30,000)
456
(33,849)
(924)

242
(266)
—
28
(2,646)
(498)

44,626
124,994
$169,620

21,653
103,341
$124,994

(3,982)
107,323
$103,341

$ 10,177

$

2,228

$

837

$ 30,315
—

$

—
—

$

—
723

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
76

$ 31,428
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

Organization and Principal Business Activity

MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on April 11, 2000. Through its subsidiaries, the
Company operates an electronic trading platform for corporate bonds and other types of fixed-income instruments through which the Company’s
institutional investor clients can access the liquidity provided by its broker-dealer clients. The Company’s multi-dealer trading platform allows
its institutional investor clients to simultaneously request competitive, executable bids or offers from multiple broker-dealers, and to execute
trades with the broker-dealer of their choice. The Company offers its clients the ability to trade U.S. high-grade corporate bonds, European highgrade corporate bonds, credit default swaps, agencies, high yield and emerging markets bonds and asset-backed and preferred securities. The
Company also executes certain bond transactions between and among institutional investor and broker-dealer clients on a riskless principal basis
by serving as counterparty to both the buyer and the seller in matching back-to-back trades, which then settle through a third-party clearing
organization. Through its Corporate BondTicker™ service, the Company provides fixed-income market data, analytics and compliance tools that
help its clients make trading decisions. In addition, the Company provides FIX (Financial Information eXchange) message management tools,
connectivity solutions and ancillary technology services that facilitate the electronic communication of order information between trading
counterparties.
For 2011 and 2010, JPMorgan Chase & Co. was the Company’s sole stockholder broker-dealer client. For 2009, JPMorgan Chase & Co.,
BNP Paribas and Credit Suisse were considered to be stockholder broker-dealer clients. These broker-dealer clients constitute related parties of
the Company (together, the “Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients”). See Note 8, “Related Parties.”
2.

Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and money market instruments that are primarily maintained at one major global bank. Given this
concentration, the Company is exposed to certain credit risk. The Company defines cash equivalents as short-term interest-bearing investments
with maturities at the time of purchase of three months or less.
Securities Available-for-Sale
The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale securities. Unrealized marketable securities gains and losses, net of
taxes, are reflected as a net amount under the caption of accumulated other comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition. Realized gains and losses are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in other revenues. For the purpose of computing
realized gains and losses, cost is determined on a specific identification basis.
The Company assesses whether an other-than-temporary impairment loss on the investments has occurred due to declines in fair value or
other market conditions. The portion of an other-than-temporary impairment related to credit loss is recorded as a charge in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The remainder is recognized in other comprehensive loss if the Company does not intend to sell the security and it is
more likely than not that the Company will not be required to sell the security prior to recovery. No charges for other-than-temporary losses were
recorded during 2011, 2010 or 2009.
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Fair Value Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as “the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date.” A three-tiered hierarchy for determining fair value has been established that prioritizes inputs to
valuation techniques used in fair value calculations. The three levels of inputs are defined as Level 1 (unadjusted quoted prices for identical
assets or liabilities in active markets), Level 2 (inputs that are observable in the marketplace other than those inputs classified in Level 1) and
Level 3 (inputs that are unobservable in the marketplace). The Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis consist of its money market funds, securities available-for-sale portfolio and one foreign currency forward contract.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
All accounts receivable have contractual maturities of less than one year and are derived from trading-related fees and commissions and
revenues from products and services. The Company continually monitors collections and payments from its customers and maintains an
allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon the historical collection experience and specific collection
issues that have been identified. Additions to the allowance for doubtful accounts are charged to bad debt expense, which is included in general
and administrative expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The allowance for doubtful accounts was $1.1 million, $0.4 million and $0.9 million as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. The provision for bad debts was $1.2 million, $0.6 million and $0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2011, MF Global Inc., a broker-dealer market maker on the Company’s platform, entered into a
liquidation proceeding. In connection with the proceeding, the Company recorded a 100% allowance against outstanding receivables amounting
to $0.9 million. Write-offs and other charges against the allowance for doubtful accounts were $0.2 million, $0.7 million and $0.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Depreciation and Amortization
Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. The Company uses the straight-line method of depreciation over three to
seven years. Leasehold improvements are stated at cost and are amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the life of the
improvement or the remaining term of the lease.
Software Development Costs
The Company capitalizes certain costs associated with the development of internal use software at the point at which the conceptual
formulation, design and testing of possible software project alternatives have been completed. The Company capitalizes employee compensation
and related benefits and third party consulting costs incurred during the preliminary software project stage. Once the product is ready for its
intended use, such costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over three years. The Company reviews the amounts capitalized for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable.
Cash Provided as Collateral
Cash is provided as collateral for electronic bank settlements and broker-dealer clearance accounts. Cash provided as collateral is included
in prepaid expenses and other assets in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.
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Foreign Currency Translation and Forward Contracts
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using exchange rates at the end of the period; revenues and expenses
are translated at average monthly rates. Gains and losses on foreign currency translation are a component of accumulated other comprehensive
loss in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Transaction gains and losses are recorded in general and administrative expense in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge its net investment in its U.K. subsidiary. Gains and losses on these
transactions are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.
Revenue Recognition
The majority of the Company’s revenues are derived from monthly distribution fees and commissions for trades executed on its platform
that are billed to its broker-dealer clients on a monthly basis. The Company also derives revenues from technology products and services,
information and user access fees, investment income and other income.
Commission revenue. Commissions are generally calculated as a percentage of the notional dollar volume of bonds traded on the
platform and vary based on the type and maturity of the bond traded. Under the Company’s transaction fee plans, bonds that are more actively
traded or that have shorter maturities are generally charged lower commissions, while bonds that are less actively traded or that have longer
maturities generally command higher commissions. For trades that the Company executes between and among institutional investor and brokerdealer clients on a riskless principal basis by serving as counterparty to both the buyer and the seller, the Company earns the commission through
the difference in price between the two back-to-back trades.
Technology products and services. The Company generates revenues from technology software licenses, maintenance and support
services (referred to as post-contract technical support or “PCS”) and professional consulting services. Revenue is generally recognized when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is considered probable. The
Company generally sells software licenses and PCS together as part of multiple-element arrangements. The Company also enters into contracts
for technology integration consulting services unrelated to any software product.
For arrangements that include multiple elements, generally software licenses and PCS, the Company allocates and defers revenue for the
undelivered items based on vendor specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of the fair value of the undelivered elements and recognizes the
difference between the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the undelivered items as license revenue. The Company’s VSOE of
each element is based on historical evidence of stand-alone sales of these elements to third parties or the stated renewal rate for the undelivered
elements. When VSOE does not exist for undelivered items, the entire arrangement fee is recognized ratably over the performance period. For
PCS, the term is typically one year and revenue is recognized over the duration of the arrangement on a straight-line basis.
Professional consulting services are generally separately priced and are typically not essential to the functionality of the Company’s
software products. Revenues from these services are recognized separately from the license fee. Generally, revenue from time-and-materials
consulting contracts is recognized as services are performed.
Revenues from contracts for technology integration consulting services are recognized on the percentage-of-completion method.
Percentage-of-completion accounting involves calculating the percentage of
79

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements
MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
services provided during the reporting period compared to the total estimated services to be provided over the duration of the contract. If
estimates indicate that a contract loss will occur, a loss provision is recorded in the period in which the loss first becomes probable and
reasonably estimable. Contract losses are determined to be the amount by which the estimated direct and indirect costs of the contract exceed the
estimated total revenues that will be generated by the contract. There were no contract loss provisions recorded as of December 31, 2011 and
2010. Revenues recognized in excess of billings are recorded as unbilled services within other assets. Billings in excess of revenues recognized
are recorded as deferred revenues until revenue recognition criteria are met.
Initial set-up fees. The Company enters into agreements with its broker-dealer clients pursuant to which the Company provides access to
its platform through a non-exclusive and non-transferable license. Broker-dealer clients may pay an initial set-up fee, which is typically due and
payable upon execution of the broker-dealer agreement. The initial set-up fee, if any, varies by agreement. Revenue is recognized over the initial
term of the agreement, which is generally two years.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all share-based payment awards based on their estimated fair values
measured as of the grant date. These costs are recognized as an expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations over the requisite service
period, which is typically the vesting period, with an offsetting increase to additional paid-in capital.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will
be in effect when such differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized
in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recognized against deferred tax assets if it is more likely than
not that such assets will not be realized in future years. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in
general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Business Combinations, Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Business acquisitions are accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The total cost of an acquisition is allocated to the
underlying net assets based on their respective estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair value of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed is judgmental in nature and
often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions with respect to future cash flows, discount rates, growth
rates and asset lives.
An impairment review of goodwill is performed on an annual basis and more frequently if circumstances change. Intangible assets with
definite lives, including purchased technologies, customer relationships and other intangible assets, are amortized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives, ranging from five to ten years. Intangible assets are assessed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate
the existence of a possible impairment.
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Earnings Per Share
For 2010 and 2009, earnings per share (“EPS”) was calculated using the two-class method. Basic EPS is computed by dividing the net
income attributable to common stock by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, including
consideration of the two-class method to the extent that participating securities were outstanding during the period. Under the two-class method,
undistributed net income is allocated to common stock and participating securities based on their respective right to share in dividends. The
Series B Preferred Stock was convertible into shares of common stock and also included a right whereby, upon the declaration or payment of a
dividend or distribution on the common stock, a dividend or distribution must also be declared or paid on the Series B Preferred Stock based on
the number of shares of common stock into which such securities were convertible at the time. Due to these rights, the Series B Preferred Stock
was considered a participating security requiring the use of the two-class method for the computation of basic EPS.
In January 2011, all of the shares of the Series B Preferred Stock were mandatorily and automatically converted into shares of common
stock. For 2011, basic EPS is computed by dividing the net income attributable to common stock by the weighted-average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is computed using the more dilutive of the (a) if-converted method or (b) two-class method. Since the Series B Preferred
Stock participated equally with the common stock in dividends and unallocated income, diluted EPS under the if-converted method was and is
equivalent to the two-class method. The weighted-average shares outstanding of common stock reflects the dilutive effect that could occur if
convertible securities or other contracts to issue common stock were converted into or exercised for common stock.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued authoritative guidance on revenue recognition. The guidance required
entities to allocate revenue in an arrangement with multiple deliverables using estimated selling prices of the delivered goods and services based
on a selling price hierarchy. The guidance also removed tangible products from the scope of software revenue guidance and provides guidance
on determining whether software deliverables in an arrangement that includes a tangible product are covered by the scope of the software
revenue guidance. The Company adopted the new revenue recognition guidance effective January 1, 2011 and there was no material impact on
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
In 2011, the FASB issued new accounting guidance that simplifies goodwill impairment tests. The new guidance states that a “qualitative”
assessment may be performed to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. This accounting standard is effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after December 15, 2011. The Company does not anticipate that adoption will have an impact on the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
In 2011, the FASB issued new disclosure guidance related to the presentation of the Statement of Comprehensive Income. This guidance
eliminates the current option to report other comprehensive income and
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its components in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity. The requirement to present reclassification adjustments out of
accumulated other comprehensive income on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Operations has been deferred. This accounting standard
is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2011. The Company does not anticipate that adoption will have an impact on the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
3.

Net Capital Requirements and Customer Protection Requirements

MarketAxess Corporation, a U.S. subsidiary, is a registered broker-dealer with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and is a
member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”). MarketAxess Corporation claims exemption from SEC Rule 15c3-3, as it
does not hold customer securities or funds on account, as defined. Pursuant to the Uniform Net Capital Rule under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, MarketAxess Corporation is required to maintain minimum net capital, as defined, equal to the greater of $100,000 or 6 2/3% of
aggregate indebtedness. MarketAxess Europe Limited, a U.K. subsidiary, is registered as a Multilateral Trading Facility dealer with the Financial
Services Authority (“FSA”) in the U.K. MarketAxess Canada Limited, a Canadian subsidiary, is registered as an Alternative Trading System
dealer under the Securities Act of Ontario and is a member of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada. MarketAxess Europe
Limited and MarketAxess Canada Limited are subject to certain financial resource requirements of the FSA and the Ontario Securities
Commission, respectively. The following table sets forth the capital requirements, as defined, that the Company’s subsidiaries were required to
maintain as of December 31, 2011:
MarketAxess

Net capital
Minimum net capital required
Excess net capital

Corporation

MarketAxess
Europe Limited
(In thousands)

MarketAxess
Canada Limited

$

$

$

$

73,890
2,499
71,391

$

24,301
3,179
21,122

$

418
269
149

The Company’s regulated subsidiaries are subject to U.S., U.K. and Canadian regulations which prohibit repayment of borrowings from
the Company or affiliates, paying cash dividends, making loans to the Company or affiliates or otherwise entering into transactions that result in
a significant reduction in regulatory net capital or financial resources, respectively, without prior notification to or approval from such regulated
entity’s principal regulator.
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4.

Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes the valuation of the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value as categorized based on the
hierarchy described in Note 2.
Level 1

As of December 31, 2011
Money market funds
Securities available-for-sale
U.S. government obligations
Municipal securities
Corporate bonds
Foreign currency forward contract
As of December 31, 2010
Money market funds
Securities available-for-sale
U.S. government obligations
Municipal securities
Corporate bonds
Foreign currency forward contract

Level 2
Level 3
(In thousands)

Total

$111,256

$

—

$ —

$111,256

—
—
—
—
$111,256

55,460
20,612
2,038
155
$78,265

—
—
—
—
$ —

55,460
20,612
2,038
155
$189,521

$ 96,661

$

$ —

$ 96,661

—
—
—
—
$ 96,661

41,351
29,145
2,056
(337)
$72,215

—
—
—
—
$ —

41,351
29,145
2,056
(337)
$168,876

—

Securities classified within Level 2 were valued using a market approach utilizing prices and other relevant information generated by
market transactions involving comparable assets. The foreign currency forward contract is classified within Level 2 as the valuation inputs are
based on quoted market prices. There were no financial assets classified within Level 3 during 2011 and 2010.
The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts with a non-controlling stockholder broker-dealer client to hedge the exposure
to variability in foreign currency cash flows resulting from the net investment in the Company’s U.K. subsidiary. The Company assesses each
foreign currency forward contract to ensure that it is highly effective at reducing the exposure being hedged. The Company designates each
foreign currency forward contract as a hedge, assesses the risk management objective and strategy, including identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item and the risk exposure and how effectiveness is to be assessed prospectively and retrospectively. These hedges are for
a one-month period and are used to limit exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. The gross and net fair value asset of $0.2
million as of December 31, 2011 is included in accounts receivable and the gross and net fair value liability of $0.3 million as of December 31,
2010 is included in accounts payable, in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Gains or losses on foreign currency forward
contracts designated as hedges are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. A
summary of the foreign currency forward contracts is as follows:
As of December 31,
2011
2010
(In thousands)

Notional value
Fair value of notional
Gross and net fair value asset (liability)

$28,671
28,516
$ 155
83

$29,117
29,454
$ (337)
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The following is a summary of the Company’s securities available-for-sale:
Amortized

Gross
unrealized

Gross
unrealized

Estimated

cost

gains

losses

fair value

(In thousands)

As of December 31, 2011
U.S. government obligations
Municipal securities
Corporate bonds
Total securities available-for-sale

$ 53,832
20,613
2,028
$ 76,473

$ 1,628
7
10
$ 1,645

$

As of December 31, 2010
U.S. government obligations
Municipal securities
Corporate bonds
Total securities available-for-sale

$ 40,383
29,150
2,056
$ 71,589

$

$

$

$

968
14
—
982

$

—
(8)
—
(8)

$55,460
20,612
2,038
$78,110

—
(19)
—
(19)

$41,351
29,145
2,056
$72,552

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of securities available-for-sale:
As of December 31,
2011
2010
(In thousands)

Less than one year
Due in 1 — 5 years
Total securities available-for-sale

$31,554
46,556
$78,110

$23,593
48,959
$72,552

Proceeds from the maturities and sale of securities available-for-sale during 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $27.4 million, $65.4 million and
$22.1 million, respectively.
The following table provides fair values and unrealized losses on securities available-for-sale and by the aging of the securities’ continuous
unrealized loss position:

As of December 31, 2011
U.S. government obligations
Municipal securities
Corporate bonds
Total
As of December 31, 2010
U.S. government obligations
Municipal securities
Corporate bonds
Total

Less than Twelve
Months
Estimated
Gross
unrealized
fair
value
losses

Estimated

$

—
(8)
—
(8)

$

—
(19)
—
(19)

$

—
9,529
—
$ 9,529

$

$

$

—
18,218
—
$18,218

$

$
84

Twelve Months or More
Gross
unrealized

Total
Estimated

fair
value
losses
(In thousands)

$

$

—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

$

Gross
unrealized

fair
value

losses

—
—
—
—

$

—
9,529
—
$ 9,529

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

—
18,218
—
$18,218

$

$

—
(8)
—
(8)
—
(19)
—
(19)
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5.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets principally relate to the acquisitions of Greenline Financial Technologies, Inc. (“Greenline”) in 2008 and
Trade West Systems, LLC in 2007. Goodwill was $31.8 million as of both December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010. Intangible assets that are
subject to amortization, including the related accumulated amortization, are comprised of the following:
December 31,
2011
Accumulated
Cost

Technology
Customer relationships
Non-competition agreements
Tradenames
Total

$4,010
3,530
1,260
590
$9,390

Net Carrying

Amortization

$

$

(3,202)
(1,999)
(962)
(467)
(6,630)

December 31,
2010
Accumulated

Amount
Cost
(In thousands)

$

$

808
1,531
298
123
2,760

$4,010
3,530
1,260
590
$9,390

Net Carrying

Amortization

$

$

(2,505)
(1,584)
(710)
(363)
(5,162)

Amount

$

$

1,505
1,946
550
227
4,228

Amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets was $1.5 million for both the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010. Estimated total amortization expense is $1.4 million for 2012, $0.5 million for 2013, $0.3 million for 2014 and $0.2 million for each of
2015 and 2016.
6.

Capitalized Software, Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Capitalized software development costs, furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization, are comprised of the following:
As of December 31,
2011
2010
(In thousands)

Software development costs
Computer hardware and related software
Office hardware
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Computer hardware under capital lease
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total capitalized software, furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net of
accumulated depreciation and amortization

$ 24,440
11,126
1,832
1,446
4,667
1,419
(30,470)

$ 21,195
13,534
1,630
1,449
4,582
1,419
(31,264)

$ 14,460

$ 12,545

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, software development costs totaling $4.1 million, $1.9 million and $1.9
million, respectively, were capitalized. Non-capitalized software costs and routine maintenance costs are expensed as incurred and are included
in employee compensation and benefits and professional and consulting fees in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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7.

Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes consists of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2010
(In thousands)

2011

Current:
Federal
State and local
Foreign
Total current provision
Deferred:
Federal
State and local
Foreign
Total deferred provision
Provision for income taxes

$ 3,605
2,793
1,194
7,592

$

—
355
1,348
1,703

20,531
2,890
16
23,437
$31,029

14,494
3,170
115
17,779
$19,482

2009

$ (308)
57
2,022
1,771
6,763
5,014
399
12,176
$13,947

Pre-tax income from U.S. operations was $74.3 million, $46.1 million and $21.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively. Pre-tax income from foreign operations was $4.4 million, $4.8 million and $8.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
The difference between the Company’s reported provision for income taxes and the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% is as follows:

2011

U.S. federal tax at statutory rate
State and local taxes — net of federal benefit
Stock compensation
Change in rates for deferred tax assets
Tax-exempt interest income
Other, net
Provision for income taxes

35.0%
5.2
(0.1)
(0.2)
(0.0)
(0.5)
39.4%
86

Year Ended
December 31,
2010

35.0%
4.6
(0.1)
(0.1)
(0.1)
(1.1)
38.3%

2009

35.0%
6.1
1.2
5.2
(0.6)
(0.5)
46.4%
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During 2009, the Company reduced the income tax rates used for recording net deferred tax assets to reflect the tax rates anticipated to be
in effect when the temporary differences are expected to reverse, resulting in a decrease in net deferred tax assets and an increase in tax expense
of $1.6 million. The 2009 tax rate change reflected a refinement in the Company’s state and local tax apportionment methodology. The
following is a summary of the Company’s net deferred tax assets:
As of December 31,
2011
2010
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets
U.S net operating loss carryforwards
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards
Depreciation and amortization
Stock compensation expense
Tax credits
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation and amortization
Capitalized software development costs
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets, net

$ 4,589
165
—
5,312
—
3,280
13,346
(287)
13,059

$ 6,935
237
789
6,945
6,035
1,958
22,899
(249)
22,650

(1,905)
(1,980)
(1,085)
$ 8,089

—
(1,210)
(1,627)
$19,813

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had deferred tax assets associated with stock-based compensation of approximately $5.3 million.
There is a risk that the ultimate tax benefit realized upon the exercise of stock options or vesting of restricted stock could be less than the tax
benefit previously recognized and exhaust the additional-paid-in-capital pool. If this should occur, any excess tax benefit previously recognized
would be reversed, resulting in an increase in tax expense. Since the tax benefit to be realized in the future is unknown, it is not currently
possible to estimate the impact on the deferred tax balance. As of December 31, 2011, the additional paid-in-capital pool, which is determined
under a one pool approach for employee and non-employee awards, was approximately $27.9 million. The additional paid-in-capital pool is
currently sufficient to absorb a complete write-off of the stock-based compensation deferred tax asset.
As of December 31, 2011, the Company had restricted U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $12.3 million, which
begin to expire in 2021, and $0.7 million of foreign loss carryforwards, which begin to expire in 2025. In 2001 and 2000, MarketAxess Holdings
Inc. and MarketAxess Corporation had an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Net operating loss
carryforwards relating to the ownership change were $23.2 million as of December 31, 2011. However, only $4.0 million is deemed utilizable
and recognized as a net operating loss carryforward. Greenline experienced an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code in 2008. The Company does not believe that this ownership change significantly impacts the ability to utilize acquired
net operating loss carryforwards, which amounted to $8.3 million as of December 31, 2011. In addition, the Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards may be subject to additional annual limitations if there is a 50% or greater change in the Company’s ownership, as determined
over a rolling three-year period.
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The Company issued warrants to certain broker-dealer stockholders at the time that they made an equity investment in the Company. All of
the warrants were exercised prior to 2008. Through December 31, 2009, the tax benefit on a portion of the tax deduction generated on the
exercise of the warrants had not yet been recorded. During 2010, the Company recognized a portion of the tax benefits amounting to $11.4
million as an increase to additional paid-in-capital due to the utilization of the related tax loss carryforwards of $31.0 million. During the first
quarter of 2011, the Company recognized the remaining portion of the tax benefit, amounting to $4.2 million, as an increase to additional paidin-capital due to the expected utilization of the related tax loss carryforwards of $10.4 million.
The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in
which the temporary differences become deductible. If it is not more likely than not that some portion or all of the gross deferred income tax
assets will be realized in future years, a valuation allowance is recorded. As of December 31, 2011, the valuation allowance relates to certain
foreign and state tax loss carryforwards that are not expected to be realized. A summary of the changes in the valuation allowance follows:
2011

Valuation allowance at beginning of year
Increase (decrease) to valuation allowance attributable to:
Net operating losses
Temporary differences
Tax credits
Valuation allowance at end of year

Year Ended December 31,
2010
2009
(In thousands)

$249

$ 666

$ 567

38
—
—
$287

(132)
—
(285)
$ 249

39
186
(126)
$ 666

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files U.S. federal, state and foreign income tax returns. No income tax returns have been audited,
with the exception of New York city (through 2003) and state (through 2006) and Connecticut state (through 2003) tax returns. An examination
of the Company’s New York state franchise tax returns for 2007 through 2009 is currently underway. The Company cannot estimate when the
examination will conclude.
As of December 31, 2011, the Company has unrecognized tax benefits of $3.6 million. If recognized, this entire amount would impact the
effective tax rate. The Company currently anticipates the amount of unrecognized tax benefits to increase by approximately $0.4 million by
December 31, 2012. A reconciliation of the unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at beginning of year
Additions for tax positions of prior years
Additions for tax positions of current year
Reductions for tax positions of prior years
Balance at end of year
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2011

2010
(In thousands)

2009

$3,329
366
—
(48)
$3,647

$2,924
277
128
—
$3,329

$2,685
239
—
—
$2,924
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8.

Related Parties

The Company generates commissions, technology products and services revenues, information and user access fees, investment income
and other income and related accounts receivable balances from the Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients or their affiliates. In addition, the
Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients act in a custodial and cash management capacity for the Company. The Company also maintained an account
with and paid commissions to a Stockholder Broker-Dealer Client in connection with the Company’s share repurchase program. The Company
also incurs bank fees in connection with these arrangements. As of the dates and for the periods indicated below, the Company had the following
balances and transactions with the Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients or their affiliates:
As of December 31,
2011
2010
(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents
Securities and cash provided as collateral
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable

$156,982
550
2,255
86
2011

Commissions
Technology products and services
Information and user access fees
Investment income
Other income
General and administrative

$7,045
167
176
90
66
73

$110,642
4,049
829
66

Year Ended December 31,
2010
2009
(In thousands)

$5,541
16
132
113
63
27

$14,103
35
243
214
152
79

In 2001, the Company awarded 289,581 shares of common stock to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer at $3.60 per share, which
vested over a three-year period. The common stock was issued in exchange for four eleven-year promissory notes that bore interest at the
applicable federal rate and were collateralized by the subscribed shares. In July 2010, the loan and interest receivable were paid in full.
9.

Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had 110,000,000 authorized shares of common stock and 10,000,000 authorized shares
of non-voting common stock. Common stock entitles the holder to one vote per share of common stock held. Non-voting common stock is
convertible on a one-for-one basis into shares of voting common stock at any time subject to a limitation on conversion to the extent such
conversion would result in a stockholder, together with its affiliates, owning more than 9.99% of the outstanding shares of common stock.
In June 2010, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a share repurchase program for up to $30.0 million of the Company’s
common stock. The share repurchase program was completed in December 2010. A total of 1,939,620 shares were repurchased at an aggregate
cost of $30.0 million over the life of the repurchase program. Shares repurchased under the program are held in treasury for future use.
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In October 2011, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a share repurchase program for up to $35.0 million of the Company’s
common stock. As of December 31, 2011, a total of 237,998 shares were repurchased at an aggregate cost of $6.9 million. Shares repurchased
under the program are held in treasury for future use.
Series B Preferred Stock Conversion
During 2008, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with two funds managed by
Technology Crossover Ventures (the “Purchasers”), pursuant to which the Company sold to the Purchasers (i) 35,000 shares of the Company’s
Series B Preferred Stock, which shares were convertible into an aggregate of 3,500,000 shares of common stock, and (ii) warrants (the
“Warrants”) to purchase an aggregate of 700,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per share, for an aggregate purchase
price of $35.0 million. The net proceeds, after the placement agent fee and legal fees, were $33.5 million.
The shares of Series B Preferred Stock were convertible at any time by the holders thereof at a conversion price of $10.00 per share,
subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments and also were subject to automatic conversion into shares of common stock if the closing price of the
common stock was at least $17.50 on each trading day for a period of 65 consecutive trading days. In January 2011, all of the shares of the
Series B Preferred Stock were mandatorily and automatically converted into 3,499,999 shares of common stock.
The Warrants were exercisable for cash or on a net exercise basis, subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments and due to expire on the tenth
anniversary of the date they were first issued. In November 2011, a total of 455,465 shares of common stock were issued upon the exercise of
the Warrants on a net exercise basis.
Dividends
The Company initiated a regular quarterly dividend in the fourth quarter of 2009. In January 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors
approved a quarterly cash dividend of $0.11 per share payable on March 1, 2012 to stockholders of record as of the close of business on
February 16, 2012. Any future declaration and payment of dividends will be at the sole discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors. The
Board of Directors may take into account such matters as general business conditions, the Company’s financial results, capital requirements,
contractual, legal, and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends to the Company’s stockholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries to
the parent and any such other factors as the Board of Directors may deem relevant.
10.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company has three stock incentive plans which provide for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
performance shares, performance units, or other stock-based awards as incentives and rewards to encourage employees, consultants and nonemployee directors to participate in the long-term success of the Company. As of December 31, 2011, there were 3,902,269 shares available for
grant under the stock incentive plans.
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Total stock-based compensation expense was as follows:
2011

Employee:
Restricted stock and performance shares
Stock options
Non-employee directors:
Restricted stock
Stock options
Total stock-based compensation

Year Ended December 31,
2010
2009
(In thousands)

$5,856
324
6,180

$6,588
1,728
8,316

$5,040
2,858
7,898

679
—
679
$6,859

570
83
653
$8,969

373
143
516
$8,414

The Company records stock-based compensation expense for employees in employee compensation and benefits and for non-employee
directors in general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Stock Options
The exercise price of each option granted is equal to the market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Generally,
option grants have provided for vesting over a three or five-year period. Options expire ten years from the date of grant. The fair value of each
option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The determination of fair value of share-based
payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by the Company’s stock price as well as assumptions regarding a
number of highly complex and subjective variables, including the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, the risk-free
interest rate and the expected term. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock and a peer group. The risk-free
interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury securities with a maturity value approximating the expected term of the option. The expected term
represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding based on actual and projected employee stock option exercise
behavior.
The weighted-average fair value for options granted during 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $11.29, $5.45 and $4.60, respectively. The following
table represents the assumptions used for the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the per share weighted-average fair value for
options granted for the three years ended December 31, 2011:
Expected life (years)
Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
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2011

2010

2009

9.9
3.3%
48.0%
1.3%

5.0
2.2%
50.0%
2.0%

5.4
2.4%
49.8%
0.0%
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The following table reports stock option activity during the three years ended December 31, 2011 and the intrinsic value as of
December 31, 2011:

Number of
Shares

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Remaining
Contractual
Term

Intrinsic Value

(In thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2008
Granted
Canceled
Exercised

5,287,175
140,239
(199,932)
(60,924)

$ 9.17
$ 9.66
$ 11.07
$ 9.54

Outstanding at December 31, 2009
Granted
Canceled
Exercised

5,166,558
8,239
(12,575)
(758,660)

$ 9.10
$ 14.10
$ 13.85
$ 9.17

Outstanding at December 31, 2010
Granted
Canceled
Exercised

4,403,562
340,771
(211,323)
(1,605,273)

$ 9.09
$ 21.60
$ 16.16
$ 10.21

4.4

Outstanding at December 31, 2011

2,927,737

$

9.42

Exercisable at December 31, 2011

2,679,941

$

8.36

$

24,192

8.1

$

60,589

8.1

$

58,287

The intrinsic value is the amount by which the closing price of the Company’s common stock on December 31, 2011 of $30.11 or the price
on the day of exercise exceeds the exercise price of the stock options multiplied by the number of shares. As of December 31, 2011, there was
$2.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2.3 years.
Restricted Stock and Performance Shares
Shares of restricted stock generally vest over a period of three years. Compensation expense is measured at the grant date and recognized
ratably over the vesting period. Performance share awards are granted to certain senior managers. Each performance share award is earned or
forfeited based on the level of achievement by the Company of pre-tax operating income on a per share basis before performance share and cash
bonus expense. The pay-out ranges from zero to 150% of the performance share award. For each performance share earned, a participant is
awarded an equal number of shares of restricted stock. Any restricted stock awarded to a participant vests and ceases to be restricted stock in two
equal installments on each of the second and third anniversaries of the date of grant of the applicable performance share award. Compensation
expense for performance shares is measured at the grant date and recognized on a graded basis over the vesting period. The pay-out achievement
was 146%, 150% and 150% of the performance award for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The following table reports performance share
activity for the three years ended December 31, 2011:
Performance year

Share pay-out at plan, net of forfeitures of 14,563 for 2011
Actual share pay-out in following year
Fair value per share on grant date
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2011

2010

2009

63,102
94,653
$ 21.56

87,035
130,552
$ 14.29

137,778
206,664
$
7.94
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The following table reports restricted stock and performance share activity during the three years ended December 31, 2011:
WeightedAverage
Grant Date Fair
Number of
Restricted Shares

Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2008
Granted
Canceled
Vested

647,994
659,520
(500)
(272,875)

$

12.14

Outstanding at December 31, 2009
Granted
Performance share pay-out
Canceled
Vested

1,034,139
549,264
206,664
(71,152)
(474,051)

$

9.64

Outstanding at December 31, 2010
Granted
Performance share pay-out
Canceled
Vested

1,244,864
435,548
130,552
(279,081)
(574,172)

$

11.23

Outstanding at December 31, 2011

957,711

$

15.69

As of December 31, 2011, there was $9.9 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested restricted stock and
performance shares. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.
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11.

Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share:
2011

Basic EPS
Net income
Amount allocable to common shareholders
Net income applicable to common stock
Common stock — voting
Common stock — non-voting
Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share
Diluted EPS
Net income
Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive shares:
Series B Preferred Stock
Stock options, restricted stock and warrants
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding
Diluted earnings per share

Year Ended December 31,
2010
2009
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$47,704
100.0%
$47,704
34,420
2,586
37,006
$ 1.29

$31,428
90.5%
$28,427
30,573
2,586
33,159
$ 0.86

$16,102
90.5%
$14,569
30,678
2,586
33,264
$ 0.44

$47,704
37,006

$31,428
33,159

$16,102
33,264

—
2,602
39,608
$ 1.20

3,500
2,392
39,051
$ 0.80

3,500
1,318
38,082
$ 0.42

Stock options, restricted stock and warrants totaling 0.3 million shares, 0.4 million shares and 3.6 million shares for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect would
have been antidilutive. The computation of diluted shares can vary among periods due, in part, to the change in the average price of the
Company’s common stock.
12.

Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases office space and equipment under non-cancelable lease agreements expiring at various dates through 2022. Office
space leases are subject to escalation based on certain costs incurred by the landlord. Minimum rental commitments as of December 31, 2011
under such operating and capital leases were as follows:
Operating
Year Ending December 31,

Capital

Leases
Leases
(In thousands)

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017 and thereafter
Minimum lease payments
Less amount representing interest

$ 1,805
1,790
1,756
2,014
2,027
10,159
19,551
—
$ 19,551
94

$ 336
322
42
—
—
—
700
52
$ 648
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Rental expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $2.5 million, $2.7 million and $2.7 million, respectively, and
is included in occupancy expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Rental expense has been recorded based on the total minimum
lease payments after giving effect to rent abatement and concessions, which are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.
The Company is contingently obligated for standby letters of credit amounting to $1.7 million that were issued to landlords for office space.
In 2008, the Company assigned the lease agreement on a leased property to a third party. The Company is contingently liable should the
assignee default on future lease obligations through the November 2015 lease termination date. The aggregate amount of future lease obligations
under this arrangement is $1.4 million as of December 31, 2011.
The Company, through two regulated subsidiaries, executes certain bond transactions between and among institutional investor and brokerdealer clients on a riskless principal basis by serving as counterparty to both the buyer and the seller in matching back-to-back trades, which are
then settled through a third-party clearing organization. The Company acts as intermediary on a riskless principal basis in these bond transactions
by serving as counterparty to the two clients involved. Settlement typically occurs within one to three trading days after the trade date. Cash
settlement of the transaction occurs upon receipt or delivery of the underlying instrument that was traded. Under securities clearing agreements
with the independent third party, the Company maintains a collateral deposit with the clearing broker in the form of cash. As of December 31,
2011, the amount of the collateral deposit included in securities and cash provided as collateral in the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition was $0.9 million. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event a counterparty does not fulfill its obligation to complete a
transaction. Pursuant to the terms of the securities clearing agreements between the Company and the independent clearing broker, the clearing
broker has the right to charge the Company for losses resulting from a counterparty’s failure to fulfill its contractual obligations. The losses are
not capped at a maximum amount and apply to all trades executed through the clearing broker. At December 31, 2011, the Company had not
recorded any liabilities with regard to this right.
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts that contain a variety of representations, warranties and general
indemnifications. The Company’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be
made against the Company that have not yet occurred. However, based on experience, the Company expects the risk of loss to be remote.
13.

Segment Information

As an electronic multi-dealer platform for the trading of fixed-income securities, the Company’s operations constitute a single business
segment. Because of the highly integrated nature of the financial markets in which the Company competes and the integration of the Company’s
worldwide business activities, the Company believes that results by geographic region or client sector are not necessarily meaningful in
understanding its business.
14.

Retirement Savings Plans

The Company, through its U.S. and U.K. subsidiaries, offers its employees the opportunity to invest in defined contribution plans. For the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company contributed $1.2 million, $0.9 million and $0.6 million, respectively, to the plans.
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15.

Customer Concentration

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, no single client accounted for more than 10% of total revenue. One
institutional investor client accounted for approximately 14.6%, 15.8% and 12.1% of trading volumes during the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. This institutional investor client also beneficially owns approximately 5% of the outstanding shares of the
Company’s common stock.
16.

Subsequent Events

The Company has performed an evaluation of subsequent events through the date of issuance of the accompanying Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures.

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our “disclosure controls and procedures,” as that term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of December 31, 2011. Based on that evaluation,
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by MarketAxess in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and to ensure that information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.
(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
(c) Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Firm included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

See Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting

(d) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2011 identified in connection
with the evaluation thereof by our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, that materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B.

Other Information.

None.
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Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors,”
“Corporate Governance and Board Matters,” “Executive Officers” and “Other Matters — Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting
compliance” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement (the “Proxy Statement”) for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held in the
second quarter of 2012. The Company intends to file the Proxy Statement within 120 days after the end of its fiscal year (i.e., on or before
April 30, 2012). The Company’s Code of Conduct applicable to directors and all employees, including senior financial officers, is available on
the Company’s website at www.marketaxess.com . If the Company makes any amendments to its Code of Conduct that is required to be
disclosed pursuant to the Exchange Act, the Company will make such disclosures on its website.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,”
“Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors,” “Executive Compensation” and “Corporate Governance and Board Matters
— Directors’ compensation” in the Company’s Proxy Statement.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item with respect to the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated
herein by reference to the section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the Company’s Proxy
Statement.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides certain information regarding common stock authorized for issuance under the Company’s equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2011.
Number of Securities
to be Issued upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options,
Warrants and Rights
Plan Category

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and
Rights
(b)

(a)

Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
stockholders(2)
Total

Future Issuance under
Equity Compensation
Plans (Excluding
Securities Reflected in
Column (a))
(c)

2,038,848

$

12.34

3,902,269

888,889
2,927,737

$
$

2.70
9.42

—
3,902,269

(1)

These plans consist of the Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective April 28, 2006), 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan and 2000 Stock Incentive Plan.

(2)

Represents the grant of a stock option made in February 2003 to a senior officer. This option is fully vested.

Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions” in the Company’s Proxy Statement.
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Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Proposal 2 — Ratification of Selection of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Audit and other fees” in the Company’s Proxy Statement.
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Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules
The financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Financial statement schedules have been omitted
since they are either not required, not applicable, or the information is otherwise included.
(b) Exhibit Listing
Number

Description

3.1
3.2*
3.3

Intentionally omitted
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
Intentionally omitted

3.4*
3.5

Amended and Restated Bylaws
Form of Certificate of Designation of Series A Preferred Stock of MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A dated June 3, 2008)
Specimen Common Stock certificate

4.1*
4.2*
4.3*
10.1
10.2
10.3*
10.4
10.5
10.6*
10.7**
10.8
10.9*
10.10(a)

10.10(b)

Sixth Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement
See Exhibits 3.2 and 3.4 for provisions defining the rights of holders of common stock and non-voting common stock of the
registrant
Letter Agreement, dated January 19, 2011, by and between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and Richard M. McVey (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 14, 2011)#
Intentionally omitted
Stock Option Agreement, dated February 7, 2003, by and between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and Richard M. McVey#
Intentionally omitted
Intentionally omitted
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan#
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Incentive Plan#
Intentionally omitted
Amendment to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2001 and 2000 Stock Incentive Plans#
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by
reference to Appendix A to the registrant’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting for Stockholders held on June 7, 2006,
filed on May 1, 2006)#
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (amended
and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the registrant’s Proxy Statement for its
Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on June 7, 2006, filed on May 1, 2006)#
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Number

Description

10.10(c)

Form of Non Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan
(amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the registrant’s Proxy Statement
for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on June 7, 2006, filed on May 1, 2006)#
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Annual Performance Incentive Plan#
Form of Indemnification Agreement
Form of Performance Share Award Agreement for Richard M. McVey pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008)#
Form of Performance Share Award Agreement for Employees other than Richard M. McVey pursuant to the MarketAxess
Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008)#
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Employees other than Richard M. McVey pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings
Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008)#
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for Employees other than Richard M. McVey pursuant to the MarketAxess
Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008)#
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for Mr. McVey pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive
Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008)#
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Richard M. McVey pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive
Plan (Amended and Restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated January 23, 2009)#
MarketAxess Severance Pay Plan, effective August 1, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28(a) to the registrant’s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 filed on March 3, 2009)#
Amendment No. 1 to MarketAxess Severance Pay Plan, dated as of December 17, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.28(b) to the registrant’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 filed on March 3, 2009)#
Guidelines for Restricted Stock Units granted under the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (amended and
restated effective as of April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated January 19, 2011)#
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for employees other than Richard M. McVey pursuant to the MarketAxess
Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 19, 2011)#
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Richard M. McVey pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 19, 2011)#

10.11*
10.12*
10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19(a)
10.19(b)
10.20

10.21

10.22
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10.23

10.24
21.1**
23.1**
31.1**
31.2**
32.1**
32.2**
*
**
#

Description

Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated January 19, 2011, by and between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and Richard M.
McVey Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated January 19, 2011, by and between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and Richard
M. McVey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 19, 2011)#
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated January 19, 2011, by and between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and Richard M. McVey
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 19, 2011)#
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Certification by Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification by Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Incorporated by reference to the identically-numbered exhibit to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended
(Registration No. 333-112718).
Filed herewith.
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
By: /s/ R ICHARD M. M C V EY
Richard M. McVey
Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 17, 2012
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
Signature

Title(s)

Date

/S/

R ICHARD M. M C V EY
Richard M. McVey

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of
Directors (principal executive officer)

February 17, 2012

/ S/

A NTONIO L. D E L ISE
Antonio L. DeLise

Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and
accounting officer)

February 17, 2012

S HARON B ROWN -H RUSKA
Sharon Brown-Hruska

Director

February 17, 2012

/ S/

/ S/

R OGER B URKHARDT
Roger Burkhardt

Director

February 17, 2012

/S/

S TEPHEN P. C ASPER
Stephen P. Casper

Director

February 17, 2012

/ S/
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David G. Gomach

Director

February 17, 2012

/S/

C ARLOS H ERNANDEZ
Carlos Hernandez

Director

February 17, 2012

/S/
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Ronald M. Hersch

Director

February 17, 2012

/ S/
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Nicolas S. Rohatyn

Director
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John Steinhardt

Director
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
2001 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
ARTICLE I
PURPOSE
The purpose of this MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan is to enhance the profitability and value of the Company for the
benefit of its stockholders by enabling the Company to offer employees of, Consultants (as defined below) to and Non-Employee Directors (as
defined below) of the Company and its Affiliates (as defined below) stock-based incentives in the Company, thereby creating a means to raise
the level of equity ownership by such individuals in order to attract, retain and reward such individuals and strengthen the mutuality of interests
between such individuals and the Company’s stockholders.
ARTICLE II
DEFINITIONS
For purposes of this Plan, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
2.1

“Acquisition Events” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(d).

2.2 “Affiliate” means each of the following: (a) any Subsidiary; (b) any Parent; (c) any corporation, trade or business (including, without
limitation, a partnership or limited liability company) which is directly or indirectly controlled fifty percent (50%) or more (whether by
ownership of stock, assets or an equivalent ownership interest or voting interest) by the Company or one of its Affiliates; and (d) any other entity
in which the Company or any of its Affiliates has a material equity interest and which is designated as an “Affiliate” by resolution of the
Committee.
2.3

“Award” means any award under this Plan of a Stock Option and/or Restricted Stock.

2.4

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

2.5 “Cause” means, with respect to a Participant’s Termination of Employment or Termination of Consultancy, the following: (a) in the
case where there is no employment agreement, consulting agreement, change in control agreement or similar agreement in effect between the
Company or an Affiliate and the Participant at the time of the grant of the Award (or where there is such an agreement but it does not define
“cause” (or words of like import)), termination due to a Participant’s insubordination, dishonesty, fraud, incompetence, moral turpitude, willful
misconduct, refusal to perform his or her duties or responsibilities for any reason other than illness or incapacity or materially unsatisfactory
performance of his or her duties for the Company or an Affiliate, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion; or (b) in the case where
there is an employment agreement, consulting agreement, change in control agreement or similar agreement in effect between the Company or
an Affiliate and the

Participant at the time of the grant of the Award that defines “cause” (or words of like import), “cause” as defined under such agreement;
provided, however, that with regard to any agreement under which the definition of “cause” only applies on occurrence of a change in control,
such definition of “cause” shall not apply until a change in control actually takes place and then only with regard to a termination thereafter.
With respect to a Participant’s Termination of Directorship, “cause” means an act or failure to act that constitutes cause for removal of a director
under applicable Delaware law.
2.6

“Change in Control” has the meaning set forth in Article IX.

2.7

“Change in Control Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1(b).

2.8 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Any reference to any section of the Code shall also be a reference to
any successor provision and any Treasury Regulation promulgated thereunder.
2.9 “Committee” means: ( a) with respect to the application of this Plan to Eligible Employees and Consultants, a committee or
subcommittee of the Board appointed from time to time by the Board, except that on or after the Registration Date, the Committee shall be a
committee or subcommittee of the Board appointed from time to time which shall consist solely of two (2) or more non-employee directors, each
of whom is intended to be, to the extent required by Rule 16b-3, a “non-employee director” as defined in Rule 16b-3; and (b) with respect to the
application of this Plan to Non-Employee Directors, the Board. If for any reason the appointed Committee does not meet the requirements of
Rule 16b-3 such noncompliance shall not affect the validity of grants, interpretations or other actions of the Committee. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if, and to the extent that no Committee exists which has the authority to administer this Plan, the functions of the Committee shall be
exercised by the Board and all references herein to the Committee shall be deemed to be references to the Board.
2.10

“Common Stock” means the common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company.

2.11

“Company” means MarketAxess Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its successors by operation of law.

2.12

“Consultant” means any Person who is an advisor or consultant to the Company or its Affiliates.

2.13 “Detrimental Activity” means: (a) the disclosure to anyone outside the Company or its Affiliates, or the use in any manner other
than in the furtherance of the Company’s or its Affiliate’s business, without written authorization from the Company, of any confidential
information or proprietary information, relating to the business of the Company or its Affiliates that is acquired by a Participant prior to the
Participant’s Termination; (b) activity while employed or performing services that results, or if known could result, in the Participant’s
Termination that is classified by the Company as a termination for Cause; (c) any attempt, directly or indirectly, to solicit, induce or hire (or the
identification for solicitation, inducement or hiring of) any non-clerical employee of the Company or its Affiliates to be employed by, or to
perform services for, the Participant or any Person with which the Participant is associated
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(including, but not limited to, due to the Participant’s employment by, consultancy for, equity interest in, or creditor relationship with such
Person) or any Person from which the Participant receives direct or indirect compensation or fees as a result of such solicitation, inducement or
hire (or the identification for solicitation, inducement or hire) without, in all cases, written authorization from the Company; (d) any attempt,
directly or indirectly, to solicit in a competitive manner any current or prospective customer of the Company or its Affiliates without, in all
cases, written authorization from the Company; (e) the Participant’s Disparagement, or inducement of others to do so, of the Company or its
Affiliates or their past and present officers, directors, employees or products; (f) without written authorization from the Company, the rendering
of services for any organization, or engaging, directly or indirectly, in any business, which is competitive with the Company or its Affiliates, or
the rendering of services to such organization or business if such organization or business is otherwise prejudicial to or in conflict with the
interests of the Company or its Affiliates provided, however, that competitive activities shall only be those competitive with any business unit or
Affiliate of the Company with regard to which the Participant performed services at any time within the two (2) years prior to the Participant’s
Termination; or (g) breach of any agreement between the Participant and the Company or an Affiliate (including, without limitation, any
employment agreement or noncompetition or nonsolicitation agreement). Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at grant, Detrimental
Activity shall not be deemed to occur after the end of the one year period following the Participant’s Termination. For purposes of sub-sections
(a), (c), (d) and (f) above, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company shall each have authority to provide the Participant with written
authorization to engage in the activities contemplated thereby and no other person shall have authority to provide the Participant with such
authorization.
2.14 “Disability” means, with respect to a Participant’s Termination, a permanent and total disability as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the
Code. A Disability shall only be deemed to occur at the time of the determination by the Committee of the Disability.
2.15 “Disparagement” means making comments or statements to the press, the Company’s or its Affiliates’ employees, consultants or
any individual or entity with whom the Company or its Affiliates has a business relationship which could reasonably be expected to adversely
affect in any manner: (a) the conduct of the business of the Company or its Affiliates (including, without limitation, any products or business
plans or prospects); or (b) the business reputation of the Company or its Affiliates, or any of their products, or their past or present officers,
directors or employees.
2.16

“Effective Date” means the effective date of this Plan as defined in Article XIV.

2.17

“Eligible Employee” means each employee of the Company or an Affiliate.

2.18 “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Any references to any section of the Exchange Act shall
also be a reference to any successor provision.
2.19 “Fair Market Value” means, for purposes of this Plan, unless otherwise required by any applicable provision of the Code or any
regulations issued thereunder, as of any date and except as provided below, the last sales price reported for the Common Stock on the applicable
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date: (a) as reported on the principal national securities exchange in the United States on which it is then traded or The Nasdaq Stock Market; or
(b) if not traded on any such national securities exchange or The Nasdaq Stock Market, as quoted on an automated quotation system sponsored
by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or if the Common Stock shall not have been reported or quoted on such date, on the first
day prior thereto on which the Common Stock was reported or quoted; provided, that the Committee may modify the definition of Fair Market
Value to reflect any changes in the trading practices of any exchange on which the Common Stock is listed or traded. If the Common Stock is
not readily tradable on a national securities exchange, The Nasdaq Stock Market or any automated quotation system sponsored by the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., its Fair Market Value shall be set in good faith by the Committee. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, for purposes of granting Incentive Stock Options, “Fair Market Value” means the price for Common Stock set by the Committee in
good faith based on reasonable methods set forth under Section 422 of the Code including, without limitation, a method utilizing the average of
prices of the Common Stock reported on the principal national securities exchange on which it is then traded during a reasonable period
designated by the Committee. For purposes of the grant of any Stock Option, the applicable date shall be the date on which the Stock Option is
granted.
2.20 “Family Member” means, solely to the extent provided for in Rule 701 under the Securities Act or, following the filing of a
Securities Act Form S-8 with respect to the Plan, solely to the extent provided for in Securities Act Form S-8, any child, stepchild, grandchild,
parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse, former spouse, sibling, niece, nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law,
brother-in-law, or sister-in-law, including adoptive relationships, any person sharing the employee’s household (other than a tenant or
employee), a trust in which these persons have more than fifty percent (50%) of the beneficial interest, a foundation in which these persons (or
the employee) control the management of assets, and any other entity in which these persons (or the employee) own more than fifty percent
(50%) of the voting interests or as otherwise defined in Rule 701 under the Securities Act or Securities Act Form S-8, as applicable.
2.21 “Good Reason” means, with respect to a Participant’s Termination: (a) in the case where there is no employment agreement,
consulting agreement, change in control agreement or similar agreement in effect between the Company or an Affiliate and the Participant at the
time of the grant of the Award (or where there is such an agreement but it does not define “good reason” (or words or a concept of like import)),
a voluntary termination due to good reason, as the Committee, in its sole discretion, decides to treat as a Good Reason termination; or (b) in the
case where there is an employment agreement, consulting agreement, change in control agreement or similar agreement in effect between the
Company or an Affiliate and the Participant at the time of the grant of the Award that defines “good reason” (or words or a concept of like
import), a termination due to good reason (or words or a concept of like import), as defined in such agreement at the time of the grant of the
Award, and for purposes of the Plan, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion; provided that any definition that is effective under an
employment agreement, consulting agreement, change in control agreement or similar agreement after a change in control shall only be effective
for purposes of this Plan after a change in control.
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2.22 “Incentive Stock Option” means any Stock Option awarded to an Eligible Employee under this Plan intended to be and designated
as an “Incentive Stock Option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
2.23

“Non-Employee Director” means a director of the Company who is not an active employee of the Company or an Affiliate.

2.24

“Non-Qualified Stock Option” means any Stock Option awarded under this Plan that is not an Incentive Stock Option.

2.25

“Parent” means any parent corporation of the Company within the meaning of Section 424(e) of the Code.

2.26

“Participant” means any Eligible Employee, Non-Employee Director or Consultant to whom an Award has been granted under this

Plan.
2.27 “Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, firm, joint venture, association, joint-stock
company, trust, incorporated organization, governmental or regulatory or other entity.
2.28

“Plan” means this MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time.

2.29 “Registration Date” means the first date (a) on which the Company sells its Common Stock in a bona fide, firm commitment
underwriting pursuant to a registration statement under the Securities Act or (b) any class of common equity securities of the Company are
required to be registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act.
2.30

“Restricted Stock” means an Award of shares of Common Stock under this Plan that is subject to the restrictions under Article VII.

2.31

“Restriction Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3 with respect to Restricted Stock.

2.32 “Retirement” means a Termination of a Participant’s employment or consultancy without Cause at or after age sixty-five (65) or
such earlier date after age fifty (50) as may be approved by the Committee with regard to such Participant. With respect to a Participant’s
Termination of Directorship, Retirement means the failure to stand for reelection or the failure to be reelected on or after a Participant has
attained age sixty-five (65) or, with the consent of the Board, before age sixty-five (65) but after age fifty (50).
2.33

“Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act as then in effect or any successor provision.

2.34 “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Any reference
to any section of the Securities Act shall also be a reference to any successor provision.
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2.35 “Stock Option” or “Option” means any option to purchase shares of Common Stock granted to Eligible Employees, Non-Employee
Directors or Consultants under Article VI.
2.36

“Subsidiary” means any subsidiary corporation of the Company within the meaning of Section 424(f) of the Code.

2.37 “Ten Percent Stockholder” means a person owning stock possessing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting
power of all classes of stock of the Company, its Subsidiaries or its Parent.
2.38

“Termination” means a Termination of Consultancy, Termination of Directorship or Termination of Employment, as applicable.

2.39 “Termination of Consultancy” means: (a) that the Consultant is no longer acting as a consultant to the Company or an Affiliate; or
(b) when an entity which is retaining a Participant as a Consultant ceases to be an Affiliate unless the Participant otherwise is, or thereupon
becomes, a Consultant to the Company or another Affiliate at the time the entity ceases to be an Affiliate. In the event that a Consultant becomes
an Eligible Employee or a Non-Employee Director upon the termination of his or her consultancy, unless otherwise determined by the
Committee, in its sole discretion, no Termination of Consultancy shall be deemed to occur until such time as such Consultant is no longer a
Consultant, an Eligible Employee or a Non-Employee Director. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may otherwise define
Termination of Consultancy in the Award agreement or, if no rights of a Participant are reduced, may otherwise define Termination of
Consultancy thereafter.
2.40 “Termination of Directorship” means that the Non-Employee Director has ceased to be a director of the Company; except that if a
Non-Employee Director becomes an Eligible Employee or a Consultant upon the termination of his or her directorship, his or her ceasing to be a
director of the Company shall not be treated as a Termination of Directorship unless and until the Participant has a Termination of Employment
or Termination of Consultancy, as the case may be.
2.41 “Termination of Employment” means: (a) a termination of employment (for reasons other than a military or personal leave of
absence granted by the Company) of a Participant from the Company and its Affiliates; or (b) when an entity which is employing a Participant
ceases to be an Affiliate, unless the Participant otherwise is, or thereupon becomes, employed by the Company or another Affiliate at the time
the entity ceases to be an Affiliate. In the event that an Eligible Employee becomes a Consultant or a Non-Employee Director upon the
termination of his or her employment, unless otherwise determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion, no Termination of Employment shall
be deemed to occur until such time as such Eligible Employee is no longer an Eligible Employee, a Consultant or a Non-Employee Director.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may otherwise define Termination of Employment in the Award agreement or, if no rights of a
Participant are reduced, may otherwise define Termination of Employment thereafter.
2.42 “Transfer” means (a) when used as a noun, any direct or indirect transfer, sale, assignment, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance or
other disposition (including the issuance of
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equity in a Person), whether for value or no value and whether voluntary or involuntary (including by operation of law), and (b) when used as a
verb, to directly or indirectly transfer, sell, assign, pledge, encumber, charge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of (including the issuance of
equity in a Person) whether for value or for no value and whether voluntarily or involuntarily (including by operation of law). “Transferred” and
“Transferrable” shall have a correlative meaning.
ARTICLE III
ADMINISTRATION
3.1

The Committee.

The Plan shall be administered and interpreted by the Committee.

3.2 Grants of Awards. The Committee shall have full authority to grant Awards to Eligible Employees, Consultants and Non-Employee
Directors pursuant to the terms of this Plan. All Awards shall be granted by, confirmed by, and subject to the terms of, a written agreement
executed by the Company and the Participant. In particular, the Committee shall have the authority:
(a) to select the Eligible Employees, Consultants and Non-Employee Directors to whom Awards may from time to time be granted
hereunder;
(b) to determine whether and to what extent Awards are to be granted hereunder to one or more Eligible Employees, Consultants
and Non-Employee Directors;
(c) to determine, in accordance with the terms of this Plan, the number of shares of Common Stock to be covered by each Award
granted hereunder;
(d) to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan, of any Award granted hereunder (including,
but not limited to, the exercise or purchase price (if any), any restriction or limitation, any vesting schedule or acceleration thereof and any
forfeiture restrictions or waiver thereof, regarding any Award and the shares of Common Stock relating thereto, based on such factors, if
any, as the Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion);
(e) to determine whether and under what circumstances a Stock Option may be settled in cash, Common Stock and/or Restricted
Stock under Section 6.3(d);
(f) to determine whether, to what extent and under what circumstances to provide loans (which may be on a recourse basis and shall
bear interest at the rate the Committee shall provide) to Participants in order to exercise Stock Options or to purchase Awards under this
Plan (including shares of Common Stock);
(g)

to determine whether a Stock Option is an Incentive Stock Option or Non-Qualified Stock Option;
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(h) to determine whether to require an Eligible Employee, Consultant or Non-Employee Director, as a condition of the granting of
any Stock Option, not to sell or otherwise dispose of shares of Common Stock acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Option or vesting of
an Award for a period of time as determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion, following the date of the acquisition of such Award;
(i) to modify, extend or renew an Award, subject to Article X herein, provided, however, that if an Award is modified, extended or
renewed and thereby deemed to be the issuance of a new Award under the Code or the applicable accounting rules, the exercise price of a
Stock Option may continue to be the original exercise price even if less than the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock at the time of
such modification, extension or renewal; and
(j) to offer to buy out an Option previously granted, based on such terms and conditions as the Committee shall establish and
communicate to the Participant at the time such offer is made.
3.3 Guidelines. Subject to Article X hereof, the Committee shall have the authority to adopt, alter and repeal such administrative rules,
guidelines and practices governing this Plan and perform all acts, including the delegation of its administrative responsibilities, as it shall, from
time to time, deem advisable; to construe and interpret the terms and provisions of this Plan and any Award issued under this Plan (and any
agreements relating thereto); and to otherwise supervise the administration of this Plan. The Committee may correct any defect, supply any
omission or reconcile any inconsistency in this Plan or in any agreement relating thereto in the manner and to the extent it shall deem necessary
to effectuate the purpose and intent of this Plan. The Committee may adopt special guidelines and provisions for persons who are residing in or
employed in, or subject to, the taxes of, any domestic or foreign jurisdictions to comply with applicable tax and securities laws and may impose
any limitations and restrictions that it deems necessary to comply with the applicable tax and securities laws of such domestic or foreign
jurisdictions.
3.4 Decisions Final. Any decision, interpretation or other action made or taken in good faith by or at the direction of the Company, the
Board or the Committee (or any of its members) arising out of or in connection with this Plan shall be within the absolute discretion of all and
each of them, as the case may be, and shall be final, binding and conclusive on the Company and all employees and Participants and their
respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns.
3.5 Procedures. If the Committee is appointed, the Board shall designate one of the members of the Committee as chairman and the
Committee shall hold meetings, subject to the By-Laws of the Company, at such times and places as it shall deem advisable, including, without
limitation, by telephone conference or by written consent to the extent permitted by applicable law. A majority of the Committee members shall
constitute a quorum. All determinations of the Committee shall be made by a majority of its members. Any decision or determination reduced to
writing and signed by all the Committee members in accordance with the By-Laws of the Company, shall be fully as effective as if it had been
made by a vote at a meeting duly called and
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held. The Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings and shall make such rules and regulations for the conduct of its business as it shall deem
advisable.
3.6

Designation of Consultants/Liability.

(a) The Committee may designate employees of the Company and professional advisors to assist the Committee in the
administration of this Plan and may grant authority to officers to execute agreements or other documents on behalf of the Committee.
(b) The Committee may employ such legal counsel, consultants and agents as it may deem desirable for the administration of this
Plan and may rely upon any opinion received from any such counsel or consultant and any computation received from any such consultant
or agent. Expenses incurred by the Committee or the Board in the engagement of any such counsel, consultant or agent shall be paid by the
Company. The Committee, its members and any person designated pursuant to sub-section (a) above shall not be liable for any action or
determination made in good faith with respect to this Plan. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, no officer of the Company
or member or former member of the Committee or of the Board shall be liable for any action or determination made in good faith with
respect to this Plan or any Award granted under it.
3.7 Indemnification. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law and the Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of the
Company and to the extent not covered by insurance directly insuring such person, each officer and member or former member of the Committee
or the Board shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company against any cost or expense (including reasonable fees of counsel
reasonably acceptable to the Committee) or liability (including any sum paid in settlement of a claim with the approval of the Committee), and
advanced amounts necessary to pay the foregoing at the earliest time and to the fullest extent permitted, arising out of any act or omission to act
in connection with the administration of this Plan, except to the extent arising out of such officer’s, member’s or former member’s own fraud or
bad faith. Such indemnification shall be in addition to any rights of indemnification the employees, officers, directors or members or former
officers, directors or members may have under applicable law or under the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws of the Company or any
Affiliate. Notwithstanding anything else herein, this indemnification will not apply to the actions or determinations made by an individual with
regard to Awards granted to him or her under this Plan.
ARTICLE IV
SHARE AND OTHER LIMITATIONS
4.1 Shares. The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock which may be issued or used for reference purposes under this Plan or
with respect to which Awards may be granted under this Plan shall not exceed 11,716,220 shares of Common Stock (subject to any increase or
decrease pursuant to Section 4.2), which may be either authorized and unissued Common Stock or Common Stock held in or acquired for the
treasury of the Company or both. If any Stock
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Option granted under this Plan expires, terminates or is canceled for any reason without having been exercised in full or the Company
repurchases any Stock Option, the number of shares of Common Stock underlying such unexercised or repurchased Stock Option shall again be
available for the purposes of Stock Options under this Plan. If any shares of Restricted Stock awarded under this Plan to an Eligible Employee,
Consultant or Non-Employee Director are forfeited, repurchased, terminated or canceled by the Company for any reason, the number of
forfeited, repurchased, terminated or canceled shares of Restricted Stock shall again be available for the purposes of the Awards under this Plan.
In addition, in determining the number of shares of Common Stock available for Awards other than Incentive Stock Options, if Common Stock
has been delivered or exchanged by a Participant as full or partial payment to the Company for payment of the exercise price, or for payment of
withholding taxes, or if the number shares of Common Stock otherwise deliverable has been reduced for payment of the exercise price or for
payment of withholding taxes, the number of shares of Common Stock exchanged as payment in connection with the exercise or for withholding
or reduced shall again be available for purposes of Awards other than Incentive Stock Options under this Plan.
4.2

Changes.

(a) The existence of this Plan and the Awards granted hereunder shall not affect in any way the right or power of the Board or the
stockholders of the Company to make or authorize (i) any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization or other change in the Company’s
capital structure or its business, (ii) any merger or consolidation of the Company or any Affiliate, (iii) any issuance of bonds, debentures,
preferred or prior preference stock ahead of or affecting the Common Stock, (iv) the dissolution or liquidation of the Company or any
Affiliate, (v) any sale or transfer of all or part of the assets or business of the Company or any Affiliate or (vi) any other corporate act or
proceeding.
(b) Subject to the provisions of Section 4.2(d), if there shall occur any such change in the capital structure or business of the
Company by reason of any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, subdivision, combination or reclassification of shares that may
be issued under the Plan, any extraordinary cash dividend in an amount per share greater than three percent (3%) of the Fair Market Value
of one share of Common Stock on the date of the declaration of such dividend, any recapitalization, any merger, any consolidation, any
spin off, any reorganization or any partial or complete liquidation, or any other corporate transaction or event that would be considered an
“equity restructuring” within the meaning of FASB ASC Topic 718 (a “ Section 4.2 Event ”), then (i) the aggregate number and/or kind of
shares that thereafter may be issued under the Plan, (ii) the number and/or kind of shares or other property (including cash) to be issued
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upon exercise of an outstanding Award or under other Awards granted under the Plan and/or (iii) the purchase price thereof shall be
appropriately adjusted. In addition, subject to Section 4.2(d), if there shall occur any change in the capital structure or the business of the
Company that is not a Section 4.2 Event (an “ Other Extraordinary Event ”), then the Committee, in good faith, may adjust any Award and make
such other adjustments to the Plan as described in subsections (i) through (iii) above. Any adjustment pursuant to this Section 4.2 shall be
consistent with the applicable Section 4.2 Event or the applicable Other Extraordinary Event, as the case may be, and shall be executed in such
manner as the Committee may deem appropriate to prevent substantial dilution or enlargement of the rights granted to, or available for,
Participants under the Plan. Any such adjustment determined by the Committee in good faith shall be final, binding and conclusive on the
Company and all Participants and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and permitted assigns. Except as expressly
provided in this Section 4.2 or in the applicable Award agreement, a Participant shall have no rights by reason of any Section 4.2 Event or any
Other Extraordinary Event. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall not make any adjustments pursuant to this Section 4.2 that
would (i) cause an Award that is exempt from or otherwise not subject to Section 409A of the Code to be subject to Section 409A of the Code or
(ii) with respect to an Award that is subject to Section 409A of the Code, subject a Participant to additional tax or penalties under Section 409A
of the Code without the Participant’s consent.
(c) Fractional shares of Common Stock resulting from any adjustment in Awards pursuant to Section 4.2(a) or (b) shall be aggregated
until, and eliminated at, the time of exercise by rounding-down for fractions less than one-half and rounding-up for fractions equal to or greater
than one-half. No cash settlements shall be made with respect to fractional shares eliminated by rounding. Notice of any adjustment shall be
given by the Committee to each Participant whose Award has been adjusted and such adjustment (whether or not such notice is given) shall be
effective and binding for all purposes of this Plan.
(d) In the event of a merger or consolidation in which the Company is not the surviving entity or in the event of any transaction that
results in the acquisition of substantially all of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock by a single person or entity or by a group of persons
and/or entities acting in concert, or in the event of the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets (all of the foregoing
being referred to as “ Acquisition Events ”), then the Committee may, in its sole discretion, terminate all outstanding Stock Options, effective as
of the date of the Acquisition Event, by delivering notice of termination to each Participant at least twenty (20) days prior to the date of
consummation of the Acquisition Event, in which case during the period from the date on which such notice of termination is delivered to the
consummation of the Acquisition Event, each such Participant shall have the right to exercise in full all of his or her Stock Options that are then
outstanding (without regard to any limitations on exercisability otherwise contained in the Stock Option agreements), but any such exercise shall
be contingent upon and subject to the occurrence of the Acquisition Event, and, provided that, if the Acquisition Event does not take place within
a specified period after giving such notice for any reason whatsoever, the notice and exercise pursuant thereto shall be null and void.
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If an Acquisition Event occurs but the Committee does not terminate the outstanding Stock Options pursuant to this Section 4.2(d), then
the provisions of Section 4.2(b) and Article IX shall apply.
4.3 Minimum Purchase Price. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, if authorized but previously unissued shares
of Common Stock are issued under this Plan, such shares shall not be issued for a consideration which is less than as permitted under applicable
law.
ARTICLE V
ELIGIBILITY
5.1 General Eligibility. All Eligible Employees, prospective employees, Consultants and Non-Employee Directors of the Company and
its Affiliates are eligible to be granted Non-Qualified Stock Options and Restricted Stock. Eligibility for the grant of Awards and actual
participation in this Plan shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.
5.2 Incentive Stock Options. All Eligible Employees of the Company, its Subsidiaries and its Parent (if any) are eligible to be granted
Incentive Stock Options under this Plan. Eligibility for the grant of an Incentive Stock Option and actual participation in this Plan shall be
determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.
5.3 General Requirement. The vesting and exercise of Awards granted to a prospective employee or consultant are conditioned upon
such individual actually becoming an Eligible Employee or Consultant.
ARTICLE VI
STOCK OPTIONS
6.1 Stock Options. Each Stock Option granted hereunder shall be one of two types: (a) an Incentive Stock Option intended to satisfy
the requirements of Section 422 of the Code; or (b) a Non-Qualified Stock Option.
6.2 Grants. Subject to the provisions of Article V, the Committee shall have the authority to grant to any Eligible Employee one or
more Incentive Stock Options, Non-Qualified Stock Options or both types of Stock Options. To the extent that any Stock Option does not
qualify as an Incentive Stock Option (whether because of its provisions or the time or manner of its exercise or otherwise), such Stock Option or
the portion thereof which does not qualify, shall constitute a separate Non-Qualified Stock Option. The Committee shall have the authority to
grant any Consultant or Non-Employee Director one or more Non-Qualified Stock Options. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to
the contrary or any provision in an agreement evidencing the grant of a Stock Option to the contrary, any Stock Option granted to an Eligible
Employee of an Affiliate (other than an Affiliate which is a Parent or a Subsidiary) shall be a Non-Qualified Stock Option. The maximum
number of shares of Common Stock subject to a Stock Option which may be granted under this Plan during any fiscal year of the Company to
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any Non- Employee Director shall not exceed 20,000 shares (subject to any increase or decrease pursuant to Section 4.2).
6.3 Terms of Stock Options. Stock Options granted under this Plan shall be subject to the following terms and conditions, and shall be
in such form and contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan, as the Committee shall deem
desirable:
(a) Exercise Price. The exercise price per share of Common Stock subject to a Stock Option shall be determined by the
Committee at the time of grant; provided that the per share exercise price of an Incentive Stock Option shall not be less than one hundred
percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of the share of Common Stock at the time of grant; and provided, further, that if an Incentive
Stock Option is granted to a Ten Percent Stockholder, the exercise price per share shall be no less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of
the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock.
(b) Stock Option Term. The term of each Stock Option shall be fixed by the Committee; provided , however , that no Stock
Option shall be exercisable more than ten (10) years after the date such Stock Option is granted; and further provided that the term of an
Incentive Stock Option granted to a Ten Percent Stockholder shall not exceed five (5) years.
(c) Exercisability. Stock Options shall be exercisable at such time or times and subject to such terms and conditions as shall be
determined by the Committee at grant. If the Committee provides, in its discretion, that any Stock Option is exercisable subject to certain
limitations (including, without limitation, that such Stock Option is exercisable only in installments or within certain time periods), the
Committee may waive such limitations on the exercisability at any time at or after grant in whole or in part (including, without limitation,
waiver of the installment exercise provisions or acceleration of the time at which such Stock Option may be exercised), based on such
factors, if any, as the Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at grant, the grant
shall provide that (i) in the event the Participant engages in Detrimental Activity prior to any exercise of the Stock Option, all Stock
Options held by the Participant shall thereupon terminate and expire, (ii) as a condition of the exercise of a Stock Option, the Participant
shall be required to certify (or shall be deemed to have certified) at the time of exercise in a manner acceptable to the Company that the
Participant is in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Plan and that the Participant has not engaged in, and does not intend to
engage in, any Detrimental Activity, and (iii) in the event the Participant engages in Detrimental Activity during the one (1) year period
commencing on the date the Stock Option is exercised, the Company shall be entitled to recover from the Participant at any time within
one (1) year after such exercise or vesting, and the Participant shall pay over to the Company, an amount equal to any gain realized as a
result of the exercise (whether at the time of exercise or thereafter). The foregoing provisions described in (i), (ii) and (iii) shall cease to
apply upon a Change in Control.
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(d) Method of Exercise. Subject to whatever installment exercise and waiting period provisions apply under sub-section
(c) above, to the extent vested, a Stock Options may be exercised in whole or in part at any time and from time to time during the Stock
Option term by giving written notice of exercise to the Committee specifying the number of shares to be acquired. Such notice shall be
accompanied by payment in full of the purchase price as follows: (i) in cash or by check, bank draft or money order payable to the order of
the Company; (ii) if the Common Stock is traded on a national securities exchange, The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. or quoted on a national
quotation system sponsored by the National Association of Securities Dealers, and the Committee authorizes, through a procedure whereby
the Participant delivers irrevocable instructions to a broker approved by the Committee to deliver promptly to the Company an amount
equal to the purchase price; or (iii) on such other terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the Committee (including, without
limitation, the relinquishment of Stock Options or by payment in full or in part in the form of Common Stock owned by the Participant for
a period of at least six (6) months or such other period necessary to avoid a charge, for accounting purposes, against the Company’s
earnings as reported in the Company’s financial statements (and for which the Participant has good title free and clear of any liens and
encumbrances) based on the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the payment date as determined by the Committee). No shares of
Common Stock shall be issued until payment therefor, as provided herein, has been made or provided for.
(e) Incentive Stock Option Limitations. To the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the time of grant) of
the Common Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by an Eligible Employee during any
calendar year under this Plan and/or any other stock option plan of the Company, any Subsidiary or any Parent exceeds $100,000, such
Options shall be treated as Non-Qualified Stock Options. In addition, if an Eligible Employee does not remain employed by the Company,
any Subsidiary or any Parent at all times from the time an Incentive Stock Option is granted until three (3) months prior to the date of
exercise thereof (or such other period as required by applicable law), such Stock Option shall be treated as a Non-Qualified Stock Option.
Should any provision of this Plan not be necessary in order for the Stock Options to qualify as Incentive Stock Options, or should any
additional provisions be required, the Committee may amend this Plan accordingly, without the necessity of obtaining the approval of the
stockholders of the Company.
(f) Form, Modification, Extension and Renewal of Stock Options. Subject to the terms and conditions and within the limitations
of this Plan, Stock Options shall be evidenced by such form of agreement or grant as is approved by the Committee, and the Committee
may (i) modify, extend or renew outstanding Stock Options granted under this Plan (provided that the rights of a Participant are not
reduced without his or her consent), and (ii) accept the surrender of outstanding Stock Options (up to the extent not theretofore exercised)
and authorize the granting of new Stock Options in substitution therefor (to the extent not theretofore exercised).
(g) Deferred Delivery of Common Shares.
Stock acquired pursuant to a

The Committee may in its discretion permit Participants to defer delivery of Common
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Participant’s exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms and conditions established by the Committee.
(h) Early Exercise. The Committee may provide that a Stock Option include a provision whereby the Participant may elect at any
time before the Participant’s Termination to exercise the Stock Option as to any part or all of the shares of Common Stock subject to the
Stock Option prior to the full vesting of the Stock Option and such shares shall be subject to the provisions of Article VII and treated as
Restricted Stock. Any unvested shares of Common Stock so purchased may be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company or
to any other restriction the Committee determines to be appropriate.
(i) Other Terms and Conditions. Stock Options may contain such other provisions, which shall not be inconsistent with any of the
terms of this Plan, as the Committee shall deem appropriate including, without limitation, permitting “reloads” such that the same number
of Stock Options are granted as the number of Stock Options exercised, shares used to pay for the exercise price of Stock Options or shares
used to pay withholding taxes (“ Reloads ”). With respect to Reloads, the exercise price of the new Stock Option shall be the Fair Market
Value on the date of the “reload” and the term of the Stock Option shall be the same as the remaining term of the Stock Options that are
exercised, if applicable, or such other exercise price and term as determined by the Committee.
ARTICLE VII
RESTRICTED STOCK
7.1 Awards of Restricted Stock. Shares of Restricted Stock may be issued to Eligible Employees or Consultants either alone or in
addition to other Awards granted under this Plan. The Committee shall determine the eligible persons to whom, and the time or times at which,
grants of Restricted Stock will be made, the number of shares to be awarded, the price (if any) to be paid by the recipient (subject to Section 7.2),
the time or times within which such Awards may be subject to forfeiture, the vesting schedule and rights to acceleration thereof, and all other
terms and conditions of the Awards.
Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at grant, each Award of Restricted Stock shall provide that in the event the Participant
engages in Detrimental Activity prior to, or during the one year period after, any vesting of Restricted Stock, the Committee may direct (at any
time within one (1) year thereafter) that all unvested Restricted Stock shall be immediately forfeited to the Company and that the Participant
shall pay over to the Company an amount equal to the Fair Market Value at the time of vesting of any Restricted Stock which had vested in the
period referred to above. The foregoing provision shall cease to apply upon a Change in Control.
The Committee may condition the grant or vesting of Restricted Stock upon the attainment of specified performance goals or such other
factors as the Committee may determine, in its sole discretion.
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7.2 Awards and Certificates. An Eligible Employee or Consultant selected to receive Restricted Stock shall not have any rights with
respect to such Award, unless and until such Participant has delivered to the Company a fully executed copy of the applicable Award agreement
relating thereto and has otherwise complied with the applicable terms and conditions of such Award. Further, such Award shall be subject to the
following conditions:
(a) Purchase Price. The purchase price of Restricted Stock shall be fixed by the Committee. Subject to Section 4.3, the purchase
price for shares of Restricted Stock may be zero to the extent permitted by applicable law, and, to the extent not so permitted, such
purchase price may not be less than par value.
(b) Acceptance. Awards of Restricted Stock must be accepted within a period of ninety (90) days (or such shorter period as the
Committee may specify at grant) after the Award date by executing a Restricted Stock Award agreement and by paying whatever price (if
any) the Committee has designated thereunder.
(c) Legend. Each Participant receiving shares of Restricted Stock shall be issued a stock certificate in respect of such shares of
Restricted Stock, unless the Committee elects to use another system, such as book entries by the transfer agent, as evidencing ownership of
shares of Restricted Stock. Such certificate shall be registered in the name of such Participant, and shall, in addition to such legends
required by applicable securities laws, bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to such
Award, substantially in the following form:
“The anticipation, alienation, attachment, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or
charge of the shares of stock represented hereby are subject to the terms and conditions
(including forfeiture) of the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan (the “Plan”) and an Agreement entered into between the registered owner and the
Company dated ______. Copies of such Plan and Agreement are on file at the principal office
of the Company.”
(d) Custody. If stock certificates are issued in respect of shares of Restricted Stock, the Committee may require that any stock
certificates evidencing such shares be held in custody by the Company until the restrictions thereon shall have lapsed and that, as a
condition to the grant of such Award of Restricted Stock, the Participant shall have delivered a duly signed stock power, endorsed in blank,
relating to the Common Stock covered by such Award.
7.3 Restrictions and Conditions on Restricted Stock Awards.
to Article IX and the following restrictions and conditions:

Shares of Restricted Stock awarded pursuant to this Plan shall be subject

(a) Restriction Period; Vesting and Acceleration of Vesting. (i) The Participant shall not be permitted to Transfer shares of
Restricted Stock awarded under this Plan during the period or periods set by the Committee (the “ Restriction Period ”)
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commencing on the date of such Award, as set forth in the Restricted Stock Award agreement and such agreement shall set forth a vesting
schedule and any events which would accelerate vesting of the shares of Restricted Stock. Within these limits, based on service, attainment
of performance goals pursuant to Section 7.3(a)(ii) below and/or such other factors or criteria as the Committee may determine in its sole
discretion, the Committee may provide for the lapse of such restrictions in installments in whole or in part, or may accelerate the vesting of
all or any part of any Restricted Stock Award and/or waive the deferral limitations for all or any part of any Restricted Stock Award.
(ii) Performance Goals, Formulae or Standards. If the grant of shares of Restricted Stock or the lapse of restrictions is based
on the attainment of performance goals, the Committee shall establish the Performance Goals and the applicable vesting percentage
of the Restricted Stock Award applicable to each Participant or class of Participants in writing prior to the beginning of the applicable
fiscal year or at such later date as otherwise determined by the Committee. Such performance goals may incorporate provisions for
disregarding (or adjusting for) changes in accounting methods, corporate transactions (including, without limitation, dispositions and
acquisitions) and other similar type events or circumstances.
(b) Rights as Stockholder. Except as provided in this subsection (b) and subsection (a) above and as otherwise determined by the
Committee, the Participant shall have, with respect to the shares of Restricted Stock, all of the rights of a holder of shares of Common
Stock of the Company including, without limitation, the right to receive any dividends, the right to vote such shares and, subject to and
conditioned upon the full vesting of shares of Restricted Stock, the right to tender such shares. The Committee may, in its sole discretion,
determine at the time of grant that the payment of dividends shall be deferred until, and conditioned upon, the expiration of the applicable
Restriction Period.
(c) Lapse of Restrictions. If and when the Restriction Period expires without a prior forfeiture of the Restricted Stock subject to
such Restriction Period, the certificates for such shares shall be delivered to the Participant. All legends shall be removed from said
certificates at the time of delivery to the Participant except as otherwise required by applicable law or other limitations imposed by the
Committee.
ARTICLE VIII
NON-TRANSFERABILITY AND TERMINATION OF
EMPLOYMENT/CONSULTANCY/DIRECTORSHIP
8.1

Non-Transferability.

(a) Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, no Stock Option shall be Transferable by the Participant otherwise than by
will or by the laws of descent and distribution. All Stock Options shall be exercisable, during the Participant’s lifetime, only by the
Participant. Shares of Restricted Stock may not be Transferred prior to the
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date on which such shares are issued, or if later, the date on which any applicable restriction, performance or deferral period lapses. Any
attempt to Transfer any such Award shall be void and immediately cancelled, and no such Award shall in any manner be liable for or
subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements or torts of any person who shall be entitled to such Award, nor shall it be subject to
attachment or legal process for or against such person.
(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may determine at the time of grant or thereafter that a Non-Qualified Stock
Option that is otherwise not Transferable pursuant to this Section 8.1 is Transferable to a Family Member in whole or in part and in such
circumstances, and under such conditions, as specified by the Committee. A Non- Qualified Stock Option that is Transferred to a Family
Member pursuant to the preceding sentence (i) may not be subsequently Transferred otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution and (ii) remains subject to the terms of this Plan and the Stock Option agreement. Any shares of Common Stock acquired upon
the exercise of a Stock Option by a permissible transferee of a Stock Option or a permissible transferee pursuant to a Transfer after the
exercise of the Stock Option shall be subject to the terms of this Plan and the Stock Option agreement, including, without limitation, the
provisions of Article XI hereof.
8.2

Termination.

The following rules apply with regard to the Termination of a Participant.

(a) Rules Applicable to Stock Options. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at grant or, if no rights of the Participant are
reduced, thereafter:
(i) Termination by Reason of Death, Disability or Retirement. If a Participant’s Termination is by reason of death,
Disability or Retirement, all Stock Options that are held by such Participant that are vested and exercisable at the time of the
Participant’s Termination may be exercised by the Participant (or, in the case of death, by the legal representative of the Participant’s
estate) at any time within a period of one (1) year from the date of such Termination, but in no event beyond the expiration of the
stated terms of such Stock Options; provided , however , that in the case of Retirement, if the Participant dies within such exercise
period, all unexercised Stock Options held by such Participant shall thereafter be exercisable, to the extent to which they were
exercisable at the time of death, for a period of one (1) year from the date of such death, but in no event beyond the expiration of the
stated term of such Stock Options.
(ii) Involuntary Termination Without Cause or for Good Reason. If a Participant’s Termination is by involuntary
termination without Cause or for Good Reason, all Stock Options that are held by such Participant that are vested and exercisable at
the time of the Participant’s Termination may be exercised by the Participant at any time within a period of ninety (90) days from the
date of such Termination, but in no event beyond the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Options.
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(iii) Voluntary Termination. If a Participant’s Termination is voluntary (other than a voluntary termination described in
Section 8.2(a)(iv)(y) below), all Stock Options that are held by such Participant that are vested and exercisable at the time of the
Participant’s Termination may be exercised by the Participant at any time within a period of thirty (30) days from the date of such
Termination, but in no event beyond the expiration of the stated terms of such Stock Options.
(iv) Termination for Cause. If a Participant’s Termination (x) is for Cause or (y) is a voluntary Termination (as provided in
sub-section (c) above) after the occurrence of an event that would be grounds for a Termination for Cause, all Stock Options, whether
vested or not vested, that are held by such Participant shall thereupon terminate and expire as of the date of such Termination.
(v) Unvested Stock Options. Stock Options that are not vested as of the date of a Participant’s Termination for any reason
shall terminate and expire as of the date of such Termination.
(b) Rules Applicable to Restricted Stock. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at grant or, if no rights of the Participant
are reduced, thereafter, subject to the applicable provisions of the Restricted Stock Award agreement and this Plan, upon a Participant’s
Termination for any reason during the relevant Restriction Period, all Restricted Stock still subject to restriction will vest or be forfeited in
accordance with the terms and conditions established by the Committee at grant or thereafter.
ARTICLE IX
CHANGE IN CONTROL PROVISIONS
9.1 Benefits. In the event of a Change in Control of the Company, except as otherwise provided by the Committee in an Award
agreement, a Participant’s employment agreement with the Company or an Affiliate, as approved by the Committee, or other written agreement
approved by the Committee (as such agreement may be amended from time to time), a Participant’s unvested Awards shall not vest and a
Participant’s Award shall be treated in accordance with one of the following methods as determined by the Committee:
(a) (i) Stock Options, whether or not then vested, shall be continued, assumed, have new rights substituted therefor or be treated in
accordance with Section 4.2 hereof, as determined by the Committee, and (ii) restrictions to which any shares of Restricted Stock granted
prior to the Change in Control are subject shall not lapse upon a Change in Control and the Restricted Stock shall, where appropriate in the
sole discretion of the Committee, receive the same distribution as other Common Stock on such terms as determined by the Committee;
provided that, the Committee may decide to award additional Restricted Stock in lieu of any cash distribution. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary herein, for purposes of Incentive Stock Options, any assumed or substituted Stock Option shall comply with the requirements
of Treasury Regulation Section 1.425-1 (and any amendments thereto).
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(b) The Committee, in its sole discretion, may provide for the purchase of any Stock Option by the Company or an Affiliate for an
amount of cash equal to the excess of the Change in Control Price (as defined below) of the shares of Common Stock covered by such
Stock Options, over the aggregate exercise price of such Stock Options. For purposes of this Section 9.1, Change in Control Price shall
mean the highest price per share of Common Stock paid in any transaction related to the applicable Change in Control of the Company.
(c) Notwithstanding anything else herein, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, provide for accelerated vesting of a Stock
Option or accelerated lapsing of restrictions on shares of Restricted Stock at any time.
(d) If the Company and the other party to a transaction constituting a Change in Control agree that such transaction shall be treated
as a “pooling of interests” for financial reporting purposes, and if the transaction is in fact so treated, then the acceleration of exercisability,
vesting or lapse of the vesting period of a Stock Option or of the applicable Restriction Period shall not occur to the extent that the
Company’s independent public accountants determine in good faith that such acceleration would preclude ““pooling of interests”
accounting.
9.2 Change in Control. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee in the applicable Award agreement or other written agreement
approved by the Committee, a “Change in Control” shall be deemed to have occurred:
(a) upon any “person” as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act (other than the Company, any trustee
or other fiduciary holding securities under any employee benefit plan of the Company, or any company owned, directly or indirectly, by
the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Common Stock of the Company), becoming
the beneficial owner (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing
more than 50% of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities;
(b) a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which would result
in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or
by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the voting
securities of the Company or such surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; provided , however , that a
merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the Company (or similar transaction) in which no person (other than
those covered by the exceptions in (a) above) acquires more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the Company’s then
outstanding securities shall not constitute a Change in Control of the Company;
(c) upon the stockholders of the Company approval of a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale
or disposition by the Company
20

of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets other than the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company to
a person or persons who beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least fifty percent (50%) or more of the combined voting power of the
outstanding voting securities of the Company at the time of the sale; provided , that with respect to any payment pursuant to an Award
under this Plan that is triggered upon a Change in Control and that constitutes “nonqualified deferred compensation” pursuant to
Section 409A of the Code, stockholder approval of a plan of liquidation of the Company shall not constitute a Change in Control; or
(d) during any period of two consecutive years (the “ Board Measurement Period ”) individuals who at the beginning of such
period constitute the Board and any new director (other than a director designated by a person who has entered into an agreement with the
Company to effect a transaction described in paragraph (a), (b), or (c) of this section) whose election by the Board or nomination for
election by the Company’s stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds (the “ Required Approval ”) of the directors then still
in office who either were directors at the beginning of the Board Measurement Period or whose election or nomination for election was
previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided , that with respect to any payment
pursuant to an Award under this Plan that is triggered upon a Change in Control and that constitutes “non-qualified deferred
compensation” pursuant to Section 409A of the Code, the Board Measurement Period shall be reduced from any period of two consecutive
years to any period of twelve consecutive months and the Required Approval shall be reduced from at least 2/3 to at least a majority.
9.3

Registration Date not a Change in Control.

For purposes of the Plan, the Registration Date shall not be deemed to be a Change in Control.
ARTICLE X

TERMINATION OR AMENDMENT OF PLAN
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, the Board or the Committee may at any time, and from time to time, amend, in whole or
in part, any or all of the provisions of this Plan (including any amendment deemed necessary to ensure that the Company may comply with any
regulatory requirement referred to in Article XIII), or suspend or terminate it entirely, retroactively or otherwise; provided , however , that,
unless otherwise required by law or specifically provided herein, the rights of a Participant with respect to Awards granted prior to such
amendment, suspension or termination, may not be impaired without the consent of such Participant and, provided further , no amendment may
be made which would (i) increase the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under this Plan; (ii) change the
classification of employees, Consultants or Non-Employee Directors eligible to receive Awards under this Plan; (iii) decrease the minimum
option price of any Stock Option; or (iv) extend the maximum Stock Option period under Section 6.3 without the approval of the stockholders of
the Company in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, and, solely to the extent applicable to Incentive Stock Options, Section 422
of the Code. In no event may this Plan be amended without the approval of the stockholders of the Company in accordance with the applicable
laws of the State of Delaware to increase the aggregate number of shares of Common
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Stock that may be issued under this Plan, decrease the minimum exercise price of any Stock Option, or to make any other amendment that would
require stockholder approval under the rules of any exchange or system on which the Company’s securities are listed or traded at the request of
the Company.
The Committee may amend the terms of any Award theretofore granted, prospectively or retroactively, but, subject to Article IV above or
as otherwise specifically provided herein, no such amendment or other action by the Committee shall impair the rights of any holder without the
holder’s consent.
ARTICLE XI
COMPANY CALL RIGHTS; RIGHTS OF FIRST REFUSAL
11.1

Company Call Rights.

(a) In the event of a Participant’s Termination for Cause, a Participant’s voluntary termination of his/her employment within ninety
(90) days after the occurrence of an event that would be grounds for a Termination for Cause or the discovery that a Participant engaged in
Detrimental Activity, the Company may repurchase from the Participant (or his or her transferee) any shares of Common Stock previously
acquired by the Participant through the exercise of a Stock Option granted under this Plan or an award of Restricted Stock granted under
this Plan at a repurchase price equal to the lesser of (A) the original purchase price or exercise price (as applicable), if any or (B) the Fair
Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of Termination or the date of repurchase, as selected by the Committee.
(b) In the event of a Termination for any reason other than for Cause (including Termination due to Retirement, death, Disability,
involuntary termination without Cause, for Good Reason or resignation), the Company may at any time within the later of one year after a
Participant incurs a Termination or the date a Participant acquires shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of a Stock Option following
his or her Termination for any reason other than for Cause: (i) repurchase from the Participant each outstanding vested Stock Option based
on the difference between the exercise price of a share of Common Stock relating to such Stock Option and the Fair Market Value of a
share of Common Stock on the date of Termination and (ii) repurchase from the Participant any shares of Common Stock previously
acquired by the Participant through the exercise of a Stock Option under this Plan at a repurchase price equal to the Fair Market Value on
the date of Termination or the date of repurchase, as selected by the Committee.
(c) In the event of a Termination for any reason other than for Cause (including termination due to Retirement, death, Disability,
involuntary termination without Cause or resignation), the Company may at any time within one year after a Participant incurs a
Termination other than for Cause repurchase from the Participant any shares of Common Stock previously acquired by the Participant
pursuant to an award of
22

Restricted Stock under this Plan at a repurchase price equal to Fair Market Value as of the date of Termination or as of the date of
repurchase, as selected by the Committee.
(d) (i) If the Company elects to exercise call rights under this Section 11.1, it shall do so by delivering to the Participant a notice of
such election, specifying the number of shares to be purchased and such closing date and time that, solely for purposes of sub-sections
(b) or (c), is within the applicable one year period. Such closing shall take place at the Company’s principal executive offices.
(ii) At such closing, the Company will pay the Participant the repurchase price as specified in this Section 11.1 in cash, or by
cancellation of indebtedness of the Participant to the Company; provided, however, the Company may elect to pay the repurchase
price in three (3) equal installments with the first installment paid at the closing and subsequent installments paid on the first two
(2) anniversaries of the closing. The installment payments shall bear interest at the applicable federal rate.
11.2 Transfer Limit. (a) No Participant shall, directly or indirectly, prior to the Registration Date or such other date determined by the
Committee, Transfer (i) any shares of Common Stock acquired through the exercise of a Stock Option under this Plan or (ii) any shares of
Common Stock acquired by the Participant pursuant to an award of Restricted Stock under this Plan prior to the Participant’s Termination and
expiration of the time period provided in Sections 11.1(b) or (c) hereof (the “ Transfer Restriction Period ”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Participant shall have the right to Transfer such shares of Common Stock to a “Permissible Transferee” who takes the shares subject to the terms
of the Plan and applicable Award agreement. Permissible Transferees shall mean Family Members, any stockholder of the Company, or any
employee of the Company.
(b) After the Transfer Restriction Period, no Participant shall Transfer (i) any Common Stock acquired through the exercise of a
Stock Option under this Plan or (ii) any shares of Common Stock acquired by the Participant pursuant to an award of Restricted Stock to
any Person other than a Permissible Transferee unless in each such instance the Participant (or his or her estate or legal representative)
shall have first offered to the Company the Common Stock proposed to be Transferred pursuant to a bona fide offer to a third party.
(c) Notice of Proposed Transfer. Prior to any proposed Transfer of the Common Stock acquired either through the exercise of a
Stock Option under this Plan or pursuant to an award of Restricted Stock, the Participant shall give a written notice (the “ Transfer Notice
”) to the Company describing fully the proposed Transfer, including the number of shares of Common Stock, the name and address of the
proposed Transferee (the “ Proposed Transferee ”) and, if the Transfer is voluntary, the proposed Transfer price, and containing such
information necessary to show that the Participant has obtained a bona fide binding offer to Transfer the Common Stock for cash from a
third party. The Participant shall provide a separate Transfer Notice with regard to each Proposed Transferee. The Transfer Notice shall be
signed by both the Participant and the Proposed Transferee and must constitute a binding and unconditional commitment of the
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Participant and the Proposed Transferee for the Transfer of the Common Stock to the Proposed Transferee for cash subject only to the right
of first refusal specified herein.
(d) Bona Fide Transfer. If the Company determines that the information provided by the Participant in the Transfer Notice is
insufficient to establish the bona fide nature of a proposed voluntary Transfer, the Company shall give the Participant written notice of the
Participant’s failure to comply with the procedure described herein, and the Participant shall have no right to Transfer the Common Stock
without first complying with this procedure. The Participant shall not be permitted to Transfer the Common Stock if the proposed Transfer
is not bona fide.
(e) Exercise of Right of First Refusal. If the Company determines the proposed Transfer to be a bona fide Transfer, the Company
shall have the right to repurchase all or any part of the shares of Common Stock at the proposed Transfer price per share, by delivering to
the Participant (or his or her estate or legal representative) written notice of such exercise within twenty (20) days after the date the
Company has determined that the proposed Transfer is bona fide. The Company’s exercise or failure to exercise the right of first refusal
with respect to any proposed Transfer described in a Transfer Notice shall not affect the Company’s right to exercise the right of first
refusal with respect to any proposed Transfer described in any other Transfer Notice, whether or not such other Transfer Notice is issued
by the Participant or issued by a person other than the Participant with respect to a proposed Transfer to the same Proposed Transferee. If
the Company exercises the right of first refusal, the Company and the Participant shall thereupon consummate the sale of the Common
Stock to the Company within twenty (20) days after the date the Company has determined that the proposed Transfer is bona fide (unless a
longer period is offered by the Proposed Transferee); provided , however , that in the event the Transfer Notice provides for the payment
for the Common Stock other than in cash, the Company shall have the option of paying for the Common Stock by the present value cash
equivalent of the consideration described in the Transfer Notice as reasonably determined by the Company. For purposes of the foregoing,
cancellation of any indebtedness of the Participant to the Company shall be treated as payment to the Participant in cash to the extent of the
unpaid principal and any accrued interest canceled.
(f) Failure to Exercise Right of First Refusal. If the Company fails to exercise the right of first refusal with respect to any share of
Common Stock within the period specified in sub-section (e) above, and the Company has not given notice to the Participant that the
proposed Transfer is not a bona fide Transfer pursuant to sub-section (d) above, the Participant may conclude a Transfer to the Proposed
Transferee of the Common Stock on the terms and conditions described in the Transfer Notice, provided such Transfer occurs not later
than twenty (20) days after the date the Company has determined that the proposed Transfer is bona fide. The Company shall have the
right to demand further assurances from the Participant and the Proposed Transferee (in a form satisfactory to the Company) that the
Transfer of the Common Stock was actually carried out on the terms and conditions described in the Transfer Notice. No Common Stock
shall be transferred on the books of the Company until the Company has received such assurances, if so demanded, and has approved the
proposed Transfer as bona fide. Any proposed Transfer on terms and conditions different from
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those described in the Transfer Notice, as well as any subsequent proposed Transfer by the Participant (or his or her estate or legal
representative), shall again be subject to the right of first refusal and shall require compliance by the Participant with the procedure
described in this Section 11.2.
(g) Assignment of Right of First Refusal. The Company shall have the right to assign the right of first refusal at any time, whether
or not there has been an attempted Transfer, to one or more persons as may be selected by the Company, from time to time.
(h) Application to Transferees. This Section 11.2 shall apply to any transferee (other than to a transferee who acquires the
Common Stock pursuant to sub-section (f) above) in the same manner as it applies to a Participant.
11.3 Alternative Call Rights and Rights of First Refusal. The Committee may provide in the applicable Award agreement alternative
(or no) call rights and/or rights of first refusal at the time of grant (or, thereafter, if no rights of the Participant are reduced) as it may decide in its
sole discretion.
11.4 Effect of Registration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise determined by the Committee, the Company shall cease to
have rights pursuant to this Article XI on and after the Registration Date.
ARTICLE XII
UNFUNDED PLAN
This Plan is intended to constitute an “unfunded” plan for incentive and deferred compensation. With respect to any payments as to which
a Participant has a fixed and vested interest but which are not yet made to a Participant by the Company, nothing contained herein shall give any
such Participant any rights that are greater than those of a general unsecured creditor of the Company.
ARTICLE XIII
GENERAL PROVISIONS
13.1 Legend. The Committee may require each person receiving shares pursuant to an Award under this Plan to represent to and agree
with the Company in writing that the Participant is acquiring the shares without a view to distribution thereof and such other securities law
related representations as the Committee shall request. In addition to any legend required by this Plan, the certificates for such shares may
include any legend which the Committee deems appropriate to reflect any restrictions on Transfer.
All certificates for shares of Common Stock delivered under this Plan shall be subject to such stock transfer orders and other restrictions as
the Committee may deem advisable under the rules, regulations and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock
exchange upon which the Common Stock is then listed or any national securities association system upon whose system the Common Stock is
then quoted, any applicable Federal or state
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securities law, and any applicable corporate law, and the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make
appropriate reference to such restrictions.
13.2 Other Plans. Nothing contained in this Plan shall prevent the Board from adopting other or additional compensation arrangements,
subject to stockholder approval if such approval is required; and such arrangements may be either generally applicable or applicable only in
specific cases. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Plan and any agreement, approved by the Board or the Committee,
between the Company and any employee, Consultant or Non-Employee Director, the provisions of such agreement shall govern.
13.3 No Right to Employment/Directorship/Consultancy. Neither this Plan nor the grant of any Award hereunder shall give any
Participant or other employee, Consultant or Non-Employee Director any right with respect to continuance of employment, consultancy or
directorship by the Company or any Affiliate, nor shall they be a limitation in any way on the right of the Company or any Affiliate by which an
employee is employed or a Consultant or Non- Employee Director is retained to terminate his or her employment or consultancy at any time.
13.4 Withholding of Taxes. The Company shall have the right to deduct from any payment to be made to a Participant, or to otherwise
require, prior to the issuance or delivery of any shares of Common Stock or the payment of any cash hereunder, payment by the Participant of,
any Federal, state or local taxes required by law to be withheld. Upon the vesting of Restricted Stock, or upon making an election under
Section 83(b) of the Code, a Participant shall pay all required withholding to the Company.
Any statutorily required withholding obligation with regard to any Eligible Employee may be satisfied, subject to the consent of the
Committee, by reducing the number of shares of Common Stock otherwise deliverable or by delivering shares of Common Stock already owned.
Any fraction of a share of Common Stock required to satisfy such tax obligations shall be disregarded and the amount due shall be paid instead
in cash by the Participant.
13.5

Listing and Other Conditions.

(a) Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, as long as the Common Stock is listed on a national securities exchange or
system sponsored by a national securities association, the issue of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to an Award shall be conditioned
upon such shares being listed on such exchange or system. The Company shall have no obligation to issue such shares unless and until
such shares are so listed, and the right to exercise any Stock Option with respect to such shares shall be suspended until such listing has
been effected.
(b) If at any time counsel to the Company shall be of the opinion that any sale or delivery of shares of Common Stock pursuant to
an Award is or may in the circumstances be unlawful or result in the imposition of excise taxes on the Company under the statutes, rules or
regulations of any applicable jurisdiction, the Company shall have no obligation to make such sale or delivery, or to make any application
or to effect or to maintain any qualification or registration under the Securities Act or otherwise with
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respect to shares of Common Stock or Awards, and the right to exercise any Stock Option shall be suspended until, in the opinion of said
counsel, such sale or delivery shall be lawful and will not result in the imposition of excise taxes on the Company.
(c) Upon termination of any period of suspension under this Section 13.5, an Award affected by such suspension which shall not
then have expired or terminated shall be reinstated as to all shares available before such suspension and as to shares which would otherwise
have become available during the period of such suspension, but no such suspension shall extend the term of any Stock Option.
(d) A Participant shall be required to supply the Company with any certificates, representations and information that the Company
requests and otherwise cooperate with the Company in obtaining any listing, registration, qualification, exemption, consent or approval the
Company deems necessary or appropriate.
13.6 Stockholders Agreement and Other Requirements. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, as a condition to the receipt of
shares of Common Stock pursuant to a Stock Option or Restricted Stock award under this Plan, to the extent required by the Committee, the
Participant shall execute and deliver a stockholder’s agreement or such other documentation which shall set forth certain restrictions on
transferability of the shares of Common Stock acquired upon exercise or purchase, a right of first refusal of the Company with respect to shares,
and such other terms as the Board or Committee shall from time to time establish. Such stockholder’s agreement or other documentation shall
apply to the Common Stock acquired under the Plan and covered by such stockholder’s agreement or other documentation. The Company may
require, as a condition of exercise, the Participant to become a party to any other existing stockholder agreement.
13.7 Governing Law. This Plan shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware (regardless of the
law that might otherwise govern under applicable Delaware principles of conflict of laws).
13.8 Construction. Wherever any words are used in this Plan in the masculine gender they shall be construed as though they were also
used in the feminine gender in all cases where they would so apply, and wherever any words are used herein in the singular form they shall be
construed as though they were also used in the plural form in all cases where they would so apply. To the extent applicable, this Plan shall be
limited, construed and interpreted in a manner so as to comply with the applicable requirements of Rule 16b-3; however, noncompliance with
Rule 16b-3 shall have no impact on the effectiveness of an Award under this Plan.
13.9 Other Benefits. No Award payment under this Plan shall be deemed compensation for purposes of computing benefits under any
retirement plan of the Company or its subsidiaries nor affect any benefits under any other benefit plan now or subsequently in effect under which
the availability or amount of benefits is related to the level of compensation.
13.10 Costs. The Company shall bear all expenses included in administering this Plan, including expenses of issuing Common Stock
pursuant to any Awards hereunder.
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13.11 No Right to Same Benefits. The provisions of Stock Options need not be the same with respect to each Participant, and such
Stock Options to individual Participants need not be the same in subsequent years.
13.12 Death/Disability. The Committee may in its discretion require the transferee of a Participant to supply it with written notice of
the Participant’s death or Disability and to supply it with a copy of the will (in the case of the Participant’s death) or such other evidence as the
Committee deems necessary to establish the validity of the transfer of an Award. The Committee may also require that the agreement of the
transferee to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of this Plan.
13.13 Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act. On and after the Registration Date, all elections and transactions under this Plan by persons
subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act involving shares of Common Stock are intended to comply with any applicable exemptive condition
under Rule 16b-3. The Committee may establish and adopt written administrative guidelines, designed to facilitate compliance with Section 16
(b) of the Exchange Act, as it may deem necessary or proper for the administration and operation of this Plan and the transaction of business
thereunder.
13.14 Successors and Assigns. The Plan shall be binding on all successors and permitted assigns of a Participant, including, without
limitation, the estate of such Participant and the executor, administrator or trustee of such estate.
13.15 Severability of Provisions. If any provision of this Plan shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability
shall not affect any other provisions hereof, and this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such provisions had not been included; provided ,
however , that if the Company’s Call Rights and Rights of First Refusal set forth in Article XI shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the Stock
Options granted under the Plan shall be cancelled and terminated.
13.16 Headings and Captions. The headings and captions herein are provided for reference and convenience only, shall not be
considered part of this Plan, and shall not be employed in the construction of this Plan.
13.17 Securities Act Compliance. Except as the Company or Committee shall otherwise determine, this Plan is intended to comply
with Section 4(2) or Rule 701 of the Securities Act, and any provisions inconsistent with such Section or Rule of the Securities Act shall be
inoperative and shall not affect the validity of the Plan.
13.18 Successors and Assigns. The Plan shall be binding on all successors and permitted assigns of a Participant, including, without
limitation, the estate of such Participant and the executor, administrator or trustee of such estate.
13.19 Payment to Minors, Etc. Any benefit payable to or for the benefit of a minor, an incompetent person or other person incapable of
receipt thereof shall be deemed paid when paid to such person’s guardian or to the party providing or reasonably appearing to provide for the
care of such person, and such payment shall fully discharge the Committee, the Board, the Company, its Affiliates and their employees, agents
and representatives with respect thereto.
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13.20 Agreement. As a condition to the grant of an Award, if requested by the Company and the lead underwriter of any public
offering of the Common Stock (the “ Lead Underwriter ”), a Participant shall irrevocably agree not to sell, contract to sell, grant any option to
purchase, transfer the economic risk of ownership in, make any short sale of, pledge or otherwise transfer or dispose of, any interest in any
Common Stock or any securities convertible into, derivative of, or exchangeable or exercisable for, or any other rights to purchase or acquire
Common Stock (except Common Stock included in such public offering or acquired on the public market after such offering) during such period
of time following the effective date of a registration statement of the Company filed under the Securities Act that the Lead Underwriter shall
specify (the “ Lock-up Period ”). The Participant shall further agree to sign such documents as may be requested by the Lead Underwriter to
effect the foregoing and agree that the Company may impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to Common Stock acquired pursuant to an
Award until the end of such Lock-up Period.
13.21 Section 409A of the Code . Although the Company does not guarantee to a Participant the particular tax treatment of an Award
granted under the Plan, Awards made under the Plan are intended to comply with, or be exempt from, the applicable requirements of
Section 409A of the Code and the Plan and any Award agreement hereunder shall be limited, construed and interpreted in accordance with such
intent. To the extent that any Award is subject to Section 409A of the Code, it shall be paid in a manner that will comply with Section 409A of
the Code, including proposed, temporary or final regulations or any other guidance issued by the Secretary of the Treasury and the Internal
Revenue Service with respect thereto. In no event whatsoever shall the Company be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalties that may be
imposed on a Participant by Code Section 409A or any damages for failing to comply with Code Section 409A or this Section 13.21.
Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or in an Award to the contrary, the following provisions shall apply to any Award granted under the Plan
that constitutes “nonqualified deferred compensation” pursuant to Section 409A of the Code (a “ 409A Covered Award ”):
(a) A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of a 409A Covered Award
providing for payment upon or following a termination of the Participant’s employment unless such termination is also a “Separation from
Service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of 409A Covered Award, references to a
“termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall mean Separation from Service. Notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary in the Plan or the Award, if the Participant is deemed on the date of the Participant’s Termination to be a “specified employee”
within the meaning of that term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B) and using the identification methodology selected by the Company
from time to time, or if none, the default methodology set forth in Code Section 409A, then with regard to any such payment under a 409A
Covered Award, to the extent required to be delayed in compliance with Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), such payment shall not be made
prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the date of the Participant’s Separation from Service, and
(ii) the date of the Participant’s death (the “ Delay Period ”). All payments delayed pursuant to this Section 13.21(a) shall be paid to the
Participant on the first day of the seventh month following the date of the Participant’s Separation from Service or, if earlier, on the date of
the Participant’s death.
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(b) Whenever a payment under a 409A Covered Award specifies a payment period with reference to a number of days, the actual
date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of the Company.
(c) If under the 409A Covered Award an amount is to be paid in two or more installments, for purposes of Code Section 409A,
each installment shall be treated as a separate payment.
ARTICLE XIV
EFFECTIVE DATE OF PLAN
The Plan shall become effective upon adoption by the Board or such later date as provided in the adopting resolution, subject to the
approval of this Plan by the stockholders of the Company within twelve (12) months before or after adoption of the Plan by the Board in
accordance with the requirements of the laws of the State of Delaware.
ARTICLE XV
TERM OF PLAN
No Award shall be granted pursuant to this Plan on or after the tenth anniversary of the earlier of the date this Plan is adopted or the date of
stockholder approval, but Awards granted prior to such tenth anniversary may, and the Committee’s authority to administer the terms of such
Awards shall, extend beyond that date.
ARTICLE XVI
PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO AWARDS GRANTED
TO CALIFORNIA RESIDENTS
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Award granted under the Plan to a California resident shall be subject to the provisions of this Article
XVI (in addition to other applicable provisions of the Plan that are not inconsistent with this Article XVI) and, notwithstanding any provision of
the Plan to the contrary, solely to the extent necessary to comply with Title 10 of the California Code of Regulations at the time an Award is
granted, the following shall apply to each such Award:
(a) At no time shall the total number of shares issuable upon exercise or vesting of all outstanding Awards provided for under any
stock bonus or similar plan of the Company exceed thirty percent (30%) of all outstanding shares of the Company, including convertible
preferred shares or convertible senior common shares on an as-converted basis, based on the shares of the Company which are outstanding
at the time the calculation is made.
(b) Any repurchase option in favor of the Company that is applicable to an Award granted prior to the Registration Date to an
Eligible Employee who is not an officer, director or Consultant shall be subject to the following:
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(i) If the repurchase option gives the Company the right to repurchase the shares of Common Stock upon Termination at not
less than the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock to be purchased on the date of Termination, then (x) the right to
repurchase shall be exercised for cash or cancellation of purchase money indebtedness for the shares of Common Stock within
ninety (90) days of Termination (or in the case of shares of Common Stock issued upon exercise of Awards after such date of
Termination, within ninety (90) days after the date of the exercise) or such longer period as may be agreed to by the Company and
the Participant and (y) the right shall terminate on and after the Registration Date.
(ii) If the repurchase option gives the Company the right to repurchase the shares of Common Stock upon Termination at the
original purchase price, then (x) the right to repurchase at the original purchase price shall lapse at the rate of at least twenty percent
(20%) of such shares of Common Stock per year over five (5) years from the date that the Award is granted (without respect to the
date the Award was exercised or became exercisable) and (y) the right to repurchase shall be exercised for cash or cancellation of
purchase money indebtedness for the shares of Common Stock within ninety (90) days of Termination (or in the case of shares of
Common Stock issued upon exercise of Options after such date of termination, within ninety (90) days after the date of the exercise)
or such longer period as may be agreed to by the Company and the Participant in compliance with applicable law.
(c) Prior to the Registration Date, a Ten Percent Stockholder shall not be granted a Non-Qualified Stock Option unless the exercise
price of such Option is at least (i) one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the date of grant or
(ii) such lower percentage of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock at the date of grant as is permitted by Section 260.140.41 of
Title 10 of the California Code of Regulations at the time of the grant of the Option. Prior to the Registration Date, a Ten Percent
Stockholder shall not be granted an award of Restricted Stock unless the purchase price of the Restricted Stock is at least (i) one hundred
percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock at the date of grant or (ii) such lower percentage of the Fair Market Value
of the Common Stock at the date of grant as is permitted by Section 260.140.41 of Title 10 of the California Code of Regulations at the
time of the grant of the Option.
(d) Prior to the Registration Date, the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock subject to an Award shall be determined in a
manner consistent with Section 260.140.50 of Title 10 of the California Code of Regulations.
(e) In addition to the restrictions set forth in Section 8.1, an Award shall be Transferable solely to the extent permitted by
Section 260.140.41(d) of Title 10 of the California Code of Regulations.
(f) Prior to the Registration Date, to the extent required by Section 260.140.46 of Title 10 of the California Code of Regulations,
the Company shall
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deliver financial statements to Participants at least annually. This subsection shall not apply to key Employees whose duties in connection
with the Company assure them access to equivalent information.
(g) Except as the Company or the Committee shall otherwise determine, this Plan is intended to comply with Section 25.102(o) of
the California Corporations Code, and any provisions inconsistent with such Section of the California Corporations Code shall be
inoperative and shall not affect the validity of the Plan.
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
Name

Place of Incorporation of Organization

MarketAxess Corporation
MarketAxess Technologies Inc.
MarketAxess Europe Limited
MarketAxess Canada Limited
Greenline Financial Technologies, Inc.

Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Nova Scotia, Canada
Illinois

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File Numbers 333-120229 and 333136101) of MarketAxess Holdings Inc. of our report dated February 17, 2012, relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ P RICEWATERHOUSE C OOPERS LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
February 17, 2012

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Richard M. McVey, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MarketAxess Holdings Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ R ICHARD M. M C V EY
Richard M. McVey
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
Dated: February 17, 2012

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Antonio L. DeLise, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MarketAxess Holdings Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ A NTONIO L.D E L ISE
Antonio L. DeLise
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)
Dated: February 17, 2012

Exhibit 32.1
Certification Under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(United States Code, Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350)
Accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. for the Year Ended December 31, 2011
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard M. McVey, Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

/s/ R ICHARD M. M C V EY
Richard M. McVey
Chief Executive Officer
February 17, 2012
This certification shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the
liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.

Exhibit 32.2
Certification Under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(United States Code, Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350)
Accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. for the Year Ended December 31, 2011
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Antonio L. DeLise, Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

/s/ A NTONIO L. D E L ISE
Antonio L. DeLise
Chief Financial Officer
February 17, 2012
This certification shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the
liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.

